Experimental Reproduction of Wettability for Core Analysis

by

Panagiotis Aslanidis

Thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of PHILOSOPHIAE DOCTOR (PhD)



Faculty of Science and Technology Department of Energy Resources 2022 University of Stavanger NO-4036 Stavanger NORWAY www.uis.no

©2022 Panagiotis Aslanidis

ISBN: 978-82-8439-110-6 ISSN: 1890-1387 PhD: Thesis UiS No. 658 Μακριά ή κοντά. Στη γη ή στον ουρανό. Ό.τι αγαπάς βρίσκεται μέσα σου...

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisors Tina Puntervold and Skule Strand for all their guidance over the last three years of this project. Thanks to them I learned a lot, grew in many areas and became a young scientist. It has been a privilege working alongside them.

I would also acknowledge the University of Stavanger, the Research Council of Norway and the industry partners, ConocoPhillips Skandinavia AS, Aker BP ASA, Vår Energi AS, Equinor ASA, Neptune Energy Norge AS, Lundin Norway AS, Halliburton AS, Schlumberger Norge AS, and Wintershall DEA, of The National IOR Centre of Norway for support.

Special thanks go to my colleague Iván Piñerez, who has supported me since the first day we crossed paths. He was my mentor in the lab and I am fortunate to have met him and spent these years working and learning beside him.

Also, I would like to thank Aleksandr Mamonov for his aid on parts of this work and for creating nice memories on a healthy work-life balance level. Furthermore, I would like to thank Ashraful Khan for being an exceptional colleague during these years.

I would like also to thank all the students that I had the pleasure of guiding in the lab Jan-Arthur Skartland Svendsbøe, Siren Tjensvoll Kverme, Iyad Souayeh and Kofi Kankam Yeboah.

Big thanks to all my Stavanger friends that helped me make the best memories and made me love Stavanger even more.

My heartfelt gratitude goes to the person who believed in me since day one and supports me ever since, my partner in life Christina. This thesis is dedicated to my mother for her unwavering love and support over the years. She was always my one person I looked up to, my motivation and the reason for who I am now.

Panos

Summary

The ideal scenario when core samples are retrieved from the field to the lab is to start the experiment immediately without any treatment. Due to a decrease in pressure and temperature from reservoir to standard conditions, fluid expansion occurs. The depressurized cores will not have a correct fluid saturation and need to be restored prior to laboratory core experiments. To achieve representative reservoir data from these tests, the restored core wettability needs to be close to reservoir conditions.

Wettability dictates the fluid flow in porous media, and the restored wettability will dramatically influence the results on capillary pressure, relative permeability, and oil recovery tests in laboratory experiments. Therefore, wettability should be preserved in-between restoration processes.

The wettability of a core retrieved in the lab can be affected during cleaning and restoration procedures. A wide range of cleaning techniques are followed in laboratories including different solvents, experimental set-ups, methods, etc. The same applies in core restoration, where the restoring protocol differs from one lab to another including establishing initial water saturation, crude oil exposure, the aging process, etc.

In this project, several reservoir sandstone and outcrop carbonate cores, underwent a series of experiments in regard to wettability. The solvents utilized during core cleaning and the amount of crude oil exposed to the core during core restoration were the study's major emphasis. In this work, two cleaning procedures were compared: a mild approach (kerosene and heptane) and a more rigorous industrial standard used (toluene/methanol). Amount of, 1, 5, and 11 pore volumes (PV) of crude oil was utilized to evaluate the effect of crude oil exposure in the wettability of a system. Finally, an adsorption test on a sandstone reservoir core was performed to provide more thorough monitoring of the influence of crude oil in the sandstone rock surface.

The findings indicated that mild cleaning followed by an uncontrolled quantity of crude oil exposure might have a substantial influence on the wettability of the system, causing it to become less water-wet. A more comprehensive adsorption test on the reservoir sandstone core demonstrated that polar organic components (POC) continue to adsorb on the mineral surface even after many PV injections. However, the use of more rigorous solvents resulted in the reverse situation, resulting in more water-wet conditions. Finally, the use of mild solvents with just 1 PV of crude had no effect on the wettability of the systems between restorations.

In conclusion, this doctoral thesis proposes an efficient core cleaning and restoration process in which the wettability of the cores is replicated from one restoration to the next.

Table of Contents

Ack	nowle	dgemen	ts	v
Sun	nmary.			vii
1	Introduction			
	1.1	Enhanc	ed Oil Recovery (EOR) by Smart Water	
	1.2	Objectives		
2	Theory			
	2.1	Oil formation and entrapment		
	2.2	The formation of the initial wettability		
	2.3	Definition of wettability		
	2.4	Capilla	ry forces	
		2.4.1	Capillary pressure	
		2.4.2	Capillary forces in micro-scale	
	2.5	Method	ls for evaluating wettability	
		2.5.1	Spontaneous Imbibition	40
		2.5.2	Chromatographic wettability test for carbonates	42
		2.5.3	Contact angle	43
		2.5.4	Other methods	44
	2.6	Factors	influencing wettability	
		2.6.1	Crude oil	47
		2.6.2	Formation water	49
		2.6.3	Rock minerals	50
		2.6.4	Pressure and temperature	
	2.7	Crude of	oil-brine-rock interactions	
		2.7.1	Surface energy/surface tension	53
		2.7.2	Adsorption/desorption	54
	2.8	Smart V	Water EOR method	55
3	State-of-the-art background			
	3.1 Core cleaning and restoration methods			61
	3.2	Effect of POC on wettability		
	3.3	Effect of crude oil amount in core restoration		
4	Exper	rimental	L	

4.1	Materials		70
	4.1.1	Core material	70
	4.1.	1.1 Sandstones	70
	4.1.	1.2 Carbonates	76
	4.1.2	Brines	79
	4.1.3	Crude Oils	79
	4.1.4	Other chemicals	81
4.2	Core c	leaning	81
	4.2.1	Cleaning using kerosene/heptane	83
	4.2.2	Cleaning using toluene/methanol	83
4.3	Core f	luid restoration	84
	4.3.1	Establishing initial water saturation Swi	84
	4.3.2	Crude oil exposure and aging	84
4.4	Sponta	neous imbibition	85
4.5	Crude	oil adsorption test	85
4.6	Fluid a	and rock characterization	86
	4.6.1	Potentiometric titration	86
	4.6.2	Ionic composition analysis	87
	4.6.3	pH measurement	87
	4.6.4	Viscosity	87
	4.6.5	Density	87
	4.6.6	Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM), EDAX	87
Resu	lts and	discussion	. 88
5.1	Evalua	tion of core wettability	89
5.2	Effect	of crude oil exposure on core wettability	90
53	Crude oil adaptition on sandstones		92
5.5	531	Surface reactivity test	92
	5.3.2	Crude oil adsorption test	94
5.4	Effect	of kerosene/heptane cleaning solvents on core wettability	97
	5.4.1	Sandstones	97
	5.4.2	Carbonates	99
5.5	Effect	of toluene/methanol cleaning solvents on core wettability	100
	5.5.1	Sandstones	.100
5.6 Reproducing wettability in sandstone reservoir cores		ducing wettability in sandstone reservoir cores	102
	5.6.1	Sandstones	.102
	5.6.2	Carbonates	.103

5

6	Concluding remarks		
	6.1	Conclusions	
	6.2	Future work	
7	References		

Table of Figures

Figure 1: Oil formation process
Figure 2: Very water-wet heterogeneous porous rock system at initial oil
saturation (a). Larger pores are pathways for water and oil
transport (b left). Capillary mobilized oil from smaller pores
secure stable oil displacement and low Sor (b right). Sor after
wettability alteration with Smart Water where oil displacement
is controlled mainly by capillary forces (c) (Aghaeifar et al.,
2019)
Figure 3: Graphical example of a capillary tube. The container is filled with
water, and the surrounding phase is crude oil
Figure 4: Concave and convex meniscus shape
Figure 5: Water-glass interface of a capillary tube. Water molecules are
attracted more to the partially negative ends of the oxide lattice
than of those in the water, forming a meniscus shape
Figure 6: (a) Spontaneous imbibition apparatus, Source: (Hodder and Nychka,
2019)
Figure 7: From top to bottom: completely water wet-state, completely oil-wet
state and mixed wet state43
Figure 8: Contact angle measurements for strongly water-wet with water film
(a), weakly water-wet with no water-film (b), strongly oil-wet
with oil-film (c) and weakly oil-wet with no oil-film (d)44
Figure 9: Molecular structures of (a) resins and (b) asphaltenes (He et al.,
2015)
Figure 10: Stretched film (Source: Physical chemistry, Castellan, 1983)54
Figure 11: Illustrated wettability alteration in sandstones by ionic exchange.
Desoprtion of basic (a) and acidic (b) material (Austad et al.,
2010)
Figure 12: Wettability alteration mechanism by Smart Water in carbonate
rocks (modified from (Zhang et al., 2007))57
Figure 13: Spontaneous imbibition experiments on chalk outcrop material.
Highest recoveries were obtained with the usage of Smart Water
brines (Fathi et al., 2011)
Figure 14: Wettability alteration example in sandstone reservoir cores
(Pinerez, 2017)59

Figure 15: Spontaneous imbibition on chalk cores using crude oils that differ
in AN number (Standnes and Austad, 2000)63
Figure 16: Spontaneous imbibition with crude oils containing different AN/BN
ratios (replotted from (Puntervold et al., 2007))64
Figure 17: Adsorption of polar organic bases (a) and polar organic acids (b)
onto a sandstone mineral surface (Mamonov et al., 2019)65
Figure 18: Effect of toluene/methanol solvents in oil recovery on a limestone
reservoir core (Shariatpanahi et al., 2012)
Figure 19: Acid number (AN) in effluent oil samples during crude oil flooding
(Strand and Puntervold, 2019).
Figure 20: Effect of crude oil amount during core restoration after using
kerosene and heptane as cleaning solvents, when the core is
firstly exposed to 15 PV of crude oil (Hopkins et al., 2017)67
Figure 21: Crude oil adsorption analysis of the chalk core P2 (Hopkins et al.,
2017)
Figure 22: The location of the Varg field in the Norwegian Continental Shelf
(source: Norwegian Petroleum Directorate)
Figure 23: Pore size distribution of the plugs V1(a) retrieved from the 9S and
V9 (b) retrieved from the A5–T2 well
Figure 24: SEM images from the cores V10 (a) and V2 (b)74
Figure 25: CT scanning images from the cores V1(a), V5(b), V9(c) and
V10(d)75
Figure 26: Pore size distribution from the carbonate cores
Figure 27: SEM images from the carbonate cores
Figure 28: Visual inspection of the cleaning state of reservoir sandstone cores
from the effluents of the kerosene injection
Figure 29: Core cleaning apparatus
Figure 30: Crude oil core flooding set-up
Figure 31: SI tests performed at 60 °C on 7 preserved Varg cores after the first
core cleaning and core restoration. All cores were restored with
$S_{wi} = 20\%$ of FW _V and exposed to 5PV of oil V before aging.
The cores were imbibed with FW_V
Figure 32: Oil recovery by spontaneous imbibition at 60 °C from core V6 at
S_{wi} =0.2, which was cleaned with kerosene/heptane and exposed
to 11 PV of crude oil in both restorations R1 and R291

Figure 33: SI test on reservoir sandstone core V2 at T=60 °C. The core with		
established with S_{wi} = 20% was saturated with mineral oil (C7)		
and spontaneously imbibed with FW until reaching recovery		
plateau		
Figure 34: Surface reactivity test of the core V2 at T=60 °C using a brine		
sequence of FW _T -LS brine		
Figure 35: Adsorption of acidic and basic POC onto reservoir V2 sandstone		
during crude oil flooding. 10 PV of modified crude oil		
(AN=BN=0.23 mg KOH/g) were injected into core V2 with Swi		
= 19% at 60 °C and at a rate of 0.1 mL/min. Effluent oil samples		
were analysed for (a) BN and (b) AN and plotted against PV of		
crude oil injected		
Figure 36: SI oil recovery test at T=60 °C on reservoir sandstone core V2		
exposed to 10 PV of crude oil. FW and LS were used as the		
imbibing brines		
Figure 37: Spontaneous imbibition at 60 °C of the cores V9 (a) and V1 (b)		
cleaned with kerosene and heptane and exposed to 5 PV of		
crude oil		
Figure 38: SI tests performed at 50 °C after the initial restoration (R1) and the		
second restoration (R2) in core C9. During R1 the core was		
exposed to 5 PV Oil B with $AN = 0.36$ mgKOH/g. After mild		
cleaning the core was exposed to another 5 PV of Oil B in R2.		
Figure 39: Spontaneous imbibition at 60 °C of the cores V10 (a) and V2 (b)		
cleaned with toluene and methanol and exposed to 5 PV of		
crude oil in every restoration101		
Figure 40: Spontaneous imbibition at 60 °C of the cores V7 (left) exposed to		
and V5 (right) cleaned with kerosene and heptane and exposed		
to 1 PV of crude oil103		
Figure 41: SI tests performed at 50 °C after initial restoration (R1) and a second		
restoration (R2) on cores with $S_{wi} = 0.1$. (a) Core C4 and (b)		
Core C5 exposed to Oil B (AN = 0.36 mgKOH/g). (c) Core C6		
and (d) Core C7 exposed to Oil C (AN = 0.5 mgKOH/g) 105		

List of Tables

Table 1: Selected solvents for core cleaning and their use.	61
Table 2: Mineralogical composition of the sandstone core material.	72
Table 3: Physical properties of the sandstone core material.	72
Table 4: Physical properties of the carbonate core material.	78
Table 5: Ionic brine composition and properties of the brines	used per
experiment	79
Table 6: Crude oil properties at each set of experiments.	

xviii

List of papers

- I. **"Reproducing wettability in sandstone reservoir core material in laboratory core restorations"**, P. Aslanidis, S. Strand, T. Puntervold, I. D. Piñerez T. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 109531, 2021 doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2021.109531</u>
- II. "Core wettability reproduction: A new solvent cleaning and core restoration strategy for chalk cores", I. D. Piñerez T., T. Puntervold, S. Strand, P. Hopkins, P. Aslanidis, H. S. Yang, M.S. Kinn. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 195, 107654, 2020 doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2020.107654
- III. "Core restoration and its effect on initial wetting of NCS sandstone reservoir cores", P. Aslanidis, I. D. Piñerez T., S. Strand, T. Puntervold. Peer reviewed paper presented at the 35th International Symposium of the Society of Core Analysts, Texas, US, 2021
- IV. "Influence of sandstone mineralogy on the adsorption of polar crude oil components and its effect on wettability", A. Mamonov, P. Aslanidis, T. Puntervold, S. Strand, N. Fazilani, *Energy and Fuels*, 2022 doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.energyfuels.2c01540</u>

Additional papers and presentations:

- I. "Oil Recovery by Low-Rate Waterflooding in Low-Permeability Water-Wet Sandstone Cores", P. Aslanidis, S. Strand, I. Souayeh, K. Kankam Yeboah, T. Puntervold, SPE Reservoir Evaluation & Engineering, 2022, 1-13. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/209688-PA</u>
- II. "The importance of capillary forces in oil mobilization from sandstone cores", P. Aslanidis, S. Strand, I. Souayeh, K. Kankam Yeboah, T. Puntervold, *Paper presented at the 82nd EAGE Conference and Exhibition, Amsterdam, Netherlands.* 2021(1), 1-5. doi:https://doi.org/10.3997/2214-4609.202113237
- III. "An optimized core restoration strategy to preserve the initial wettability of sandstone reservoir core material", P. Aslanidis, I. D. Piñerez T., S. Strand, T. Puntervold. Poster presentation at the DHRTC Technology Conference, Kolding, Denmark. 2021.
- IV. "Initial Wettability in Carbonates by Advanced Core Analyses: «A Step Closer to Representative Reservoir Wettability»", I. D. Piñerez T., T. Puntervold, S. Strand, P. Hopkins, P. Aslanidis, H. S. Yang, M.S. Kinn. Peer reviewed paper presented at the 35th International Symposium of the Society of Core Analysts, Texas, US, 2021

- V. "Oil recovery by low-rate waterflooding in water-wet sandstone cores", P. Aslanidis, S. Strand, I. Souayeh, K. Kankam Yeboah, T. Puntervold, Paper presented at the SPE EuropEC-Europe Energy Conference featured at the 83rd EAGE Annual Conference & Exhibition, Madrid, Spain. 2022. doi:https://doi.org/10.2118/209688-MS
- VI. "Reproducing core wettability in laboratory core restorations and the influence of solvent cleaning on carbonate wetting", I. D. Piñerez T., T. Puntervold, S. Strand, P. Hopkins, P. Aslanidis, H. S. Yang, M.S. Kinn, *Paper presented to the SPE Conference at Oman Petroleum & Energy Show (OPES), Muscat, Oman*, 2022. doi: https://doi.org/10.2118/200160-MS

Technical Reports:

I. **"Recommended Practises on Core Restoration"**, I. D. Piñerez T., P. Aslanidis, A. Mamonov, S. Strand, T. Puntervold, I. Fjelde. *Executive summary report for the National IOR Centre of Norway*, 2021.

Nomenclature

FW	Formation Water
SW	Seawater
COBR	Crude oil-Brine-Rock
POC	Polar Organic Compounds
PV	Pore Volume
Sor	Irreducible oil saturation
IFT	Interfacial tension
S	Entropy
V	Volume
U	Energy
P_c	Capillary pressure
σ	Interfacial tension
heta	Contact angle
r	Radius of the capillary tube
P_{OA}	Pressure at point A for oil
$P_{W\!A}$	Pressure at point A for water
P_{OB}	Pressure at point B for oil
P_{WB}	Pressure at point B for water
$ ho_{water}$	Density of water
g	Gravitational acceleration constant
h	Height of the column
$ ho_{oil}$	Density of oil
$\delta^{\scriptscriptstyle +}$	Partial positive end of hydrogen atoms
δ^{-}	Partial negative end of hydrogen atoms
WI _{New}	Wettability index

xxiii

A_{Wett}	Area between the curves of the ionic
	concentration of sulfate and thiocyanate
A _{Heptane}	Reference area
γ_{go}	Contact angle in a gas-oil interface
γ _{wo}	Contact angle in a water-oil interface
γ_{gw}	Contact angle in a gas-water interface
γ_{os}	Contact angle in a oil-solid interface
γ_{gs}	Contact angle in a gas-solid interface
γ_{ws}	Contact angle in a water-solid interface
NMR	Nuclear Magnetic Resonance
NSO	Nitrogen, Sulfur, Oxygen
AN	Acidic number
BN	Base number
API	American Petroleum Institute
f	Opposite force to the liquid film
dA	Area increase
γ	Gibbs energy
dx	Distance
Α	Area
E	Total energy of a system
E_u	Energy per unit volume
E_s	Energy per unit area
NCS	Norwegian Continental Shelf
PDO	Plan for Development and Operation
XRD	X-Ray Diffraction analysis
S_{wi}	Initial water saturation
SEM	Scanning Electron Microscopy
CT	Computed Tomography
V_b	Bulk volume
m_o	Dry weight
m _{sat}	Saturated weight
ρ_{sat}	Density
Φ	Porosity
SI	Spontaneous Imbibition

1 Introduction

Our world is changing rapidly towards a greener future, gradually leaving behind the dependency on fossil fuels. According to the Paris Agreement in 2015, 196 parties agreed to maintain the upsurge of the mean global temperature to below 2 °C by reducing the greenhouse gases. Progressively, this temperature rise stabilization will noticeably moderate the effects of climate change. The target that was set was to cut the emissions in half by 2030 to a net-zero moving in the first half of the 21st century. This ambitious commitment has brought many new challenges to the industries including the switch from the well-established fossil fuels resources to renewable energy.

Oil and gas contribute to more than half of the global energy consumption. That means that the transition to the renewable sector will take time, while the oil will keep leading the market in the energy supply for the next at least 30 years.

What can be done in the oil industry to align with the future goals of a greener future, is to find ways to optimize oil recovery in an environmentally friendly way.

1.1 Enhanced Oil Recovery (EOR) by Smart Water

"Smart Water" injection is an Enhanced Oil Recovery (EOR) method the principles of which rely on wettability alteration processes. It is an environmentally friendly method, where the ultimate oil recovery is increased compared to the conventional water-flooding by wettability alteration towards more water-wet conditions inducing more positive capillary forces and increasing the sweep efficiency of the system.

What differentiates a Smart Water brine from a standard formation water (FW), or seawater (SW) is the modified ionic composition. The brines

are designed in a way to disrupt the chemical equilibria of the crude oilbrine-rock system (COBR) and alter the wettability towards more waterwet conditions. This wettability alteration mechanism is different in carbonates and sandstones. Silicate surfaces are negatively charged while carbonates are positively charged.

From past studies, it was observed that wettability alteration in sandstones is a phenomenon closely related to the pH of the system which depends on the COBR interactions (Austad et al., 2010). In carbonates, wettability alteration is dependent on the presence of potential determining ions like Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} and SO_4^{2-} .

A major role in the wettability of a rock surface are the polar organic compounds (POC) in the crude oil phase present. They could be either positively (protonated N-containing bases) or negatively (carboxylates) charged. Either way, these compounds could interact with charged rock surfaces affecting the wettability.

This work is a continuation of past work performed in the Smart Water EOR group at the University of Stavanger. Hopkins (2017) in his doctorate thesis, measured the adsorption of acids and bases on chalk material and their effect on wettability. The water-wetness of chalk cores was decreased by increasing the amount of crude oil (pore volumes (PV) injected into the cores). Based on this evidence, Mamonov (2019) continued the work by studying the effect of adsorbed POC on sandstone minerals and their effect on wettability. The outcome of this study confirmed again the high affinity of POC towards sandstone minerals surfaces by extended crude oil exposure. Since polar organic compounds are adsorbing onto the mineral surfaces and change the wetting, a question arises:

How could representative wettability be obtained during core restoration for special core analysis (SCA) and wettability-dependent oil recovery studies?

1.2 Objectives

The ultimate goal when restoring a core is to create a representative sample close to the reservoir conditions. Core cleaning, establishing initial water saturation, crude oil exposure, and aging are the major factors that control the initial wettability conditions that will be created in the core. This project focuses on optimizing two of those parameters: core cleaning and crude oil exposure.

Following the evidence from the past work, this study comes to extend the understanding of core restoration processes. In experimental wettability studies, the core wettability should be able to be reproduced from one restoration to another. This will ensure a clear observation of any possible effect when altering a different parameter of the system e.g. brine composition, temperature, flooding rate, brine sequence, etc.

In the next chapters, two different cleaning approaches will be compared: a harsh (toluene/methanol) and a mild (kerosene/heptane). Several reservoir sandstone and outcrop carbonate cores were exposed to various crude oil amounts, and the wettability of the systems was evaluated through spontaneous imbibition tests. Furthermore, crude oil adsorption tests were performed on one sandstone reservoir core to verify that POC adsorb also in this system.

This work comes to provide some additional information on core restoration strategy by recommending an optimized core restoration strategy where the wettability of a COBR system is preserved. This newly proposed method suggests the usage of mild solvents during the cleaning process followed by the optimum amount of 1 PV of crude oil exposure. In this way, the wettability of the core samples can be reproduced as a representative core wettability in successive restoration operations.

2 Theory

In this chapter, the fundamental theories that govern wettability will be described. This includes the formation of the initial wettability in reservoir conditions, the connection between Smart Water and wettability, the factors that influence wettability, and the methods by which wettability can be assessed.

2.1 Oil formation and entrapment

Deposition of organic matter along with fine-grained sediments through water and wind marks the start of oil creation. Oxygen is depleted in these lower zones of deposition where anaerobic bacteria begin the conversion of the organic matter into precursors of petroleum hydrocarbons (Donaldson and Alam, 2008).

This organic matter is buried for thousands-millions of years until it transforms into kerogen under mild conditions of pressure and temperature (less than 50 °C). Kerogen is a solid, insoluble organic matter with a high molecular weight that can yield oil upon heating. This compaction of sediments that causes physical, chemical, or biological alteration is called diagenesis. Hydrocarbon generation begins during **diagenesis** (Schlumberger, 1998).

When kerogen reaches the conditions of pressure and temperature needed (100-150 °C for oil and 150-200 °C for gas) will form the first hydrocarbons. The generation of gas and liquid hydrocarbons within the kerogen-clay mass increases the volume, and thus the internal pressure acting on the fluids (together with the temperature and overburden stress) creates fractures in the matrix that initiate primary migration of the fluids to adjacent porous structures (Donaldson and Alam, 2008). The above described physical and chemical alteration of sediments and pore fluids at temperatures and pressure higher than those of diagenesis is called

Theory

catagenesis glossary (Schlumberger, 1998). The process is also known as primary migration.

The last stage of maturation and conversion of organic matter to hydrocarbons is called **metagenesis** (Schlumberger, 1998). Continued changes in fluid pressure and fracturing of the host sediments by mechanical stress from tectonic changes, together with the formation of porous and permeable pathways for movement of the water and hydrocarbons through an inclined porous structure, result in secondary migration. During secondary migration from the source rock to the trap, the hydrocarbons become associated with brine and wettability (Donaldson and Alam, 2008). A flow chart display of the processes described is depicted in **Figure 1**.

The fluids move from the source rocks to geologic traps and areas at or near the surface. There are two general classifications of petroleum traps: **structural** (folding of the sediments, up-dip sealing of anticlines by faults, and intrusion of salt diapers) and **stratigraphic** (cessation of the accumulation of sediments, burial because of subsidence or other local environmental changes and uplift and erosion of porous sediment) (Donaldson and Alam, 2008). Often, the top layer of this trap is a relatively impermeable rock, commonly shale, anhydrite, or salt that forms a barrier or seal above and around reservoir rock so that fluids cannot migrate beyond the reservoir (cap rock) (Schlumberger, 1998). Some of the accumulations might reach the surface and form tars.



2.2 The formation of the initial wettability

While oil accumulates, it interacts with the rock surface, finally establishing an equilibrium condition of wettability. Water and the effects of wettability are present throughout the formation during migration and accumulation of gas and oil (Donaldson and Alam, 2008). Several phenomena take place until the establishment of the initial wettability in the reservoir rock.

Starting with the phenomenon of the buoyant force, which is the upward force acting on an object placed in a fluid (Schlumberger, 1998). When oil starts to accumulate, it enters the largest pores of the reservoir. In

Theory

most cases, the smaller pores are filled with water because the threshold capillary pressure is too high for entry into the oil. Therefore, in this stage, pore-size distribution plays an important role to establish wettability in the system e.g. majority of large pores will lead to a more oil-wet state whereas a few large pores might lead to a more water-wet state. Subsequently, different oil distribution will alter oil properties as well (density, composition, viscosity, etc). Change of oil properties will have an effect on phenomena like adsorption of polar components, asphaltenes precipitation, etc. Thus, oil production from different zones might give significantly different results. Water breakthrough will occur earlier in the oil-wet zone and the oil production rate will be low; in the water-wet zone, water breakthrough will occur after considerable production of oil at a rapid rate, but then the rate of production ratio (Donaldson and Alam, 2008).

2.3 Definition of wettability

The term wettability describes the tendency of one fluid to spread on or adhere to a solid surface in the presence of other immiscible fluids. Wettability is a major factor controlling the location, flow, and distribution of fluids in a reservoir (Anderson, 1986). When there are two or more immiscible fluids in porous rock, each fluid will occupy a place on the mineral surface of each pore. The distribution of each fluid onto this surface depends on the fluid-rock interactions, mineralogy of the rock, gravity, and capillary forces present in the system.

An oil-water-rock system could be generally described based on wettability as:

- a) Water-wet: Water occupies all small pores and most of the surface and the middle of the larger pores. In this case, oil can be found as droplets attached to the rock surface where its components have a higher affinity to some minerals rather than others.
- b) Fractionally-wet: Heterogeneous wetting randomly distributed on the mineral surface.
- c) Mixed-wet: Water occupies the smaller pores, whereas oil spreads to most of the surface of the larger pores.
- d) Oil-wet: The inverse phenomenon of water-wet state. Oil occupies the smaller pores and most of the surface and middle part of the larger pores.

Historically, all petroleum reservoirs were believed to be strongly waterwet. This was based on two main factors. First, almost all clean sedimentary rocks are strongly water-wet. Second, sandstone reservoirs were deposited in aqueous environments into which oil later migrated. It was assumed that the connate water would prevent the oil from touching the rock surfaces (Anderson, 1986).

2.4 Capillary forces

As capillary pressure is defined as the pressure difference (P_c) between two immiscible fluids in a thin tube, resulting from the interactions of forces between the fluids and solid walls of the tube (Wikipedia, 2001). When the contact among immiscible fluids is curved, the pressure differential across the contact will be larger on the convex side in order to balance the forces that cause interfacial tension.

Capillary forces are one of the main mechanisms for oil mobilization in water-wet fractured, low permeable matrix reservoirs. Fluid velocity could influence the oil mobilization in a core experiment. At higher velocities, the displacement front is moving faster through the core. An increased amount of isolated or less mobile oil could be easily left behind after the displacement front has passed, increasing the irreducible oil saturation (S_{or}) . To allow for capillary forces and spontaneous imbibition the flooding rate should be lowered.

When the injection brine is introduced to the heterogeneous pore system, the brine flows through the pathways with the lowest restrictions. In the presence of positive capillary forces, the brine flowing in the higher permeable pathways will imbibe and expel oil from other, smaller pores of lower permeability, as illustrated in **Figure 2** by Aghaeifar et al. (2019). In water-wet pore systems, little or no oil is attached to the mineral surfaces, and the residual oil (S_{or}) is trapped in the pore body. Interfacial tension (IFT) and pore heterogeneity will affect the residual oil saturation. In the same system, a reduced IFT could reduce the S_{or} .



Figure 2: Very water-wet heterogeneous porous rock system at initial oil saturation (a). Larger pores are pathways for water and oil transport (b left). Capillary mobilized oil from smaller pores secure stable oil displacement and low S_{or} (b right). S_{or} after wettability alteration with Smart Water where oil displacement is controlled mainly by capillary forces (c) (Aghaeifar et al., 2019).
2.4.1 Capillary pressure

For a capillary tube, the capillary forces could be described as a capillary pressure phenomenon.

Equation 1 describes the capillary pressure as a function of the radius of the capillary tube *r*, the contact angle θ and the interfacial tension σ . This is a simplified version to describe the capillary forces assuming that the entropy (S) and the volume (V) are constant (dS=0, dV=0) which brings the energy to minimum levels (dU=0).

Figure 3 illustrates the case of a wetting phase (water) and a non-wetting phase (oil).



Figure 3: Graphical example of a capillary tube. The container is filled with water, and the surrounding phase is crude oil.

At point A, there is a pressure equilibrium between the points P_{OA} and P_{WA} so:

Theory

$$P_{OA} = P_{WA} \tag{2}$$

At point B the corresponding pressures P_{WB} and P_{OB} will be described as:

$$P_{\rm WB} = P_{\rm WA} - \rho_{\rm water} \cdot gh \tag{3}$$

$$P_{\rm OB} = P_{\rm OA} - \rho_{\rm oil} \cdot gh \tag{4}$$

By combining **Equations 2, 3** and **4**, a new **Equation 5** is derived which describes the pressure differential at the contact point:

$$P_{WB} + \rho_{water}gh = P_{OB} + \rho_{oil}gh \Longrightarrow$$
$$P_{OB} - P_{WB} = (\rho_{water} - \rho_{oil})gh \tag{5}$$

As derived from the latest formula (**Equation 5**), the capillary pressure of a system is strongly dependent on the density ρ of the fluids and the height *h* of the tube column. The next chapter explains the capillary pressure phenomena in-depth, by looking into the actions taking place on a micro-scale.

2.4.2 Capillary forces in micro-scale

Depending on the shape of the meniscus formed in a capillary tube, it can be called concave or convex (**Figure 4**). In the case where a capillary tube is filled up with water and the tube is made of silica material, then a concave shape is observed. In the case where the tube is filled with mercury, a convex shape is noticed.

Theory



Figure 4: Concave and convex meniscus shape (Source: modified from source: https://chem.libretexts.org/Bookshelves/Physical and Theoretical Chemistry Textbook M aps/Supplemental Modules (Physical and Theoretical Chemistry)/Physical Properties of _Matter/States_of_Matter/Properties_of_Liquids/Surface_Tension)

Each water molecule has partially negative and positive ends at the hydrogens (δ^+ , δ^-). This is helping the hydrogen bonding to form. The polarity of the molecules of the glass made from silicon oxide lattice (two oxygen atoms per silicon atom) facilitates this attraction. The electronegativity difference between oxygen and silicon is even higher than the one between oxygen and hydrogen. Therefore, the oxygen molecules are able to get silicon's electrons, especially the ones involved in the bonding. At the water-tube interface, the kinetic energy of the water molecules will cause water molecules to move close to the glass molecules. The partially positive end of the hydrogen end of the water molecule at the hydrogen would be attracted to the partially negative ends of the oxygen in the glass. This will result in a stronger partial charge than what you see in the water due to the big electronegativity difference. This phenomenon of the water molecules "sticking" on the glass is called adhesion. This is the reason why the concave shape is observed in a capillary tube. In Figure 5 the whole process is schematically illustrated.



Figure 5: Water-glass interface of a capillary tube. Water molecules are attracted more to the partially negative ends of the oxide lattice than of those in the water, forming a meniscus shape.

2.5 Methods for evaluating wettability

2.5.1 Spontaneous Imbibition

Theory

Spontaneous imbibition is an experimental process where the wettability of porous rock is measured as a function of the displacement characteristics of the COBR system. It is controlled mainly by the action of capillary forces, which are proportional to the interfacial tension of the fluids present and to the wettability. The rate of imbibition and the total amount of the fluid displaced lead to a qualitative evaluation of the wettability of the system.

As it is shown in **Figure 6** (a) from Hodder and Nychka (2019), the apparatus consists of an Amott cell (Amott, 1959) a rock sample saturated with the displaced phase (oil) and the fluid used as the imbibing phase (water).

Theory

In (a) a water-wet case is examined by collecting the produced oil to the graded upper part of the burette. On the other hand, for an oil-wet case, the apparatus would be inverted, and the expelled water would be collected by gravity segregation at the bottom of the Amott cell. Preferentially water-wet cores are characterized by a positive displacement-by-water ratio and a value of zero for the displacement-by-oil ratio (Amott, 1959).

In **Figure 6** (b), a graphical representation of the results obtained from a spontaneous imbibition test is shown where oil production is monitored with time. The test was performed on the reservoir sandstone core using as the imbibing phase a high salinity formation water (over 200000 ppm). At the initial production phase, there was rapid water imbibition by strong capillary action. The effect of capillary forces weakens over time as the gravity forces are taking place and finally dominate the system reaching to recovery plateau at the final part of the experiment.



Figure 6: (a) Spontaneous imbibition apparatus, *Source:(Hodder and Nychka, 2019)* (b) Graphic representation of spontaneous imbibition results.

2.5.2 Chromatographic wettability test for carbonates

This wettability test method relies on the chromatographic separation of sulfate ions, (SO_4^{2-}) and thiocyanate, (SCN^-) , as a tracer (Strand, 2005). According to this method, a carbonate core is flooded to S_{or} with the selected brine without tracer and sulfate. Afterward, a brine with an equal molar concentration of SCN^- and SO_4^{2-} is flooded into the core. Then, the effluents are analyzed through an ionic chromatographer. The ion concentrations are plotted against the pore volume injected and the area between the two curves is calculated. The wetting index, thus the level of wettability, can be derived as shown in **Equation 6**:

$$WI_{New} = \frac{A_{Wett}}{A_{Heptane}}$$
(6)

Where:

 WI_{New} = wettability index, ranges from 0 (completely oil-wet) to 1(completely water-wet)

 A_{Wett} = area calculated between the curves of the ionic concentration of sulfate and thiocyanate

 $A_{Heptane}$ = reference area which indicates a completely water-wet state

In conclusion, the above-calculated area A_{Wett} must be directly proportional to the water-wet surface in the porous medium, because the water-soluble components, SCN⁻ and SO₄²⁻, contacted the same water-wet area (Strand, 2005).

An example of the method is illustrated in **Figure 7.** When sulfate ions find a lot of pore surface available to adsorb, the A_{wett} will increase indicating a strongly water-wet behaviour. Likewise, as the amount of sulfate adsorb reduces, the level of water-wetness in the system is decreased.

Theory



Figure 7: From top to bottom: completely water wet-state, completely oil-wet state and mixed wet state.

2.5.3 Contact angle

Contact angle measurements have been used quite extensively in the last decades. According to this method, a droplet of fluid (e.g. water) is placed on a flat solid surface. This solid afterwards is submerged in a different fluid than the previously wetting phase (e.g. oil). The droplet of water will stay in contact with the solid at a specific angle. The value of this angle ranges between 0° (infinitely water-wet) and 180° (infinitely oil-wet). For contact angles of about 90° the wetting is characterized as neutral-wet.

An example of a contact-angle measurement is shown in **Figure 8**. In **Figure 8** (a) a strongly water-wet case is presented, where the contact angle between the water and the solid is equal to zero, and thus there is

the formation of a thin water film on the solid surface. In **Figure 8** (b) a strongly oil-wet with oil-film is illustrated, and in **Figure 8** (c), a weakly water-wet case with water-film. Finally, in **Figure 8** (d), a weakly oil-wet case without an oil-film is depicted.



Figure 8: Contact angle measurements for strongly water-wet with water film (a), weakly water-wet with no water-film (b), strongly oil-wet with oil-film (c) and weakly oil-wet with no oil-film (d) (Source: (Donaldson and Alam, 2008))

2.5.4 Other methods

Besides the above-mentioned methods, several other methods have been proposed for evaluating the wettability. Some of them are based on the: <u>Thermodynamic definition of wetting</u>

Relates to the physicochemical reaction caused by intermolecular forces of attraction. An example of this method can be found in the literature (Jiang et al., 2020; Xie et al., 2015).

• Interfacial tension and displacement-pressure measurements

Considering that wettability can be measured quantitatively by defined contact angle measurements using interfacial-tension and displacementpressure measurements.

<u>Shape of relative permeability curves</u>

Investigates the influence of wettability on the shape of relativepermeability curves. (Anderson, 1987; Fatemi et al., 2012; Jahanbakhsh et al., 2016).

• <u>Shape of recovery curves</u>

Relates the shape of recovery curves as a function of the volume of water injected in the waterflooding of a natural sample, using low viscosity fluids.

• Permeability and saturation measurements

It is based on saturation frequency distributions of samples as a function of their permeabilities.

<u>Nuclear magnetic relaxation measurements</u>

In this technique varying proportions of two sand packs are mixed and treated so that one was strongly water-wet and the other strongly oil-wet (Newgord et al., 2019).

• Dye adsorption

This method had the advantage of not requiring any complicated equipment and of not altering the samples prior to the test.

• Flotation experiments

They can be used for unconsolidated rocks but are not very sensitive and are affected by parameters other than wettability (particle size, particle density, etc.).

• <u>X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy</u>

This technique is used for the qualitative determination of the wettability of rocks from an evaluation of the amounts of organic carbon and sulfur present on the solid surface.

• Use of well logs

It is a method based on the fact that the electrical resistivity index of an oil-wet rock is known to be greater than that of a water-wet rock so this property can be used to evaluate wettability in-situ.

• <u>Use of capillary pressure curve</u>

A method that combines the use of the correlation existing between the degree of wetting and the areas under the capillary-pressure curves as well as the speed with which these curves are determined by using centrifuging (Morrow, 1990).

2.6 Factors influencing wettability

2.6.1 Crude oil

The crude oil phase is the major factor that dictates wettability in a rock system. Due to the chemical complexity and variation of its components, it is not an easy fluid to characterize, thus many different studies are needed to evaluate its physical and chemical properties (chromatography, NMR, rheological, etc).

The key to altered wettability appears to be exposure of the rock surface to crude oil (Buckley and Morrow, 1990). The oil contains interfacially active species that can alter wetting. Whether and when these species actually do affect wetting depends, in part, on the composition of the rest of the oil phase (Buckley et al., 1989).

Surface-active components of crude oil are more prevalent in the heavier fractions of crude, such as resins and asphaltenes. These surfactants are believed to be polar compounds that contain oxygen (Anderson, 1986). Therefore, several studies took place in the past years in an attempt of explaining the effect of asphaltenes and resins on rock surfaces (Buckley, 1995). **Asphaltenes** are molecular substances that are found in crude oil and they consist primarily of carbon, hydrogen, nitrogen, oxygen, and sulphur, as well as trace amounts of vanadium and nickel (Speight, 1999) (**Figure 9**). They are highly polar heterocyclic compounds which are insoluble in saturated alkanes (Donaldson and Alam, 2008). **Resins** are smaller molecules than asphaltenes but have in general higher content of the polar elements nitrogen, sulfur, and oxygen (NSO-compounds), and they are in general more polar than the asphaltenes (Speight, 1999) (**Figure 9**).

Precipitates that form as the result of interactions between an asphaltic crude oil and low molecular weight paraffin solvents can remain suspended in the oil phase, rather than being adsorbed onto solid surfaces. Adsorption may be restricted to surfaces made oil-wet by COBR interactions prior to precipitation. Visual observations show that the waterflood displacement mechanisms after asphaltene precipitation are similar to the mechanisms of displacement of the unprecipitated crude oil (Buckley, 1995).

Strong interactions between asphaltenes and solids, especially clays, have been documented in many studies. These can be divided into two subgroups: studies of asphaltenes and solids with water excluded from the system, and studies that include consideration of the influence of water (Buckley, 1995).

(Buckley et al., 1998) found that the tendency of crude oils to alter wettability toward a more oil-wet condition can be attributed to the solvent properties of the oils with respect to the asphaltene content. They conducted measurements of spontaneous imbibition, adsorption of polar compounds and contact angles, and found that alteration of wettability to more oil-wet conditions was more pronounced as the crude oil solvency for asphaltenes decreased. In addition, when glass surfaces were treated with de-asphalted crude oils, wettability alteration did not take place, but when the glass surfaces were treated with crude oils, more oil-wet conditions developed immediately (Buckley and Morrow, 1990).

(Johansen and Dunning, 1959) found that asphaltenes were responsible for changing some crude-oil/water/glass systems from water-wet to oilwet. The system was oil-wet when the crude was used but water-wet when the de-asphalted crude was used (Anderson, 1986).



Figure 9: Molecular structures of (a) resins and (b) asphaltenes (He et al., 2015).

Experimental observations have pointed towards a smaller group of components from the asphaltene/resin fractions as more important regarding wettability alteration (Strand, 2005). These components are more specifically acidic- and basic by nature (Anderson, 1986), (Crocker and Marchin, 1988), (Cuiec, 1984). Transport of these polar components through the aqueous phase can also determine the stability of water films, causing wettability alteration or intensifying the oil wetness of a system (Kaminsky and Radke, 1997), (Fathi et al., 2011).

2.6.2 Formation water

Theory

Different brine properties are of high importance in the wetting processes, being the chemical composition, salinity, and the pH of brine are the most dominating factors (Anderson, 1986).

Formation water contains several inorganic compounds such as Mg^{2+} , Ca^{2+} , Na^+ , K^+ , Cl^- , Ba^{2+} , and Sr^{2+} . From past laboratory studies on carbonates (Zhang et al., 2007), it was observed that divalent cations of Mg^{2+} and Ca^{2+} contribute significantly to wettability alteration processes.

Theory

The salinity and pH of brine are very important in determining wettability because they strongly affect the surface charge on the rock surface and fluid interfaces, which in turn can affect the adsorption of surfactants and POC (RezaeiDoust et al., 2011; Stumm, 1970). Changes in salinity and the type of salt (therefore changes in salt concentration) can cause changes to the COBR system by disrupting the balance of forces causing rupture of a water film separating oil from contact with a surface (Donaldson and Alam, 2008).

Finally, several studies presented that pH has a relevant role in the processes of protonation and deprotonation of polar components in the oil phase, which can also affect their affinity towards the sandstone surface, regulating the initial wetting of a system (Austad et al., 2010; Brady et al., 2015; Buckley et al., 1989).

2.6.3 Rock minerals

The mineralogy of a reservoir rock plays a role of utmost importance in wettability and petroleum engineering studies. COBR interactions vary significantly considering the big variation in minerals contained in a rock. The ion exchange process is affected and thus changes in wettability occur. Sandstones, carbonate, and shale rock are the main formations in which oil is trapped and are therefore the main topic of interest in wettability.

<u>Sandstone</u> is a clastic sedimentary rock whose grains are predominantly sand-sized (Schlumberger, 1998). They consist mainly of silicates (quartz or feldspar) with lithic fragments to be also common. Their grains' mesh sizes range from coarse sand (1 to 2 mm in diameter) to fine (0.25 mm), silt (0.05 to 0.005 mm), and clay minerals (<0.005 mm) (Donaldson and Alam, 2008). If a sandstone rock consists of more than 90% of quartz clasts then it is called **quartzose**, while if it contains more than 25% of feldspar minerals (albite, anorthite, orthoclase, microcline, etc) it is called **arkose**. They have enough porous space to ''host'' fluids and interconnected porous media to allow them to flow.

Theory

<u>Carbonate</u> is a class of sedimentary rock whose chief mineral constituents (95% or more) are calcite and aragonite (both CaCO₃) and dolomite [CaMg(CO₃)₂], a mineral that can replace calcite during the process of dolomitization. Limestone, dolostone or dolomite, and chalk are carbonate rocks. Although carbonate rocks can be clastic in origin, they are more commonly formed through processes of precipitation or the activity of organisms such as coral and algae. Carbonates form in shallow and deep marine settings, evaporitic basins, lakes, and windy deserts. Carbonate rocks can serve as hydrocarbon reservoir rocks, particularly if their porosity has been enhanced through dissolution. They rely on fractures for permeability (Schlumberger, 1998).

<u>Shale</u> is a fine-graded, clastic sedimentary rock formed from mud that is a mix of flakes of clay minerals and tiny fragments of other minerals, especially quartz and calcite (Blatt, 2001). It exists in abundance within the sedimentary rocks and has a large potential of being a rich hydrocarbon source rock, even though a typical shale contains just 1% organic matter (Schlumberger, 1998).

Trying to understand wettability phenomena in sandstone rocks is a challenging task due to their geochemical and mineralogical complexity. Silica minerals normally have negative surface charges and weakly acidic pH. That is why silica tends to adsorb simple organic bases. The wettability of silica will be more affected by the organic bases since these surfaces will preferentially adsorb compounds of the opposite polarity (Anderson, 1986). It was observed by (Gaudin and Fuerstenau, 1955) (Gaudin and Chang, 1952) that the acidic compounds had very little effect on silica. However, most of the adsorbed compounds changed the wettability only from strongly to mildly water-wet, rather than to oil-wet (Anderson, 1986) An example of basic compounds that adsorbed on the acidic silica surfaces included iso-quinoline and octadecylamine (Block, 1967), (McCaffery, 1970).

2.6.4 Pressure and temperature

It has been observed that the solubility of polar active components in crude oil is increased as pressure and temperature are increased (Anderson, 1986). Other studies have demonstrated that the pressure effect is not very significant, for example, Wang and Gupta (1995) carried out a set of experiments where it was found that the pressure effect on wettability measurements was not very sensitive.

According to Rao (1999), the quartz surface tends to become more oilwet as the temperature increases and the opposite result was found in carbonates where the calcite surface tends to get more water-wet.

2.7 Crude oil-brine-rock interactions

Four mechanisms by which the polar compounds can adsorb onto the rock surface have been identified (Al-Maamari and Buckley, 2000; Buckley et al., 1998; Buckley and Liu, 1998):

- Polar interactions between the oil and solid predominate in the absence of a water film, resulting in adsorption of the polar oil components onto the polar surface sites.
- Surface precipitation is dependent on the ability of the oil to solvate the asphaltenes.
- Acid/Base interactions in the presence of water control the surface charges of the oil/water and solid/water interfaces. The net charge affects the stability of the water film, and the ionized acidic/basic sites influence adsorption.
- Ion-binding is an interaction between charged sites at the mineral surface and higher valency ions in the brine, creating bridges between like charges.

By assessing the rock type and the characteristic properties of the crude oil, such as the API gravity, acid number (AN), and base number (BN), the so-called G-AB parameters, the mechanism by which the crude oil is likely to alter the rock wettability, can be evaluated (Buckley and Liu, 1998).

Other factors, than the above described, that have an effect on the wettability alteration of the COBR system are (Puntervold et al., 2007).

- Capillary pressure and thin-film forces, disjoining pressure
- Water solubility of polar oil components and diffusion through water films
- Stabilization of heavy components by oil
- Temperature
- Pressure
- Initial water saturation

The main physical and chemical principles that govern wettability and wettability alteration are the surface phenomena. Basic principles of surface energy and tension, adsorption/desorption, precipitation/dissolution, and COBR interactions will be briefly analyzed in this section.

2.7.1 Surface energy/surface tension

Surface energy quantifies the disruption of intermolecular bonds that occurs when a surface is created. That means that the energy of a surface molecule is therefore higher than that of a molecule in the interior of the solid and energy must be expended to move a molecule from the interior to the surface of a solid (Castellan, 1979). This change in energy can be described also from **Equation 7** as:

$$f \cdot dx = \gamma \cdot dA \tag{7}$$

Where we assume that a liquid film is stretched on a wireframe. When increasing its area by dA by using the surface Gibbs energy γ , an opposite

force f will be opposed by the wire if it moves a distance dx. Figure 10 is an illustration of the above-described phenomenon.



Figure 10: Stretched film (Source: Physical chemistry, Castellan, 1983)

Surface tension is the consequence of the above theory. It is the tendency of fluid surfaces to shrink into the minimum surface area possible (Wikipedia, 2001). In this case, the energy of the system can be described from **Equation 8**:

$$E = E_u V + E_s A \tag{8}$$

Where V and A are the volume and area, E_u and E_s are the energy per unit volume and the energy per unit area.

2.7.2 Adsorption/desorption

Adsorption is the property of some solids and liquids to attract a liquid or a gas to their surfaces. Some solids, such as activated charcoal or silica gel, are used as surfaces of adhesion to gather liquid hydrocarbons from a natural gas stream. To complete the process, the solids are treated with steam to recover the liquid hydrocarbons glossary. This effect depends on the temperature, the nature of the adsorbed substance (the adsorbate), the nature and the state of subdivision of the adsorbent (the finely divided solid), and the concentration of the dye or pressure of the gas (Castellan, 1979).

Four general mechanisms control the rate of adsorption on reservoir rocks (Donaldson and Alam, 2008):

- a) Diffusion of the compounds from the bulk solution to the interface
- b) Transfer to the surface
- c) Physical adsorption on the surface
- d) Chemical interaction, if bonding criteria are present

The heats of adsorption for the compounds and rock that were used were less than 10kCal/g-mol; therefore, the conclusion was that only physical adsorption took place. Physical adsorption occurs rapidly when the molecules contact the surface. Therefore, the rates of adsorption were controlled by the first two mechanisms: diffusion to the surface and transfer across the interface to the solid (Clayfield and Smith, 1970).

The opposite process of adsorption is called **desorption** according to which, an adsorbed substance is removed from a surface. Desorption is as well a temperature-dependent phenomenon.

2.8 Smart Water EOR method

The proposed Smart Water EOR method disturbs the established chemical equilibrium between crude oil, brine and rock, by injecting a modified ionic composition brine. After several experimental studies performed over the past few decades, it was observed that improved oil recovery can be obtained by altering the ionic composition of the injected brine.

In sandstone rocks, desorption processes and pH are the key factors that control wettability alteration (Austad et al., 2010). When a modified ionic composition brine is injected into a sandstone core, desorption of

active cations like Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} occurs due to diffusion. This effect creates negative charges on the clay surface that must be charge-balanced (RezaeiDoust, 2011). At reservoir conditions, the H⁺ ion has the largest affinity towards clay minerals, and by adsorption of an H⁺ ion, the negative site located at the clay surface becomes charged balanced. The adsorbed H⁺ ion is up taken from water molecules, creating a local pH rise (Pinerez, 2017). Acid-base reactions that include these H+ exchanges are described in **Equations 9** for basic material and in **Equation 10** for acidic.

$$R_3N: + H_2O \leftrightarrow R_3NH^+ + OH^+ \tag{9}$$

$$R - COOH + H_2O \leftrightarrow RCOO^- + H_3O^+ \tag{10}$$

The wettability alteration with Smart Water in carbonates is a result of a combined effect among the determining ions Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} , SO_4^{2-} , temperature and carboxylic acids (Gupta and Mohanty, 2008; Strand et al., 2006; Zhang and Austad, 2005).

The proposed mechanism for the wettability alteration processes for sandstone rocks is illustrated in **Figure 11** (Austad et al., 2010) and for carbonates rocks in **Figure 12** (Zhang et al., 2007).

The basic requirement to observe a Smart Water EOR effect, is for the reservoir to be either in mixed-wet or fractional wet conditions. In the case of a very water-wet system, the potential of Smart Water is low or non-existing. Therefore, the understanding of the initial wettability of the reservoir is of utmost importance.





Figure 11: Illustrated wettability alteration in sandstones by ionic exchange. Desoprtion of basic (a) and acidic (b) material (Austad et al., 2010).



Figure 12: Wettability alteration mechanism by Smart Water in carbonate rocks (modified from (Zhang et al., 2007)).

Two examples of the Smart Water mechanism are presented below.

Theory

In **Figure 13** an example of wettability alteration by Smart Water in chalk material is depicted from the study of (Fathi et al., 2011). Firstly, usage formation water (VB0S), indicate mixed/slightly water-wet conditions. Usage of seawater resulted in a higher oil recovery since it behaves as a Smart Water brine, inducing the wettability alteration processes. A further increase in oil recovery was observed when the SW0Na (seawater depleted in NaCl) was used, acting as a better wettability-modifier brine. The most efficient brine for wettability alteration and thus the highest oil recovery in this study was achieved when using the SW0Na4S brine (seawater depleted in NaCl and spiked with 4 times sulfate).

In **Figure 14** Pinerez (2017) performed viscous flooding experiments on sandstone reservoir cores. In this study, two reservoir sandstone cores were selected for spontaneous imbibition tests. In the case of the core B21, wettability alteration was observed when the imbibition brine was switched to low salinity (LS) at the tertiary mode. In the case of core B26, the LS brine was more effective than the normal seawater in ultimate recovery.



Figure 13: Spontaneous imbibition experiments on chalk outcrop material. Highest recoveries were obtained with the usage of Smart Water brines (Fathi et al., 2011).





Figure 14: Wettability alteration example in sandstone reservoir cores (Pinerez, 2017).

Parametric studies on how to effectively obtain a representative initial wettability are extremely important in core analysis. Thus, emphasis should be given in finding the optimal procedure for treating a core in the lab.

3 State-of-the-art background

The fluid restoration procedure, which includes generating a proper water saturation with formation water (FW) and initial oil saturation by reservoir crude oil exposure on cores in the laboratory, is a significant aspect of the whole wettability restoration process.

Polar organic components (POC) present in crude oils are of utmost importance to surface wettability (Buckley and Morrow, 1990; Standnes and Austad, 2003). According to previous experimental studies on sandstone core material, polar organic bases of the crude oil phase tend to adsorb promptly onto the mineral surface way more than the polar organic acids, affecting this way the core wettability (Mamonov et al., 2019). Similarly, in chalk observations (Hopkins et al., 2016), a large amount of crude oil exposure to the rock affects the wettability towards a less water-wet state. However, in chalk, it is the polar organic acids that have the highest affinity for the calcite surfaces and that dictate the wettability (Puntervold et al., 2021).

In the literature are mentioned several cleaning methods regarding hydrocarbons and cleaning extraction (Borre and Coffey, 2014; Conley and Burrows, 1956; Cuiec, 1975; Gant and Anderson, 1988; Grist et al., 1975; Guedez et al., 2020; Gupta et al., 2017; Jennings, 1957). In addition to that, many scientists have proposed different experimental assemblies like centrifuge cleaning and the distillation extraction method (Conley and Burrows, 1956; Dean and Stark, 1920). The American Petroleum Institute (API) has proposed several solvents for core cleaning purposes and their solubilization (**Table 1**).

Solvents	Boiling Point, °C	Solubilizing	
Acetone	56.5	oil, water, salt	
Chloroform/methanol azeotrope (65/35)	53.5	oil, water, salt	
Cyclohexane	81.4	oil	
Ethylene Chloride	83.5	oil, limited water	
Hexane	49.7-68.7	oil	
Methanol	64.7	water, salt	
Methylene chloride	40.1	oil, limited water	
Naphtha	160.0	oil	
Tetrachloroethylene	121.0	oil	
Tetrahydrofuran	65.0	oil, water, salt	
Toluene	110.6	oil	
Trichloroethylene	87.0	oil, limited water	
Xylene	138.0-144.4	oil	

Table 1: Selected solvents for core cleaning and their use

3.1 Core cleaning and restoration methods

Core restoration methods may have a significant effect on wettability tests. Even before the cores arrive at the lab several factors may affect the later test results. Some of the factors could be e.g. the use of synthetic formation water when cutting the cores or the usage of a "clean" oil without any polar components or low aromatic. After the cores arrive at the lab, the treatment of the samples before starting each test has a tremendous effect on wettability.

Starting with the cleaning process, there are at least four schools of thought regarding how core samples should be cleaned (Morrow, 1990):

a) No solvents

According to this method, the usage of solvents might wash away components naturally existing in the porous media. This interference with the initial wetting conditions would influence the later wettability studies.

Typical 'no solvents' preparation includes water-base 'bland' fluid when cutting the cores and flushing the cores with synthetic brine followed by reservoir crude oil. A disadvantage of this approach is that pore volume and saturation cannot be known until the conclusion of the measurements (Morrow, 1990).

b) Avoid hysteresis

These procedures are designed to maintain the history of fluid displacements in the sample. So, this procedure preferably begins with a sample that was cut with an oil-based drilling fluid so that no new water had been introduced.

c) Clean without restoring

A convenient and cheap method and it is not a serious attempt to maintain wettability, although it is frequently used. It will be effective only if the natural wettability happens to be similar to the wettability after cleaning (Morrow, 1990).

According to some of those methods, cores will be dried in order to calculate their pore volume later. Exposure to very high temperatures might cause hot extraction as a result making them more water-wet by removing naturally absorbed organics or more oil-wet by removing water but not the heavy ends of crude oil (Morrow, 1990).

d) Clean and restore

This procedure suggests that the core should be thoroughly cleaned before the experiments start due to the effect of the drilling fluid invasion, pressure and temperature changes, oxidation, evaporation, or contamination (Morrow, 1990).

The restoration processes, in this case, include flushing of the core at low flooding rates and room temperature with the usage of several solvents like kerosene, heptane, methanol, toluene chloroform, acetone. Afterward, the cores are dried (or not) and saturated with formation water up to irreducible water saturation. Then, crude oil is injected into the core followed by aging at a specific temperature and pressure. Values of days of aging, aging temperature, and pressure could vary.

3.2 Effect of POC on wettability

The effect of POC present in the crude has been studied in the past years. Standnes and Austad (2000) found that the adsorption of polar components onto a chalk surface is a fast process. They pointed out that the higher the acid number in the crude oil, the less water-wet a chalk surface can become (**Figure 15**).



Figure 15: Spontaneous imbibition on chalk cores using crude oils that differ in AN number (Standnes and Austad, 2000).

Following these observations, Puntervold et al (2007) examined further the effect of AN components on chalk mineral surface presented as an AN/BN ratio (**Figure 16**). They indicated that co-adsorption of strong and small organic bases could affect the wettability of a chalk COBR system towards less water-wet state.



Figure 16: Spontaneous imbibition with crude oils containing different AN/BN ratios (replotted from (Puntervold et al., 2007)).

Hopkins et al (2016), investigated the effect of temperature on crude oil adsorption. It was observed that the adsorption of polar acids decreased as the temperature rises.

In addition, studies on sandstone cores showed that the minerals present in a sandstone core (clays, feldspars) interact significantly with the POC present in the crude oil phase (Mamonov et al., 2020; Puntervold et al., 2018).

Finally, Mamonov et al (2019) studied the effect of POC on a sandstone mineral surface. This study showed that polar organic bases have the highest affinity toward the sandstone minerals. In **Figure 17** is it shown that the basic POC have a higher affinity towards a sandstone mineral surface. More precisely, in this study, POC continue adsorbing onto the sandstone mineral surface even after 10 PV of crude oil injection. On the other hand, acidic POC had a small affinity toward the mineral surface.



Figure 17: Adsorption of polar organic bases (a) and polar organic acids (b) onto a sandstone mineral surface (Mamonov et al., 2019).

Shariatpanahi et al. (2012) investigated the effect of different cleaning methods, introducing the "mild" cleaning method. According to this method, kerosene and heptane are used as non-aggressive cleaning agents. The low aromatic but highly miscible with oil kerosene can effectively displace the oil phase from the pore space and not interfere further with the wettability. Heptane is injected to displace kerosene and avoid contact with oil. In **Figure 18** a forced imbibition experiment is presented of one reservoir limestone core restored twice. Before the first restoration, the "mild" cleaning scheme was followed while the standard toluene/methanol cleaning was used before the second restoration.



Figure 18: Effect of toluene/methanol solvents in oil recovery on a limestone reservoir core (Shariatpanahi et al., 2012).

The results showed an increase in the ultimate recovery after the toluene/methanol solvents were used indicating that a more aggressive approach to treating the cores while cleaning can affect the wettability towards more water-wet

In their study on chalk outcrop material, Strand and Puntervold (2019) observed that acidic polar components affect the core wettability. As shown in **Figure 19** the acidic POC present in the crude oil are retained by the core after several PV injected. An equilibrium was reached after 8PV of crude oil injection.



Figure 19: Acid number (AN) in effluent oil samples during crude oil flooding (Strand and Puntervold, 2019).

3.3 Effect of crude oil amount in core restoration

After all the past studies conducted on POC adsorption, it is reasonable to conclude that POC affect the wettability of a COBR in restoration processes when trying to establish initial wettability conditions similar to the reservoir.

Hopkins et al (2017) observed that adsorption of POC was to some extent proportional to the crude oil injected into the rock. An increased amount of pore volumes injected into the core resulted in a less water-wet state. As shown in **Figure 20**, the wettability of the studied core was less waterwet after the second restoration and thus a higher amount of crude oil exposure. So an increased amount of crude oil flooded through the core during core restoration reduces the water-wetness of the system (Hopkins et al., 2017).



Figure 20: Effect of crude oil amount during core restoration after using kerosene and heptane as cleaning solvents, when the core is firstly exposed to 15 PV of crude oil (Hopkins et al., 2017).

Adsorption studies during the crude oil exposure process of the core P2 showed that the acidic components keep adsorbing for several PV injected even during the second restoration (**Figure 21**). This fact confirms that polar organic acids have a strong effect on reducing the water-wetness of the system.



Figure 21: Crude oil adsorption analysis of the chalk core P2 (Hopkins et al., 2017).

The primary goal of this research was to determine the best restoration procedure for reservoir sandstone and outcrop carbonate cores in order to provide consistent core wettability from one restoration to the next. A new cleaning and fluid restoration technique for recovering the original wettability of preserved reservoir sandstone core samples has been developed that takes into consideration both optimum solvent cleaning and crude oil exposure. A Hassler core holder was utilized in this work to flush various solvents through the core throughout the core cleaning procedure. Flooding solvents via a core in a Hassler core holder provides for precise control of solvent volumes (PV injected). Two distinctly different core cleaning solvent systems involving mild (kerosene/heptane) and rigorous (toluene/methanol) solvents were used. The first solvent approach is designed to maintain wettability, while the second uses industry-standard core cleaning solvents to clean a core to fully water-wet conditions before restoring wettability. Initial water saturation (Swi) was in front of crude oil exposure using the desiccator approach (Springer et al., 2003) before the core was subjected to various PVs of crude oil (1 PV, 5 PV, or 11 PV). Spontaneous imbibition oil recovery experiments were used to assess the restored core wettability after aging.

State-of-the-art background

4 Experimental

4.1 Materials

4.1.1 Core material

In this study, both reservoir sandstone and outcrop carbonate core material were used with more emphasis on sandstones.

4.1.1.1 Sandstones

Sandstone reservoir core material retrieved from the Varg field of the Norwegian Continental Shelf (NCS) was mainly used in the following study. With a sea depth of 84 meters, the Varg field is located in the center section of the North Sea, in the southwest part of the (NCS) (Figure 22). In 1984, the field was discovered, and in 1996, the plan for development and operation (PDO) was established. By the end of 2018, it was producing under the management of Chrysaor Norge AS (60 %) and OKEA ASA (40 %). Varg produced oil mainly from the sandstone of the Late Jurassic age in the Ula Formation. The reservoir is located at a depth of 2700 meters. The structure is segmented and comprises several isolated substructures with varying reservoir properties. The field was produced with pressure support from water and gas injection. The smaller structures were produced with pressure relief while all the wells were produced by gas lift. The samples were obtained from two wells, 9S and A5T2, at depths less than 3479.50m (upper sequence) and over 3493.75m (lower sequence) respectively.

Experimental



Figure 22: The location of the Varg field in the Norwegian Continental Shelf (*source: Norwegian Petroleum Directorate*)

The mineralogical composition was evaluated through XRD analysis by the operating company at the time and is presented in Table 2 while the physical properties were measured in-house and are presented in Table 3.

Experimental

	Well			
Minerals	9 S	A5T2		
	(wt%)	(wt%)		
Illite+Mica	15.4	9.5		
Kaolinite	1.1	1.1		
Chlorite/Smectite	0.1	0		
Chlorite	2.4	3.4		
Quartz	62.3	67.6		
K Feldspar	4.5	5.6		
Plagioclase	8.4	8.7		
Calcite	0	0.6		
Dolomite	3.9	2.8		
Siderite	1.1	0		
Pyrite	0.8	0.8		
Total	100	100		

 Table 2: Mineralogical composition of the sandstone core material.

Table 3: Physical properties of the sandstone core material.

Core	V1	V2	V5	V6	V7	V9	V10
Well	9	S	A5T2				
Depth, m	3404.83	3404.88	3507.82	3507.87	3507.92	3528.82	3528.87
Cleaning	Kerosene/	Toluene/	Kerosene/				Toluene/
	Heptane	Methanol	Heptane				Methanol
Length (cm)	8.85	8.18	7.39	7.53	6.75	8.22	8.18
Diameter (cm)	3.80	3.80	3.8	3.8	3.8	3.80	3.80
Bulk volume (cm ³)	100.4	92.8	83.53	85.01	76.15	93.2	92.8
Dry weight (g)	203.52	188.47	168.18	171.82	152.2	179.65	167.62
PV (ml)	21.27	21.40	17.82	18.01	17.18	21.58	24.97
Porosity (%)	21.2	23.1	21.3	21.2	22.6	23.2	26.9
Permeability (md)	11.3	10.9	4.5	3.1	11.1	3.5	22.4

The fluid used for the permeability measurements was a low salinity (LS) brine and was injected at the residual oil saturation (S_{or}) after the cleaning process (analytically described later). The cores were low permeable with permeability values ranging from 2-22 mD for the A5T2 cores and 5-17 mD for the 9S cores. A mercury injection analysis was performed by Stratum Reservoir, in order to determine the pore size distribution of the core plugs (**Figure 23**).


Figure 23: Pore size distribution of the plugs V1(a) retrieved from the 9S and V9 (b) retrieved from the A5–T2 well.

In addition, a Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) analysis was performed on one core of each well, and the images are shown in **Figure 24**.



Figure 24: SEM images from the cores V10 (a) and V2 (b).

Finally, a Computed Tomography (CT) scanning was carried out on the sandstone cores to observe any heterogeneities or impurities in the cores. This process was carried out during the mobility stay at DTU Offshore-Danish Offshore Technology Centre. The CT scanning images are shown in **Figure 25**.



Figure 25: CT scanning images from the cores V1(a), V5(b), V9(c) and V10(d).

4.1.1.2 Carbonates

For this part of the thesis, outcrop chalk was retrieved from the Stevns Klint guarry in Denmark. The mineralogical features of this material include a high amount of CaCO₃ (>98%) and a small amount of silicates (Bertolino et al., 2013; Fabricius and Borre, 2007; Hjuler and Fabricius, 2009; Skovbjerg et al., 2012). In the literature review (Andersen et al., 2018; Andersson et al., 2014; Bovet et al., 2015; Fernø et al., 2011; Megawati et al., 2015; Røgen and Fabricius, 2002; Skovbjerg et al., 2013; Strand et al., 2007) a higher amount of silicates was observed. The presence of other minerals (quartz, clays, polysaccharides) in significant amounts could affect several properties of the core (surface reactivity, mechanical) (Frykman, 2001; Røgen and Fabricius, 2002). Stevns Klint is a highly porous (41-50%), low permeable (1-5 mD) systems and are representative as a North Sea chalk reservoir (Frykman, 2001; Røgen and Fabricius, 2002). The previous studies performed in the Smart Water group, showed that the cores retrieved from the same bock could reproduce the results from an oil recovery test fact that facilitates their use in parametric studies (Fathi et al., 2010; Hopkins et al., 2017; Puntervold et al., 2007; Standnes and Austad, 2000; Strand et al., 2006; Zhang and Austad, 2005). Pore size distribution analysis was performed by Stratum reservoir and the results are shown in Figure 26. An optical representation of the pore structure of Stevns Klint material is depicted in Figure 27 from SEM analysis. in

Table 4 the physical properties of the cores are presented.



Figure 26: Pore size distribution from the carbonate cores.





Figure 27: SEM images from the carbonate cores.

Core	C4	C5	C6	C7	C8	C9
Length, cm	6.94	6.94	6.92	7.00	7.00	7.04
Diameter, cm	3.80	3.80	3.82	3.80	3.80	3.79
Bulk volume, V _b , cm3	78.8	78.8	79.3	79.5	79.5	79.4
Dry weight, m ₀ , g	108.5	107.2	108.7	111.8	110.2	110.1
Sat. weight, m _{sat} , g	146.9	147.1	146.5	149.1	149.1	148.1
Density, ρ_{sat} , d10FW, g/cm3	1.002	1.002	1.002	1.002	1.002	1.002
Pore volume, PV, ml	38.3	39.9	37.7	37.3	38.8	38.5
Porosity, Φ, %	49	50	48	47	48	49
Permeability, md	2.5	1.0	0.8	1.6	2.0	1.2

Table 4: Physical properties of the carbonate core material.

4.1.2 Brines

In-house prepared synthetic brines were used for all the experiments. Different brines were used in each of the three sets of experiments of this work (reproducing wettability on sandstones, reproducing wettability in carbonates, adsorption of polar components). In **Table 5** the ionic composition and the properties of the brines are given.

Experiment	Rep	roducing wettability (sandstones)	Reproducing wettability (carbonates)	Adsorption test	
lons		LS	FW∨	FW _{vos}	
10110		(mM)	(mM)	(mM)	
Na+	17.1	2086.0	997	817.6	
K+	-	51.0	5	-	
Li+	-	-	0	20	
Ca ²⁺	-	536.0	29	-	
Mg ²⁺	-	144.0	8	-	
CI-	17.1	3526.0	1066	857.6	
Ba ²⁺	-	7.0	-	-	
Sr ²⁺	-	8.0	-	-	
HCO ₃	-	-	9	-	
SO ₄ ²⁻	-	-	0	-	
SCN ⁻	-	-	0	-	
Density (g/cm ³)	0.999	1.139	1.041	1.035	
Bulk pH	5.7	5.9	6.7	5.8	
Viscosity (cP)	0.95	1.45	-	-	
TDS (mg/L)	1000	201600	62830	50000	

 Table 5: Ionic brine composition and properties of the brines used per experiment.

4.1.3 Crude Oils

Partial distilled Oil V1 from the Varg field was used in reproducing the wettability in sandstone oil recovery tests. The density and viscosity of Oil V1 were measured at atmospheric conditions with the usage of Anton Paar densitometer and MCR 302 rheometer respectively.

In the case of the carbonate experiments, a modified version of a RES40 crude oil (mixture of Heidrun crude oil and heptane in a volume ratio of 60/40) was used. Initially, for the removal of polar organic components present in RES40 crude oil, silica gel was added and mixed for approximately 6 days. Subsequently, the oil was filtered through a 5 μ m Millipore filter. This resulted in the oil RES40-0 with acid number (AN) and base number (BN) values of 0 and 0.03 mgKOH/g, respectively. By mixing RES40 and RES40-0 in appropriate ratios, Oils A, B and C were created.

Similarly, for the adsorption tests, crude oils with similar content of acidic and basic POC were prepared for the core flooding experiments. The preparation of the oils involved mixing calculated amounts of three low-asphaltene crude oils with known AN and BN, resulting in oils of desired and similar AN and BN of 0.23 mg KOH/g oil. The amount of acids and bases was set low enough to detect adsorption during core flooding and high enough to minimize analytical uncertainties.

The AN and BN for all the experiments were analyzed by potentiometric titration according to the procedures described by Fan and Buckley (2007), procedures that are modified from the standard methods ASTM664–89 and ASTM2896–88 for AN and BN measurements, respectively. The properties of all the oils used are listed in

Table 6.

Table 6: Crude oil properties at each set of experiments.

Oil	Test	Density at 20 °C (g/cm3)	Viscosity at 25° C (cP)	Asphaltene (wt %)	AN m KO	BN ng H/g	Used in Cores
∨1	Reproducing wettability (sandstones)	0.845	11.3	< 1	0.13	1.25	V1 V2 V5 V6 V7 V9 V10
А	Reproducing wettability (carbonates)	0.808	3.25	<1	0.34	0.24	C1 C2
В		0.807	2.52	< 1	0.36	0.30	C4 C5
С		0.807	2.36	< 1	0.5	0.23	C6 C7
V2	Adsorption tests			< 1	0.23	0.23	V2

4.1.4 Other chemicals

In the core cleaning procedures, several chemical solvents purchased from Merck laboratories were used; low aromatic kerosene, n-heptane (hereafter referred to as heptane) both having reduced solubilization of large oil components, toluene, which is a strong solvent that efficiently removes heavy oil components and methanol, which can dissolve both oil and water.

4.2 Core cleaning

In this project, the area of focus is the comparison between two different cleaning methods: (a) "mild cleaning" using kerosene/heptane and (b) "harsh cleaning" using toluene/methanol. For the removal of the latest solvent present in the core during cleaning (heptane or methanol) a 1000ppm NaCl brine was used for the sandstone cores. In this way, the clays are prevented from swelling and the easily dissolvable salts are removed. The effluents of the 1000ppm NaCl brine were collected, and the pH was monitored. In the case of the carbonate cores, pure deionised water was injected. The apparatus used was a Hassler core holder with a confining pressure at 20 bars. while the operating conditions were

atmospheric (room temperature and atmospheric pressure). The flooding rate was constant at 0.1ml/min and the pressure differential (ΔP) values were monitored at all times to observe any changes in core permeability between restorations. The effluent samples from the cleaning procedures were collected for visual inspection of the core's cleaned state (API, 1998) **Figure 28**. In **Figure 29** an illustration of the core flooding apparatus is shown. Cleaning with kerosene/heptane is an in-house procedure developed for maintaining the original wettability of the core by removing the mobile oil phase while minimizing the desorption of adsorbed organic material at the rock surface (Shariatpanahi et al., 2012). Past work performed on outcrop chalk showed that most organic material (75%) stays adsorbed after the ''mild cleaning'' approach (Hopkins et al., 2016). On the other hand, usage of high aromatic solvents like toluene tends to remove any adsorbed organic components leading to a more water-wet state.



Figure 28: Visual inspection of the cleaning state of reservoir sandstone cores from the effluents of the kerosene injection.





4.2.1 Cleaning using kerosene/heptane

Kerosene is a low-aromatic solvent that is used to remove the mobile oil phase, whilst heptane is used to displace kerosene without causing any salts to dissolve. Residual oil is dissolved by low aromatic kerosene, although bitumenic solids are not. Finally, a LS brine is flushed through the core to remove the easily dissolvable salts and to prevent clays from swelling. The amount of kerosene flushed into the cores V1, V5, V6, V7 and V9 was approximately 10 PV until a clear effluent was collected (API, 1998), followed by 5PV of heptane and 10 PV of LS brine (or deionised water for chalk).

4.2.2 Cleaning using toluene/methanol

The toluene/methanol cleaning process is a well-known and widely utilized hydrocarbon extraction procedure. This vigorous technique, in comparison to the kerosene/heptane strategy, tends to eliminate elements that contribute to the rock's inherent wettability. Methanol dissolves polar compounds, water, and precipitated salts, while toluene removes the oil phase, including polar organic components, asphaltenes, and bitumenic precipitates. The cores V2 and V10 were cleaned according to this protocol with 5PV and 5PV of toluene and methanol in two cycles followed by 10PV of the LS brine (or deionised water for chalk).

4.3 Core fluid restoration

4.3.1 Establishing initial water saturation S_{wi}

For establishing the initial water saturation (S_{wi}), the desiccator technique was implanted as suggested by (Springer et al., 2003). After each core cleaning protocol, the cores were placed for drying at 90 °C, until constant weight, before they were vacuum–saturated with fivefold diluted FW (d5FW). The silica gel present in the desiccator will gradually dry the cores to reach the desired 20% and 10% S_{wi} for sandstones and carbonates respectively. At this stage, the remaining brine will have the original formation water composition. To ensure an even brine distribution along the pore network of the core, each core was stored for three days.

4.3.2 Crude oil exposure and aging

The cores used for the reproduction of wettability studies were exposed to various amounts of Oils V1, A, B, and C; 1 PV (more accurately $(1-S_{wi})$ PV), 5 PV, or 11 PV.

The cores with an $S_{wi} = 0.2$ and 0.1 for sandstones and carbonates respectively, were placed in the Hassler core holder at 50° C and exposed to vacuum from both sides for a short period of time prior to oil exposure. Depending on the amount of oil introduced into the core the oil exposure process took place in a different way:

• Cores saturated with 1 PV: vacuum saturation from both sides at a rate of 0.5ml/min

- Cores saturated with 5 PV: vacuum saturation from both sides at a rate of 0.5ml/min, 2 PV oil in both directions at a rate of 0.1 ml/min
- Core saturated with 11 PV: vacuum saturation from both sides at a rate of 0.5ml/min, 5 PV oil in both directions at a rate of 0.1 ml/min

Finally, the oil exposure process ceased with the aging process. The cores were placed in the aging cells surrounded by the corresponding oil (see

Table 6) for 14 days at 60 °C and 1 atm pressure. A thermal expansion of the oil phase due to temperature increase should be expected.

4.4 Spontaneous imbibition

One of the methods for evaluating the core wettability after COBR interactions is the spontaneous imbibition (SI) oil recovery test. After the core is restored, is placed into an Amott cell (Amott, 1959) submerged in water or oil (**Figure 6**). If the surrounding fluid manages to imbibe into the pores of the core and displace the mobile oil, then it is the wetting phase of the system. The displaced fluid is collected in a graded burette, while the imbibition is monitored with time. The ultimate recovery and the rate of imbibition of the wetting phase will finally dictate the level of wettability. All the cores from reproducing wettability experiments containing their corresponding oil were placed on top of marbles inside the Amott imbibition cell and surrounded by the imbibition brine. No wettability alteration should be expected during the imbibition process since the FW is in chemical equilibrium with the COBR-system. The calculated oil recovery in %OOIP is derived from the collected crude oil and plotted against the time of imbibition.

4.5 Crude oil adsorption test

The crude oil adsorption test is a method to evaluate the chemical interactions between the crude oil and the rock phase. After the establishment of S_{wi} the cores were placed in a Hassler core holder with

a 20bar confining pressure and 10bar backpressure. Crude oil with known AN and BN numbers is injected through the core at a rate of 0.1 ml/min. Produced oil samples are collected by a fraction collector and analysed for the presence of POC. Adsorbed POC were then calculated as the difference between the AN and BN of the influent and effluent crude oil samples (Puntervold et al., 2021). The adsorbed POC AN and BN are plotted versus PV injected. The experimental apparatus is presented in **Figure 30**.



Figure 30: Crude oil core flooding set-up.

4.6 Fluid and rock characterization

Below is a quick explanation of the analyses performed throughout this project.

4.6.1 Potentiometric titration

The quantity of acidic and basic polar components, in mg KOH/g of oil, was measured in samples of stabilized reservoir crude oils by potentiometric titration samples. Buckley and Fan (2007) modified versions of ASTM 664 and ASTM 2895 were utilized for the procedures. The Mettler Toledo DL55 auto-titrator was used to quantify AN and BN.

4.6.2 Ionic composition analysis

During several core tests, samples of effluent brine were obtained. The trilutionTM LH system from Gilson was used to dilute the brine samples prior to the analysis. An ion chromatograph, the DIONEX ICS-3000, was used to undertake chemical analyses of both anions and cations. The concentrations of ions were determined using an external standard technique.

4.6.3 pH measurement

Mettler Toledo's pH meter seven easy TM was used to determine the pH of brines and effluent water samples. The semi-micro-pH electrode was utilized. The reproducibility of the measurements was within the range of +/- 0.01 pH units.

4.6.4 Viscosity

The viscosities of brine and crude oil were measured with an Anton Paar Physica MCR 302 rotating rheometer.

4.6.5 Density

A density meter DMA-4500 from Anton Paar was used to test the density of brines, oils, and produced water samples.

4.6.6 Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM), EDAX

Images of rock surfaces were collected from rock samples collected from reservoir cores using a ZEISS SUPRA 35VP Environmental Scanning Electron Microscope. An EDAX detector was used to perform basic analyses on the same rock sample.

5 Results and discussion

The main goal of this work has been to optimize the workflow in the laboratory for reproducing the core wettability of preserved reservoir cores. The level of wettability of reservoir sandstone and outcrop carbonate cores was evaluated, by following two different cleaning protocols. In addition, the aim was to reproduce the wettability of a system using the optimum restoration process. The two cleaning strategies compared in this study were the kerosene/heptane and toluene/methanol schemes. Furthermore, the change in core wettability between restorations provided important information regarding the effect of crude oil exposure in these two differently cleaned sandstone rock systems. Charged POC might have a higher affinity onto mineral surfaces with opposite charges, especially in the water-wet case. An increased amount of crude oil exposure during a core restoration process, or in successive core restorations could increase the accumulation of these surface-active components and result in a less water-wet behavior of the restored core, observable in spontaneous imbibition tests (Aslanidis et al., 2021). Industry uses aggressive solvents to achieve a water-wet state during core cleaning before the fluid restoration process. Apart from the solubilization of the solvents with the residual oil and the POC, this aggressive approach might interact with parts of the mineral surface that contribute to the natural initial wettability of the rock like asphalts/bitumen and salt minerals. The milder approach of kerosene will solubilize and remove the residual oil but minimize the removal of POC along with the solid organics and salt precipitates that consist of a part of the rock.

In this study, a combination of using the kerosene/heptane scheme combined with an optimum amount of crude oil exposure that will fill the pores sufficiently without altering the wettability is proposed. All the cleaning procedures were performed using a Hassler core holder, and no Soxhlet extraction method has been implemented. Finally, a crude oil adsorption test was performed to observe the effect of POC onto the sandstone mineral surface.

5.1 Evaluation of core wettability

Smart Water is a wettability alteration EOR method that results in more water-wet conditions (Aghaeifar et al., 2015; Mamonov et al., 2019; Puntervold et al., 2021). To predict the EOR-potential by either method for a given reservoir, a reliable estimate of the reservoir wettability is needed. For strongly water-wet reservoirs the EOR-potential by wettability alteration will be very low and Smart Water or low salinity water injection are not recommended (Aghaeifar et al., 2015). Realistic predictions of reservoir wettability can be achieved through precise laboratory core experiments. To maximize the accuracy of the results produced in the lab, the cleaning and restoration procedures need to be optimized in a way that will duplicate the reservoir conditions in front of wettability tests, permeability measurements, etc. This work is particularly important in regard to this aspect of special core analysis.

A comparison of the core wettability after the first core cleaning and core restoration of SI experiments in the reproducing wettability experiment of sandstones is presented in Figure 31. The ultimate recovery of the cores varied from 27 % OOIP to 45 % OOIP confirming the water-wet behavior of these reservoir sandstone cores. Apart from the difference in the ultimate recovery, a difference in the rate of imbibition was observed as well after 7-30 days. "Sister" cores that were retrieved from the same seal peel behaved in a different way. This may be explained by mineralogy and pore size distribution heterogeneity, as seen in Figure 31, where the pore throat radii of the sandstone core material vary dramatically and nonuniformly. Cores cleaned mildly (kerosene/heptane) should show a less water-wet behavior in contrast with the cores cleaned with more rigorous solvents (toluene/methanol) where a more water-wet state should be expected.

The big variation in ultimate recovery results confirms the difference in the initial wettability of the cores. Thus, direct comparison and analysis based on the ultimate recovery results is a very difficult task. Pore heterogeneity in sandstone cores seems to be an important factor in core laboratory studies.

Laboratory protocols for replicating core wettability in repeated core experiments on the same core might be improved with a better understanding of the parameters impacting core wettability during core cleaning and fluid restoration.



Figure 31: SI tests performed at 60 °C on 7 preserved Varg cores after the first core cleaning and core restoration. All cores were restored with $S_{wi} = 20\%$ of FW_V and exposed to 5PV of oil V before aging. The cores were imbibed with FW_V.

5.2 Effect of crude oil exposure on core wettability

The wettability of mildly cleaned reservoir sandstone cores due to the crude oil exposure after multiple restorations were investigated. Spontaneous imbibition (SI) tests were performed on the cores using FW_V as imbibing fluid. As already explained, no chemical-induced wettability alteration should be expected from the imbibing fluid, since FW_V is used for establishing S_{wi} . The spontaneous imbibition rate and ultimate recovery plateau will therefore indicate the core wettability

(Anderson, 1987). Core V6 was mildly cleaned (kerosene/heptane) and restored with S_{wi} =20% as described in chapter 4. The amount of oil exposure in this core was 11 PV during the first restoration (R1). SI with FW_V at 60 °C was performed to evaluate the wettability of the system at R1. When the ultimate oil recovery was reached, the core was restored again with the same amount of 11PV introduced into the core. The results of both tests are presented in **Figure 32**.



Figure 32: Oil recovery by spontaneous imbibition at 60 °C from core V6 at S_{wi} =0.2, which was cleaned with kerosene/heptane and exposed to 11 PV of crude oil in both restorations R1 and R2.

After the first core restoration with 11 PV of crude oil exposure (Oil V1), core V6 at R1 reached a recovery of 21 %OOIP rapidly after 3 days of production and ultimate recovery of 30 %OOIP after 22 days. During the second restoration process (R2), core V6 behaved significantly less water-wet reaching to ultimate recovery of 21 %OOIP after 19 days. The reduction in the water-wetness of the system, in this case, is at 30% compared to V6 at R1. The dramatic change in core V6 wettability designates that the 11 PV of the Oil V exposed into the core in between the restoration processes was not the optimum amount for a wettability reproduction. Thus, an optimized amount of crude oil should be introduced into the core when designing a core restoration procedure in sandstone reservoir cores. The findings also revealed that mild core

cleaning with kerosene/heptane was ineffective in eliminating POC adhering to mineral surfaces, resulting in increased POC build-up on pore surfaces and decreased core V6 water-wetness during subsequent core restorations. Emphasis should be given to the fact that mild solvents aimed for wettability preservation by reducing the amount of POC removed from the rock surface. Mild core cleaning in outcrop chalk has shown that approximately 75% of the adsorbed POC remained adsorbed on the outcrop chalk surface after kerosene/heptane cleaning (Hopkins et al., 2017). Therefore, the crude oil amount should be optimized in order to achieve wettability reproduction.

5.3 Crude oil adsorption on sandstones

This change in the wettability of the system towards less water-wet could be explained by the successive adsorption of polar components onto the sandstone mineral surface.

Core V2 was previously used in wettability tests and it was shown that the reservoir rock was quite water-wet initially. After cleaning the core with toluene/methanol to a preferentially water-wet condition, the core wettability was assessed using a SI test on the restored core with a S_{wi} of 20% and mineral oil (C7) as the oil phase, as shown in **Figure 33**. The results showed that the toluene/methanol cleaning was successful. After the toluene/methanol cleaning, the oil production reported, reached an ultimate recovery of 50 %OOIP after 2 hours and 54% after 1 day, demonstrating significant capillary forces and a water-wet behavior of the rock pore surfaces.



Figure 33: SI test on reservoir sandstone core V2 at T=60 $^{\circ}$ C. The core with established with S_{wi}= 20% was saturated with mineral oil (C7) and spontaneously imbibed with FW until reaching recovery plateau.

5.3.1 Surface reactivity test

Because of dissolved acidic gases such as CO_2 and H_2S , the pH of formation water, in general, is low (around 5) under reservoir conditions. At this pH, the clay minerals, which operate as cation exchange material, are adsorbed by acidic and protonated basic components of crude oil, as well as cations, particularly divalent cations from formation water, such as Ca^{2+} . Injection of a low saline fluid, which facilitates Ca^{2+} desorption, causes a local elevation in pH along with the brine-clay interface because Ca^{2+} is substituted by H⁺ from the water. Desorption of organic material from clay will occur as a result of a rapid interaction between OH⁻ and the adsorbed acidic and protonated basic substance. The water wetness of the rock improves, and oil recovery improves.

A surface reactivity test was conducted by successfully flooding a 100% water-saturated core V2 with $FW_T - LS$ brine to analyze the chemical reactivity of the surface minerals. **Figure 34** depicts the end outcome.

The effluent pH was 7.7 at the start of the FW_T injection and thereafter the pH was stabilized just below 8. The injection brine was changed to

LS after 8 PV. The pH of the effluent steadily rose, indicating that the chemical compositions of the injection brines had an impact on Brine–Rock interactions. A decrease of one pH unit in the effluent brine corresponds to a tenfold rise in proton concentration ([H+]). These results indicate that low salinity effect could be observed in this material using these brines.



Figure 34: Surface reactivity test of the core V2 at T=60 °C using a brine sequence of FW_T-LS brine

5.3.2 Crude oil adsorption test

The core was dried and restored with an initial water saturation of 20% with FW_T after the SI and surface reactivity tests on the quite water wet core V2, before a crude oil adsorption test was performed. The 20% S_{wi} core was placed in a Hassler core holder and flooded with crude oil V2 at a rate of 0.1 ml/min, with an AN=BN=0.23 mg KOH/g.

Potentiometric titration of the generated oil samples was used to measure the levels of AN and BN in the oil. The findings are shown in **Figure 35**.

As can be seen, both acidic and basic POC components adsorb in the first contact of oil with the brine-rock system. It's also worth noting that adsorption to mineral surfaces happens quite quickly. During the first 6 PV of Oil V2 injection, substantial adsorption of basic polar components

was detected (**Figure 35** (a)), but only 35% of the bases contained in Oil V2 had an affinity for the mineral surfaces. The BN of the produced oil was equal to the bulk value of Oil V2 after 8 PV of Oil V2 injection.

On the other hand, there was no evidence of continued adsorption of acidic components (**Figure 35** (b)). The bulk AN = 0.23 mg KOH/g was attained quickly. This observation is in line with the concept of positively/neutral charged bases having a higher affinity to the mineral surface than neutral/negative acids at slightly acidic pH.



Figure 35: Adsorption of acidic and basic POC onto reservoir V2 sandstone during crude oil flooding. 10 PV of modified crude oil (AN=BN=0.23 mg KOH/g) were injected into core V2 with Swi = 19% at 60 °C and at a rate of 0.1 mL/min. Effluent oil samples were analysed for (a) BN and (b) AN and plotted against PV of crude oil injected.

A spontaneous imbibition test was performed on core V2 to determine the wettability response after Oil V2 exposure. At 60 °C, FW_T was employed as the imbibing brine. **Figure 36** shows a considerable difference in core wettability when compared to the completely waterwet core cleaned with toluene-methanol and saturated with heptane.

After an exposure of 10 PV of Oil V2, the water wetness of the core was dramatically reduced, and adsorption of basic polar components was observed. After 23 days, an ultimate oil recovery of 47% was attained, showing that the capillary forces and oil mobilization were dramatically reduced as a result of the exposure to Oil V2 and the observed adsorption of basic components, indicating reduced water wetness. It's also worth noting that no aging was done prior to the imbibition test, indicating that the observed decrease in core water wetness is not the product of a long-term aging process. This demonstrates that during core restoration, core aging is not required to turn a reservoir sandstone core to less water-wet conditions.



Figure 36: SI oil recovery test at T=60 °C on reservoir sandstone core V2 exposed to 10 PV of crude oil. FW and LS were used as the imbibing brines.

After reaching the ultimate oil recovery plateau with the 50 000 ppm FW_T brine with 20 mM Ca²⁺ ions, the imbibition brine was changed to LS after 23 days to disturb the chemical equilibrium during the test. A

change in ion composition and salinity led to a radically altered brine rock equilibrium, encouraging an elevated pH, as seen in the surface reactivity test. The oil mobilization from the core V2 was greatly enhanced using 1000 ppm NaCl as LS brine. After 47 days, a further 11 %OOIP recovery was discovered, bringing the total oil recovery to 58 %OOIP.

In conclusion, even a crude oil with a low amount of POC seems to interact with the mineral surface of the reservoir sandstone cores. Mainly basic POC keep adsorbing on the mineral surface after several amounts of PV injected altering the wettability of the system towards a less waterwet state.

5.4 Effect of kerosene/heptane cleaning solvents on core wettability

The primary idea at the earliest stages of this study was to implement a method that will not interfere with the natural characteristic of the rock system but preserve the initial wettability. The low aromatic content of the kerosene and high miscibility with the organic compounds made kerosene a good candidate to be included in a new optimized restoration strategy.

5.4.1 Sandstones

To examine the effect of core cleaning on sandstone wettability after multiple restorations in further detail, the cores V9 and V1, derived from two different wells (see **Table 3**) were restored four times each. In this case, the amount of Oil V1 exposed to the cores was reduced to 5 PV during each restoration procedure. Likewise, with core V6, SI oil recovery tests were performed at 60 °C using FW_V as the imbibing fluid to evaluate the wettability of the system. The results of this experiment are presented in **Figure 37**. As shown, both cores V9 and V1 were slightly water-wet producing a total amount of 43 %OOIP after 30 days

Results and discussion

and 34 %OOIP after 7 days respectively after the first restoration. This water-wet behavior is in line with what was observed previously in core V6 in R1. In the following restorations for core V9, Figure 37 (a), the ultimate oil recoveries systematically declined, V9-R2 reached an ultimate recovery of 29 % OOIP, V9-R3 declined to 24 % OOIP, and V9-R4 only reached 17 % OOIP. Core V1 behaved similarly, Figure 37 (b), with the oil recovery declining from 33 %OOIP in V1-R1 to 25 %OOIP in V1-R3, and to 14 %OOIP in V1-R4. The SI experiment from the second restoration failed and is so skipped. These findings demonstrate that mild cleaning can retain POC adsorbed on a rock mineral surface. The combination of mild core cleaning and just 5 PV of Oil V exposure during fluid restoration resulted in considerably less water-wet cores in subsequent core restorations and is thus not an effective method for duplicating core wettability in subsequent core experiments. The resulted accumulation of POC reduced the water-wetness of the system as a result of the extensive (5PV) crude oil exposure.





Figure 37: Spontaneous imbibition at 60 °C of the cores V9 (a) and V1 (b) cleaned with kerosene and heptane and exposed to 5 PV of crude oil.

5.4.2 Carbonates

Previous studies of the effect of mild solvents on carbonate outcrop core material have confirmed the preservation of POC on the mineral surface (Hopkins et al., 2017). In this case, outcrop chalk core C9 was restored twice. The core was cleaned with mild solvents followed by deionized water. The core saturated with the FW_{V0S} at initial water saturation of S_{wi} =0.1 was exposed to 5 PV of Oil B with AN=0.36 mgKOH/g at both R1 and R2 and restored as described in chapter 4. A SI oil recovery test was performed at 50° C with FW_{V0S} as the imbibing fluid and the results are presented in **Figure 38**. As shown, core C9 produced an amount of 41 %OOIP in R1 which was dramatically reduced to 20 %OOIP in R2.

These results bring to a conclusion the fact that mild solvents preserve the POC present in the mineral surface and can preserve the initial wettability dictated from previous use in both carbonate and sandstone rock systems but it seems that mild cleaning and 5 PV of this crude oil do not satisfactorily reproduce wettability in multiple restorations.



Figure 38: SI tests performed at 50 °C after the initial restoration (R1) and the second restoration (R2) in core C9. During R1 the core was exposed to 5 PV Oil B with AN = 0.36 mgKOH/g. After mild cleaning the core was exposed to another 5 PV of Oil B in R2.

So, the question raised from the above results was: could a more rigorous solvent approach minimize the changes in core wettability after multiple restorations? The answer to this question can be found in the next chapter.

5.5 Effect of toluene/methanol cleaning solvents on core wettability

5.5.1 Sandstones

The mild cleaning seemed to not reproduce the wettability in multiple restorations and therefore a more rigorous approach was selected. Cores V10 and V2 were cleaned with toluene and methanol. The cores were restored three times, same as all the previous cores, and the amount of Oil V exposure of 5 PV was kept the same as well. The SI oil recovery tests are presented in **Figure 39**. At the first restoration R1, core V10 produced an amount of 40 %OOIP, recovery which increased to 43 % OOIP in R2 and to 45 %OOIP in V3. The same trend was observed in core V2 where in restoration R1, the core produced 27 %OOIP, 33 %OOIP in R2 and finally 34 %OOIP in R3. In contrast with the previous

case presented in chapter **5.2** where it was observed that mild solvents preserved the POC adsorption and decreased the water-wetness, here we observed higher recovery and a more water-wet case. In addition, toluene/methanol may have also removed components attached to the mineral surfaces that govern core wettability, such as bitumenic or salt precipitates that are part of the rock phase and cannot be properly restored in cores via core restoration techniques. Although the wettability change between restorations was smaller than in the kerosene/heptane case, the amount of crude oil exposure needed for the wettability to be reproduced under this scheme is unknown. Therefore, this is not an optimal cleaning procedure either.



Figure 39: Spontaneous imbibition at 60 °C of the cores V10 (a) and V2 (b) cleaned with toluene and methanol and exposed to 5 PV of crude oil in every restoration.

5.6 Reproducing wettability in sandstone reservoir cores

5.6.1 Sandstones

As it has been shown so far, the two attempts of reproducing the core wettability failed. The mild solvents combined with 5 PV of crude oil exposure are not adequate to remove effectively all the POC while the more rigorous solvents tend to remove more components than desired resulting in a non-representative and non-reproducible wettability.

The two scenarios that could be followed in order to get a step closer to a reproducible wettability are the following:

- a) Restoring the core with aggressive solvents and increasing the amount of crude oil exposure or
- b) Preserving the initial wettability using mild solvents and decreasing the amount of crude oil exposure

This work addresses case (b) where the oil exposure is limited while mild solvents are used during the core cleaning process. An attempt to keep most of the POC initially in place and conclude to a reproducible initial reservoir wettability was targeted.

The reservoir cores V5 and V7 were mildly cleaned using kerosene and heptane before they were restored. The cores were exposed to only 1 PV, i.e. $(1-S_{wi})$ PV of Oil V before they were put for aging. The results from the SI experiments are presented in **Figure 40**. As seen in **Figure 40** (a), the SI of the core V7 reached an ultimate recovery of 27% and 28 %OOIP after the first (R1) and second (R2) restorations respectively with a very similar rate of imbibition. Similarly, the core V5 (**Figure 40** (b)) produced an amount of 29 %OOIP in all three restorations R1, R2 and R3 with a slight difference in the imbibition rate. These two experiments confirm that no significant changes occurred to the wettability of the cores during the cleaning and restoration process. This suggested procedure can be a more optimal way of reproducing representative wettability in core plugs used for laboratory testing.



Figure 40: Spontaneous imbibition at 60 °C of the cores V7 (left) exposed to and V5 (right) cleaned with kerosene and heptane and exposed to 1 PV of crude oil.

5.6.2 Carbonates

In this work, similarly to the previous results, it was suggested that the kerosene/heptane cleaning strategy followed by 1 PV of crude oil can maintain the original POC attached to the mineral surface and thus preserve the initial wettability of the system. In this case, four outcrop chalk cores were restored twice, and their wettability was evaluated by

SI experiments at 50° C. All the results from the reproduction of wettability on carbonate cores are gathered in **Figure 41**.

As can be seen in **Figure 41**a, core C4 and C5 exposed to Oil B gave reproducible results from the SI experiments reaching an ultimate recovery of 44 % OOIP and 43% respectively in R1 (**Figure 41** (a) and (b)). Cores C6 and C7 exposed to Oil C reached an ultimate recovery of 25% and 37% in R1 respectively. In all four cases, the wettability was successfully reproduced. The difference in oil recovery in the second restoration for all the cores varied from +1.5% to 3.5% OOIP **Figure 41** (c) and (d)).



104



Figure 41: SI tests performed at 50 °C after initial restoration (R1) and a second restoration (R2) on cores with $S_{wi} = 0.1$. (a) Core C4 and (b) Core C5 exposed to Oil B (AN = 0.36 mgKOH/g). (c) Core C6 and (d) Core C7 exposed to Oil C (AN = 0.5 mgKOH/g).

As final remarks of the experimental part, the wettability of both carbonate and sandstone cores was successfully reproduced after multiple restorations. Uncontrolled volumes of crude exposure and usage of rigorous solvents proved to have a tremendous effect on core wettability. On the other hand, mild solvents combined with only 1 PV of crude oil seemed to be a more effective core restoration strategy in regard to wettability preservation.

6 Concluding remarks

6.1 Conclusions

The study focused on the reproduction of the wettability in reservoir sandstone cores from the NCS and outcrop carbonate cores from Stevns Klint in Denmark. Two different cleaning approaches were compared, the mild cleaning (kerosene/heptane) and the more rigorous cleaning (toluene/methanol). Furthermore, the effect of crude oil exposure was examined in various amounts of 11 PV, 5 PV and 1 PV. Finally, an adsorption analysis was performed on the sandstone outcrop core material in order to explain this change in wettability when oil gets in contact with the mineral surface. The conclusion drawn from this project can be summarized as follows:

- Crude oil exposure of 5 PV or greater in repeated core restorations utilizing the mild solvents kerosene and heptane resulted in a reduction in oil recovery and water-wetness after each restoration operation in sandstone cores V1, V6, and V9.
- Crude oil exposure of 5 PV of crude oil in successive core restorations using the mild solvents kerosene and heptane resulted in a decrease in oil recovery and thus in water-wetness between restoration R1 and R2 in outcrop carbonate core C9.
- Cleaning using more rigorous solvents, toluene and methanol, resulted in higher oil recovery after each restoration from cores V2 and V10 when exposed to 5 PV of crude oil during core restoration. This gradual increase in oil recovery may imply that strong solvents might harm the rock surface by dissolving/removing material that contributes to the rock's initial wettability.
- Reservoir core wettability was successfully reproduced on the preserved sandstone cores V7 and V5 after mild cleaning and 1 PV exposure of crude oil with a small decrease in the rate of

imbibition but not in the ultimate oil recovery. Reservoir core wettability was successfully reproduced on the outcrop carbonate cores C4, C5, C6 and C7 after mild cleaning and 1 PV exposure of crude oil.

 An approximate amount of 35% of basic polar organic components of a low AN and BN oil adsorbed onto the reservoir sandstone mineral surface after 5 PV of crude oil injection. Adsorption of acid components was observed to be very low.

6.2 Future work

The presented work is an additional step in optimizing the core preparation process for wettability studies. Additional work could further improve the understanding of core restoration. Some recommendations are provided below.

The efficiency of reproducing the wettability should be tested. A parallel set of experiments should be ran using the proposed core restoration method and a standard industry restored protocol. These experiments should include two or more restorations with the identical oil recovery test each time. The goal of this work would be to observe any changes in ultimate oil recovery due to changes in core wettability during the cleaning and restoration procedure.

- Test wettability reproduction with different methods e.g. NMR, contact angle, etc
- Advanced analysis on POC adsorption on sandstone mineral surface/which components have a higher affinity towards the surface.
- Compare against industry standards by other means of cleaning and restoring the cores in laboratories.

7 References

- Aghaeifar, Z., Strand, S., Austad, T., Puntervold, T., Aksulu, H., Navratil, K., Storås, S., & Håmsø, D. (2015). Influence of Formation Water Salinity/Composition on the Low-Salinity Enhanced Oil Recovery Effect in High-Temperature Sandstone Reservoirs. *Energy & Fuels*, 29(8), 4747-4754. doi:10.1021/acs.energyfuels.5b01621
- Aghaeifar, Z., Strand, S., & Puntervold, T. (2019). Significance of Capillary Forces during Low-Rate Waterflooding. *Energy & Fuels*, 33(5), 3989-3997. doi:10.1021/acs.energyfuels.9b00023
- Al-Maamari, R. S. H., & Buckley, J. S. (2000). Asphaltene Precipitation and Alteration of Wetting: Can Wettability Change during Oil Production? Paper presented at the SPE/DOE Improved Oil Recovery Symposium, Tulsa, Oklahoma. https://doi.org/10.2118/59292-MS
- Amott, E. (1959). Observations Relating to the Wettability of Porous Rock. *Transactions of the AIME*, 216(01), 156-162. doi:10.2118/1167-G
- Andersen, P. Ø., Wang, W., Madland, M. V., Zimmermann, U., Korsnes, R. I., Bertolino, S. R. A., Minde, M., Schulz, B., & Gilbricht, S. (2018). Comparative Study of Five Outcrop Chalks Flooded at Reservoir Conditions: Chemo-mechanical Behaviour and Profiles of Compositional Alteration. *Transport in Porous Media*, 121(1), 135-181. doi:10.1007/s11242-017-0953-6
- Anderson, W. (1986). Wettability Literature Survey- Part 1: Rock/Oil/Brine Interactions and the Effects of Core Handling on Wettability. *Journal of Petroleum Technology*, 38(10), 1125-1144. doi:10.2118/13932-PA
- Anderson, W. (1986). Wettability Literature Survey- Part 2: Wettability Measurement. *Journal of Petroleum Technology*, *38*(11), 1246-1262. doi:10.2118/13933-PA
- Anderson, W. (1986). Wettability Literature Survey-Part 3: The Effects of Wettability on the Electrical Properties of Porous Media. *Journal of Petroleum Technology*, 38(12), 1371-1378. doi:10.2118/13934-PA
- Anderson, W. (1987). Wettability Literature Survey- Part 4: Effects of Wettability on Capillary Pressure. *Journal of Petroleum Technology*, 39(10), 1283-1300. doi:10.2118/15271-PA
- Anderson, W. (1987). Wettability Literature Survey Part 5: The Effects of Wettability on Relative Permeability. *Journal of Petroleum Technology*, *39*(11), 1453-1468. doi:10.2118/16323-PA
- Andersson, M. P., Hem, C. P., Schultz, L. N., Nielsen, J. W., Pedersen, C. S., Sand, K. K., Okhrimenko, D. V., Johnsson, A., & Stipp, S. L. S. (2014). Infrared Spectroscopy and Density Functional Theory Investigation of Calcite, Chalk, and Coccoliths—Do We Observe the Mineral Surface? *The Journal of Physical Chemistry* A, 118(45), 10720-10729. doi:10.1021/jp5053858
- API. (1998). Recommended Practices for Core Analysis (Vol. SECOND EDITION): API Publishing Services.
- Aslanidis, P., Strand, S., Pinerez Torrijos, I. D., & Puntervold, T. (2021). Reproducing wettability in sandstone reservoir core material in laboratory core restorations. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 109531.

doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2021.109531

- Austad, T., Rezaeidoust, A., & Puntervold, T. (2010). *Chemical Mechanism of Low Salinity Water Flooding in Sandstone Reservoirs.* Paper presented at the SPE Improved Oil Recovery Symposium, Tulsa, Oklahoma, USA. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/129767-MS</u>
- Bertolino, S., Zimmermann, U., Madland, M., Hildebrand-Habel, T., Hiorth, A., & Korsnes, R. (2013). *Mineralogy, geochemistry and isotope geochemistry to reveal fluid flow process in flooded chalk under long term test conditions for EOR purposes*. Paper presented at the XV International Clay Conference, Brasil.
- Blatt, H. T. R. J. (2001). *Petrology : igneous, sedimentary, and metamorphic*. New York, NY: Freeman.
- Block, A. a. S., B.B. (1967). Desorption and Exchange of Adsorbed Octadecylamine and Stearic Acid on Steel and Glass. J. Colloid Interface Sci, 514-518.
- Borre, M. K., & Coffey, B. P. (2014). *Multi-stage Cleaning for Routine Core Analysis in Heavy Oil-bearing Carbonates, Campos Basin, Brazil.* <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/170154-MS</u>

- Bovet, N., Yang, M., Javadi, M. S., & Stipp, S. L. S. (2015). Interaction of alcohols with the calcite surface. *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics*, *17*(5), 3490-3496. doi:10.1039/C4CP05235H
- Brady, P. V., Bryan, C. R., Morrow, N. R., & Fogden, A. (2015, 2015-10-01). *pH and the low salinity effect*, United States.
- Buckley, Liu, Y., & Monsterleet, S. (1998). Mechanisms of Wetting Alteration by Crude Oils. *SPE Journal*, 3(01), 54-61. doi:10.2118/37230-PA
- Buckley, J. (1995). Asphaltene Precipitation and Crude Oil Wetting. SPE Advanced Technology Series, 3(01), 53-59. doi:10.2118/26675-PA
- Buckley, J. (1995). Crude oils can alter rock wettabilitu with or without precipitation of asphaltenes. *SPE Advanced Technology Series, Vol. 3, No. 1*, 53-59.
- Buckley, J., & Liu, Y. (1998). Some mechanisms of crude oil/brine/solid interactions. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 20(3), 155-160. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0920-4105(98)00015-1</u>
- Buckley, J., & Morrow, N. R. (1990). Characterization of Crude Oil Wetting Behavior by Adhesion Tests. Paper presented at the SPE/DOE Enhanced Oil Recovery Symposium. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/20263-MS</u>
- Buckley, J., Takamura, K., & Morrow, N. R. (1989). Influence of Electrical Surface Charges on the Wetting Properties of Crude Oils. SPE Reservoir Engineering, 4(03), 332-340. doi:10.2118/16964-PA
- Castellan, G. W. (1979). *Physical Chemistry*. Reading, Massachusetts: Addison-Wesley Publishing Company.
- Clayfield, E. J., & Smith, A. L. (1970). Adhesion and detachment of solid colloidal particles in aqueous ionogenic surfactant media. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 4(5), 413-416. doi:10.1021/es60040a005
- Conley, F. R., & Burrows, D. B. (1956). A Centrifuge Core Cleaner. Journal of Petroleum Technology, 8(10), 61-62. doi:10.2118/742-G
- Crocker, M. E., & Marchin, L. M. (1988). Wettability and Adsorption Characteristics of Crude-Oil Asphaltene and Polar Fractions.

Journal of Petroleum Technology, *40*(04), 470-474. doi:10.2118/14885-pa

- Cuiec. (1975). *Restoration of the Natural State of Core Samples*. Paper presented at the Fall Meeting of the Society of Petroleum Engineers of AIME, Dallas, Texas. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/5634-MS</u>
- Cuiec. (1984). *Rock/Crude-Oil Interactions and Wettability: An Attempt To Understand Their Interrelation.* Paper presented at the SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition.
- Dean, E. W., & Stark, D. D. (1920). A Convenient Method for the Determination of Water in Petroleum and Other Organic Emulsions. Journal of Industrial & Engineering Chemistry, 12(5), 486-490. doi:10.1021/ie50125a025
- Donaldson, E., & Alam, W. (2008). *Wettability*. Houston: Gulf Publishing Company.
- Fabricius, I. L., & Borre, M. K. (2007). Stylolites, porosity, depositional texture, and silicates in chalk facies sediments: Ontong Java Plateau - Gorm and Tyra fields, North Sea. *Sedimentology*, 54, 183-205.
- Fan, T., & Buckley, J. S. (2007). Acid Number Measurements Revisited. *SPE Journal*, *12*(04), 496-500. doi:10.2118/99884-PA
- Fatemi, S. M., Sohrabi, M., Jamiolahmady, M., & Ireland, S. (2012). Recovery Mechanisms and Relative Permeability for Gas/Oil Systems at Near-miscible Conditions: Effects of Immobile Water Saturation, Wettability, Hysteresis and Permeability. Paper presented at the SPE Improved Oil Recovery Symposium.
- Fathi, S. J., Austad, T., & Strand, S. (2010). "Smart Water" as a Wettability Modifier in Chalk: The Effect of Salinity and Ionic Composition. *Energy & Fuels*, 24(4), 2514-2519. doi:10.1021/ef901304m
- Fathi, S. J., Austad, T., & Strand, S. (2011). Water-Based Enhanced Oil Recovery (EOR) by "Smart Water": Optimal Ionic Composition for EOR in Carbonates. *Energy & Fuels*, 25(11), 5173-5179. doi:10.1021/ef201019k
- Fernø, M. A., Grønsdal, R., Åsheim, J., Nyheim, A., Berge, M., & Graue, A. (2011). Use of Sulfate for Water Based Enhanced Oil Recovery during Spontaneous Imbibition in Chalk. *Energy & Fuels*, 25(4), 1697-1706. doi:10.1021/ef200136w

- Frykman, P. (2001). Spatial variability in petrophysical properties in Upper Maastrichtian chalk outcrops at Stevns Klint, Denmark. *Marine and Petroleum Geology*, 18(10), 1041-1062. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0264-8172(01)00043-5
- Gant, P. L., & Anderson, W. G. (1988). Core Cleaning for Restoration of Native Wettability. *SPE Formation Evaluation*, *3*(01), 131-138. doi:10.2118/14875-PA
- Gaudin, & Chang, A. M., and C.S. (1952). Adsorption on Quartz, From an Aqueous Solution, of Barium and Laurate Ions. *AIME-Mining Engineering*, 193-201.
- Gaudin, & Fuerstenau, D. (1955). Quartz flotation with Anionic Collectors. *AIME-Mining Engineering*, 66-72.
- Grist, D. M., Langley, G. O., & Neustadter, F. L. (1975). The Dependence of Water Permeability On Core Cleaning Methods In the Case of Some Sandstone Samples. *Journal of Canadian Petroleum Technology*, 14(02). doi:10.2118/75-02-07
- Guedez, A., Govindarajan, S., Lambert, D., Keyes, S., Patterson, R., Mickelson, W., Mitra, A., Aldin, S., Gokaraju, D., Thombare, A., & Aldin, M. (2020). An Integrated Geomechanical, Petrophysical and Petrographical Study to Evaluate the Efficacy of a Plug Cleaning Technique for Ultra-Low Permeability Rocks. Paper presented at the SPE/AAPG/SEG Unconventional Resources Technology Conference, Virtual. https://doi.org/10.15530/urtec-2020-2918
- Gupta, & Mohanty, K. K. (2008). *Wettability Alteration of Fractured Carbonate Reservoirs*. Paper presented at the SPE Symposium on Improved Oil Recovery. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/113407-MS</u>
- Gupta, Rai, C., Tinni, A., & Sondergeld, C. (2017). Impact of Different Cleaning Methods on Petrophysical Measurements. *Petrophysics* - *The SPWLA Journal of Formation Evaluation and Reservoir Description*, 58(06), 613-621.
- He, L., Lin, F., Li, X., Sui, H., & Xu, Z. (2015). Interfacial sciences in unconventional petroleum production: from fundamentals to applications. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 44(15), 5446-5494. doi:10.1039/C5CS00102A
- Hjuler, M. L., & Fabricius, I. L. (2009). Engineering properties of chalk related to diagenetic variations of Upper Cretaceous onshore and offshore chalk in the North Sea area. *Journal of Petroleum*

Science and Engineering, *68*(3), 151-170. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2009.06.005

- Hodder, K. J., & Nychka, J. A. (2019). Silane Treatment of 3D-Printed Sandstone Models for Improved Spontaneous Imbibition of Water. *Transport in Porous Media*, *129*(2), 583-598. doi:10.1007/s11242-018-1134-y
- Hopkins, P. (2017). Water-Based EOR and Initial Wettability in Carbonates. (Doctorate Ph.D. thesis). University of Stavanger, Stavanger. (329)
- Hopkins, P., Omland, I., Layti, F., Strand, S., Puntervold, T., & Austad, T. (2017). Crude Oil Quantity and Its Effect on Chalk Surface Wetting. *Energy & Fuels, 31*. doi:10.1021/acs.energyfuels.6b02914
- Hopkins, P., Walrond, K., Strand, S., Puntervold, T., Austad, T., & Wakwaya, A. (2016). Adsorption of Acidic Crude Oil Components onto Outcrop Chalk at Different Wetting Conditions during Both Dynamic Adsorption and Aging Processes. *Energy* & *Fuels*, 30(9), 7229-7235. doi:10.1021/acs.energyfuels.6b01583
- Hopkins, P. A., Strand, S., Puntervold, T., Austad, T., Dizaj, S. R., Waldeland, J. O., & Simonsen, J. C. (2016). The adsorption of polar components onto carbonate surfaces and the effect on wetting. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 147, 381-387. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2016.08.028</u>
- Jahanbakhsh, A., Shahverdi, H., & Sohrabi, M. (2016). Gas/Oil Relative Permeability Normalization: Effects of Permeability, Wettability, and Interfacial Tension. SPE Reservoir Evaluation & Engineering, 19(04), 673-682. doi:10.2118/170796-pa
- Jennings, H. Y., Jr. (1957). Effect of Laboratory Core Cleaning on Water-Oil Relative Permeability. https://doi.org/10.2118/897-G
- Jiang, Y., Lian, J., Jiang, Z., Li, Y., & Wen, C. (2020). Thermodynamic analysis on wetting states and wetting state transitions of rough surfaces. *Advances in Colloid and Interface Science*, 278, 102136. doi:10.1016/j.cis.2020.102136
- Johansen, R. T., & Dunning, H. N. (1959). Relative wetting tendencies of crude oils by the capillarimetric method. *Producers Monthly*, 23(11), 20-22.

- Kaminsky, R., & Radke, C. J. (1997). Asphaltenes, Water Films, and Wettability Reversal. *SPE Journal*, 2(04), 485-493. doi:10.2118/39087-pa
- Mamonov, Kvandal, O. A., Strand, S., & Puntervold, T. (2019).
 Adsorption of Polar Organic Components onto Sandstone Rock Minerals and Its Effect on Wettability and Enhanced Oil Recovery Potential by Smart Water. *Energy & Fuels*, 33(7), 5954-5960. doi:10.1021/acs.energyfuels.9b00101
- Mamonov, A. (2019). EOR by Smart Water Flooding in Sandstone Reservoirs-Effect of Mineralogy on Rock Wetting and Wettability Alteration. (Doctorate PhD Thesis). University of Stavanger, Stavanger. (468)
- Mamonov, A., Puntervold, T., Strand, S., Hetland, B., Andersen, Y., Wealth, A., & Nadeau, P. H. (2020). Contribution of Feldspar Minerals to pH during Smart Water EOR Processes in Sandstones. *Energy & Fuels*, 34(1), 55-64. doi:10.1021/acs.energyfuels.9b01064
- McCaffery, F. G. a. M., N. (1970). Contact Angle and Interfacial Tension Studies of Some Hydrocarbon-Water-Solid systems. J. Cdn. Pet. Tech., 185-196.
- Megawati, M., Madland, M. V., & Hiorth, A. (2015). Mechanical and physical behavior of high-porosity chalks exposed to chemical perturbation. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 133, 313-327. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2015.06.026</u>
- Morrow, N. R. (1990). *Interfacial Phenomena*. New Mexico: MARCEL DEKKER, INC.
- Newgord, C., Garcia, A. P., & Heidari, Z. (2019). A New Workflow for Joint Interpretation of Electrical Resistivity and NMR Measurements to Simultaneously Estimate Wettability and Water Saturation. Paper presented at the SPWLA 60th Annual Logging Symposium.
- Pinerez, I. D. (2017). Enhanced oil recovery from Sandstones and Carbonates with "Smart Water". (Doctor of Philosophy). University of Stavanger, Stavanger, Norway. Retrieved from <u>https://uis.brage.unit.no/uis-xmlui/handle/11250/2453447</u> (978-82-7644-708-8)
- Puntervold, T., Mamonov, A., Aghaeifar, Z., Frafjord, G. O., Moldestad, G. M., Strand, S., & Austad, T. (2018). Role of Kaolinite Clay

Minerals in Enhanced Oil Recovery by Low Salinity Water Injection. *Energy & Fuels*, 32(7), 7374-7382. doi:10.1021/acs.energyfuels.8b00790

- Puntervold, T., Mamonov, A., Piñerez Torrijos, I. D., & Strand, S. (2021). Adsorption of Crude Oil Components onto Carbonate and Sandstone Outcrop Rocks and Its Effect on Wettability. *Energy & Fuels*. doi:10.1021/acs.energyfuels.0c03003
- Puntervold, T., Strand, S., & Austad, T. (2007). Water flooding of carbonate reservoirs: effects of a model base and natural crude oil bases on chalk wettability. *Energy & Fuels*, 21(3), 1606-1616. doi:10.1021/ef060624b
- Rao, D. N. (1999). Wettability Effects in Thermal Recovery Operations. SPE Reservoir Evaluation & Engineering, 2(05), 420-430. doi:10.2118/57897-PA
- RezaeiDoust, A. (2011). Low Salinity Water Flooding in Sandstone Reservoirs-A Chemical Wettability Alteration Mechanism. Stavanger: University of Stavanger.
- RezaeiDoust, A., Puntervold, T., & Austad, T. (2011). Chemical Verification of the EOR Mechanism by Using Low Saline/Smart Water in Sandstone. *Energy & Fuels*, 25(5), 2151-2162. doi:10.1021/ef200215y
- Røgen, B., & Fabricius, I. L. (2002). Influence of clay and silica on permeability and capillary entry pressure of chalk reservoirs in the North Sea. *Petroleum Geoscience*, 8(3), 287-293.
- Schlumberger. (1998, 2022). Oilfield Glossary. Retrieved from https://glossary.oilfield.slb.com/
- Shariatpanahi, F., Strand, S., Austad, T., & Aksulu, H. (2012).
 Wettability Restoration of Limestone Cores Using Core Material From the Aqueous Zone. *Petroleum Science and Technology* -*PET* SCI TECHNOL, 30, 1082-1090. doi:10.1080/10916466.2011.569829
- Skovbjerg, L. L., Hassenkam, T., Makovicky, E., Hem, C. P., Yang, M., Bovet, N., & Stipp, S. L. S. (2012). Nano sized clay detected on chalk particle surfaces. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 99, 57-70. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gca.2012.05.037</u>
- Skovbjerg, L. L., Okhrimenko, D. V., Khoo, J., Dalby, K. N., Hassenkam, T., Makovicky, E., & Stipp, S. L. S. (2013). Preferential Adsorption of Hydrocarbons to Nanometer-Sized

Clay on Chalk Particle Surfaces. *Energy & Fuels*, 27(7), 3642-3652. doi:10.1021/ef301832b

- Speight, J. G. (1999). *The Chemistry and Technology of Petroleum*: CRC Press.
- Springer, N., Korsbech, U., & Aage, H. K. (2003). Resistivity index measurement without the porous plate: A desaturation technique based on evaporation produces uniform water saturation profiles and more reliable results for tight North Sea chalk. Paper presented at the Paper presented at the International Symposium of the Society of Core Analysts Pau, France.
- Standnes, D. C., & Austad, T. (2000). Wettability alteration in chalk. 1. Preparation of core material and oil properties. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 28(3), 111-121. Retrieved from <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0920-4105(00)00083-8</u>
- Standnes, D. C., & Austad, T. (2003). Wettability alteration in carbonates: Interaction between cationic surfactant and carboxylates as a key factor in wettability alteration from oil-wet to water-wet conditions. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 216*(1), 243-259. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0927-7757(02)00580-0
- Strand. (2005). *Wettability alteration in chalk*. Stavanger: University of Stavanger.
- Strand, & Puntervold, T. (2019). *Recent Updates on Smart Water EOR in Limestone*. Paper presented at the Offshore Technology Conference Brasil. <u>https://doi.org/10.4043/29732-MS</u>
- Strand, Standnes, D. C., & Austad, T. (2006). New wettability test for chalk based on chromatographic separation of SCN⁻ and SO₄²⁻. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 52, 187-197. doi:10.1016/j.petrol.2006.03.021
- Strand, S., Hjuler, M. L., Torsvik, R., Pedersen, J. I., Madland, M. V., & Austad, T. (2007). Wettability of chalk: impact of silica, clay content and mechanical properties. *Petroleum Geoscience*, 13(1), 69. doi:10.1144/1354-079305-696
- Stumm, W. a. M., J.J. (1970). *Aquatic Chemistry*. New York City: J. Wiley and Sons.
- Wang, W., & Gupta, A. (1995). Investigation of the Effect of Temperature and Pressure on Wettability Using Modified Pendant Drop Method. Paper presented at the SPE Annual

TechnicalConferenceandExhibition.https://doi.org/10.2118/30544-MS

Wikipedia. (2001). Wikipedia. Retrieved from <u>https://www.wikipedia.org/</u>

- Xie, Q., Ma, D., Wu, J., Liu, Q., Jia, N., & Luo, M. (2015). Low Salinity Waterflooding in Low Permeability Sandstone: Coreflood Experiments and Interpretation by Thermodynamics and Simulation. Paper presented at the SPE Asia Pacific Enhanced Oil Recovery Conference. <u>https://doi.org/10.2118/174592-MS</u>
- Zhang, & Austad, T. (2005). *The relative effects of acid number and temperature on chalk wettability*. Paper presented at the Paper SPE 92999 presented at the SPE International Symposium on Oilfield Chemistry, Houston, TX, USA. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2523/92999-ms</u>
- Zhang, Tweheyo, M. T., & Austad, T. (2007). Wettability alteration and improved oil recovery by spontaneous imbibition of seawater into chalk: Impact of the potential determining ions Ca2+, Mg2+, and SO42-. Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 301(1), 199-208. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfa.2006.12.058

Paper I

Reproducing Wettability in Sandstone Reservoir Core Material in Laboratory Core Restorations

P. Aslanidis, S. Strand, T. Puntervold, I. D. Piñerez T.

Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering, Volume 208, Part C, January 2022, 109531

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/petrol



Reproducing wettability in sandstone reservoir core material in laboratory core restorations

Panagiotis Aslanidis^{*}, Skule Strand, Ivan D. Pinerez Torrijos, Tina Puntervold

The National IOR Centre of Norway, University of Stavanger, 4036, Stavanger, Norway

ARTICLE INFO	A B S T R A C T				
Keywords: Core analysis Core restoration Core cleaning Smart water EOR Wettability	Replicating initial reservoir wettability conditions in core restoration by core cleaning and fluid restoration in the laboratory is of great importance. There are several core cleaning and restoration protocols used in the oil industry and academia that include the usage of different equipment, techniques, and materials. Strong solvents used in core cleaning can remove material that is part of the rock phase leading to more water–wet behavior. Large volumes of crude oil exposure in core restorations can result in high adsorption of polar organic components onto the mineral surfaces giving less water–wet behavior. Therefore, sufficient core cleaning should be targeted, involving no physical damage to the solid rock phase and effective crude oil exposure securing realistic water saturations, avoiding overexposure of crude oil. The objective of this study was to establish an optimum core restoration process in terms of cleaning solvents and the amount of crude oil exposure, to re-establish the same core wettability from one core restoration to the next. Seven sandstone cores from a reservoir on the Norwegian Continental Shelf underwent a series of core restorations. Two different core cleaning procedures were used, in which mild (kerosene/heptane) and strong (toluene/methanol) solvents were involved, and furthermore, the cores were exposed to various volumes of crude oil. Spontaneous imbibition experiments showed that mild core cleaning in combination with 5 pore volumes or more crude oil exposure rendered the cores less water-wet in successive core restorations. More rigorous cleaning with 5 pore volumes of crude oil exposure rendered the cores more water-wet in successive core restorations. From spontaneous imbibition results it was concluded that an optimum core restoration procedure involving mild cleaning and only 1 pore volume of crude oil exposure successfully reproduced core wettability in successive experiments.				

1. Introduction

Predictions of reservoir performance are usually based on laboratory measurements of core properties (Jennings, 1957). Capillary forces during waterflooding are related to the wettability of rock surfaces, and reservoir wettability is recognized to be a critical issue in many types of oil recovery processes (Morrow et al., 1994). To have trustworthy results, it is important to mimic and reproduce the initial core wettability in laboratory experiments.

Laboratory restoration of preserved reservoir cores consists of two main operations, core cleaning and fluid restoration, both dependent on each other and affecting the final core wettability. There are various core cleaning strategies mentioned in the literature regarding hydrocarbons and brines extraction (Borre and Coffey, 2014; Conley and

Burrows, 1956; Cuiec, 1975; Gant and Anderson, 1988; Grist et al., 1975; Guedez et al., 2020; Gupta et al., 2017; Jennings, 1957). Some solvents used for cleaning purposes are listed in Table 1 (Institute, 1998). In addition, several techniques and experimental assemblies have been suggested in the past decades, like cleaning by centrifuge (Conley and Burrows, 1956), distillation extraction method (Dean and Stark, 1920). Since there is a large variety of crude oil-brine-rock (COBR) systems, a different approach could be used in every case. Many solvents are not complete solvents for all types of oils and a clean extract may reflect oil solubility and not complete extraction (Institute, 1998).

Gant and Anderson (1988) did an extended investigation of the solubilization efficiency of several solvents (toluene, methanol, 2-butoxyethanol etc.) in a Dean-Stark apparatus on sandstone and dolomite cores after these had been contaminated with surfactants from

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2021.109531

Received 7 May 2021; Received in revised form 8 September 2021; Accepted 17 September 2021 Available online 20 September 2021

0920-4105/© 2021 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

^{*} Corresponding author. E-mail address: panagaslanidis@gmail.com (P. Aslanidis).

Table 1

Selected solvents and their use.

Solvents	Boiling Point, $^\circ\mathrm{C}$	Solubilizing
Acetone	56.5	oil, water, salt
Chloroform/methanol azeotrope (65/35)	53.5	oil, water, salt
Cyclohexane	81.4	oil
Ethylene Chloride	83.5	oil, limited water
Hexane	49.7-68.7	oil
Methanol	64.7	water, salt
Methylene chloride	40.1	oil, limited water
Naphtha	160.0	oil
Tetrachloroethylene	121.0	oil
Tetrahydrofuran	65.0	oil, water, salt
Toluene	110.6	oil
Trichloroethylene	87.0	oil, limited water
Xylene	138.0–144.4	oil

invert-oil-emulsion drilling muds. The results of this study showed that a 50/50 toluene/methanol mixture removed the surfactants slightly more efficiently than the three-step method involving three Dean-Stark extractions using different solvents every time. On the other hand, extraction toluene, Dean-Stark with 2-butoxyethanol, 2-methoxytetrahydrofuran and 1, 1, 1-trichloroethane gave unsatisfactory results. Guedez et al. (2020) investigated the effect of the huff-and-puff supercritical CO2-based cleaning process on ultra-low permeable rocks. According to the outcome of that study, no precipitation of minerals and minimal dissolution of minerals occurred after mineralogy tests and scanning electron microscope (SEM) images. Jennings (1957) presented results of toluene extraction procedures on water-oil relative permeability. In that study it was observed that toluene significantly increased the permeability of the core material. In addition, it was stated that the analysed effluents showed removal of mostly paraffinic and aromatic hydrocarbons. Gupta et al. (2017) used high-pressure extractor and Soxhlet techniques to observe the effect of cleaning methods on petrophysical properties. It was concluded that the Soxhlet apparatus was more efficient due to the low solvent consumption compared to a high-pressure extractor. Furthermore, a higher cleaning efficiency of toluene, dichloromethane and chloroform was observed compared to that of n-heptane. Borre and Coffey (2014) used a new multi-step core cleaning procedure on carbonate core material that included two cycles of Soxhlet cleaning with pentane and methyl azeotrope with drying in-between. This process included an initial Soxhlet cleaning with pentane and drying at 60 °C. Subsequently, a second Soxhlet cleaning took place, but this time with methyl azeotrope for removing the remaining heavy oil and salts. Cuiec (1975) reported reproducible results in plugs that had been restored once, in spontaneous imbibition (SI) and forced displacement experiments using chloroform, ethanol, pyridine and hydrogen peroxide as cleaning agents as well as hydrochloric and acetic acids. He reported that the usage of toluene and chloroform regarding crude oil pollution was not recommended after observing that polluted samples could not be restored to initial conditions even after large amounts of solvents used. Grist et al. (1975) observed that toluene extraction did not affect the wettability as long as the process was not followed by methanol extraction and brine soaking. It was suggested that extraction with toluene/methanol or with chloroform/methanol especially for asphaltic crude oils was the optimum solution, since according to their remarks, methanol removes polar organic components and precipitated salts. From the core cleaning literature review, the main aim has been to bring the core back to water-wet conditions. During these operations strong solvents have been proposed which also affect bitumenic and salt precipitations that are part of the solid phase. These solid pore surface materials are not easily restored during the core and fluid restoration process.

The fluid restoration process, including establishing a correct water saturation with formation water (FW) and initial oil saturation by reservoir crude oil exposure, is an important part of the total wettability restoration process performed on cores in the laboratory. The importance of the polar organic components (POC) present in crude oils and their effect on surface wettability is well-known (Buckley and Morrow, 1990; Standnes and Austad, 2003). Previous experimental studies on outcrop sandstone cores have shown that polar organic bases present in crude oil instantly adsorbed onto the mineral surface at a larger extent than the polar organic acids, significantly affecting the core wettability (Mamonov et al., 2019). It was also observed that increased crude oil exposure further reduced the water wetness of the core. Similar observations have been confirmed on outcrop chalk, where increased crude oil exposure reduced the water wetness of chalk cores (Hopkins et al., 2016). However, in chalk it is the polar organic acids that have highest affinity for the calcite surfaces and that dictate the wettability (Puntervold et al., 2021).

In a recent core restoration study on chalk, it was observed that wettability in multiple restorations could be reproduced if the core was mildly cleaned with kerosene/heptane in front of a new fluid restoration (Piñerez et al., 2020), after initial water saturation (S_{wi}) of $S_{wi} = 0.1$ was established by the desiccator technique (Springer et al., 2003). The amount of crude oil exposure, in pore volumes (PV), needed to reproduce the wettability was limited to $(1-S_{wi})$ PV (Piñerez et al., 2020). Larger volumes of crude oil gave significantly less water-wet cores.

The main objective of this study was to develop an optimum restoration process for reservoir sandstone cores to restore reproducible core wettability from one core restoration to the next. Both optimized solvent cleaning and crude oil exposure have been taken into account in a new, proposed cleaning and fluid restoration strategy for restoring the initial wettability of preserved reservoir sandstone core samples. In the present study, a Hassler core holder was used for flooding various solvents through the core in the core cleaning process. Flooding solvents through a core mounted in a Hassler core holder allows for easy control of the amounts of solvents used. Two distinctly different core cleaning solvent systems were applied involving mild (kerosene/heptane) and strong (toluene/methanol) solvents. The first solvent system aims to preserve wettability, while the latter consists of standard core cleaning solvents used by the industry to clean a core to completely water-wet conditions before restoring wettability. In every fluid restoration process $S_{wi} = 0.2$ was established by the desiccator technique (Springer et al., 2003), before the core was exposed to various PVs of crude oil (1 PV, 5PV or 11PV). After aging, the restored core wettability was evaluated by spontaneous imbibition oil recovery tests.

2. Experimental

2.1. Materials

2.1.1. Core material

Preserved reservoir sandstone cores were retrieved from two wells on the Varg field on the Norwegian Continental Shelf (NCS). The cores from the 9 S well were obtained from the upper sequence at depths less than 3479.50 m while the cores from the A5T2 well were taken from the lower sequence, at depths over 3493.75 m. Mineralogical composition at the respective depths was provided by the operating company and the mineralogical composition in wt% (weight per cent) representative of the cores used from each well is given in Table 2. The physical core properties are given in Table 3. Note that the permeability was measured at residual oil saturation (S_{or}) during the low salinity (LS) brine flooding in the core cleaning process (described later). Permeability varied between 2 and 22 mD in the A5T2 cores and between 5 and 17 mD in the 9 S cores. Pore size distributions of core plugs from the 9 S and A5T2 wells were determined by mercury injection at Stratum Reservoir, and the results are shown in Fig. 1.

2.1.2. Brines

The three brines used for the experiments are synthetic and were prepared in the laboratory; Varg formation water (FW) had total dissolved solids (TDS) or salinity of 201,600 ppm (mg/L), the low salinity

Table 2

Core mineralogy by XRD.

Minerals	Cores	
	P1–P2	P5-P10
Well	9 S	A5T2
Illite + Mica (wt%)	15.4	9.5
Kaolinite (wt%)	1.1	1.1
Chlorite/Smectite (wt%)	0.1	0
Chlorite (wt%)	2.4	3.4
Quartz (wt%)	62.3	67.6
K Feldspar (wt%)	4.5	5.6
Plagioclase (wt%)	8.4	8.7
Calcite (wt%)	0	0.6
Dolomite (wt%)	3.9	2.8
Siderite (wt%)	1.1	0
Pyrite (wt%)	0.8	0.8
Total (wt%)	100	100

brine (LS) consisted of 1000 ppm NaCl, and a fivefold diluted Varg FW (d_5FW) was used in the establishment of S_{wi} using the desiccator technique (described later). Brine compositions and properties are given in Table 4.

2.1.3. Crude oil

Stabilized stock tank oil from the Varg field, Oil V, was used in the oil recovery tests. The acid number (AN) and base number (BN) were analysed by potentiometric titration according to the procedures described by Fan and Buckley (2007), procedures that are modified from the standard methods ASTM664–89 and ASTM2896–88 for AN and BN measurements, respectively. Oil V density was measured at ambient conditions using an Anton Paar densitometer, and viscosity at 23 and

Table 3

Core properties.

Core	P1	P2	P5	P6	P7	Р9	P10
Well	9 S		A5T2				
Depth, m	3404.83	3404.88	3507.82	3507.87	3507.92	3528.82	3528.87
Cleaning	Kerosene/Heptane	Toluene/Methanol	Kerosene/He	ptane			Toluene Methanol
Length (cm)	8.85	8.18	7.39	7.53	6.75	8.22	8.18
Diameter (cm)	3.80	3.80	3.8	3.8	3.8	3.80	3.80
Bulk volume (cm ³)	100.4	92.8	83.53	85.01	76.15	93.2	92.8
Dry weight (g)	203.52	188.47	168.18	171.82	152.2	179.65	167.62
PV (ml)	21.27	21.40	17.82	18.01	17.18	21.58	24.97
Porosity (%)	21.2	23.1	21.3	21.2	22.6	23.2	26.9
Permeability (md)	11.3	10.9	4.5	3.1	11.1	3.5	22.4



 $60\ ^\circ C$ was measured by an Anton Paar MCR 302 rheometer. The Oil V properties are presented in Table 5.

2.1.4. Other chemicals

In the two core cleaning procedures, several chemical solvents purchased from Merck laboratories were used; low aromatic kerosene,

Table 4 Brine properties

· · · · · · · · ·			
Ions	LS (mM)	FW (mM)	d ₅ FW (mM)
Na ⁺	17.1	2086.0	417.2
K ⁺	-	51.0	10.2
Ca ²⁺	-	536.0	107.2
Mg ²⁺	-	144.0	28.8
Cl ⁻	17.1	3526.0	705.2
Ba ²⁺	-	7.0	1.4
Sr ²⁺	-	8.0	1.6
Density (g/cm ³)	0.999	1.139	1.027
Bulk pH	5.7	5.9	5.8
Viscosity (cP)	0.95	1.45	1.01
TDS (mg/L)	1000	201,600	40,300

Tab	le	5	
Tab	Ie	5	

Crude oil properties.

	Oil V
AN (mgKOH/g)	0.13
BN (mgKOH/g)	1.25
Viscosity at 60 °C (cP)	4.3
Viscosity at 23 °C (cP)	11.3
Density at 23 °C (g/cm ³)	0.845

Fig. 1. Pore size distributions of the core plugs P1 (left) retrieved from the 9 S well and P9 (right) retrieved from the A5-T2 well.

n-heptane (hereafter referred to as heptane) both having reduced solubilization of large oil components, toluene, which is a strong solvent that efficiently removes heavy oil components and methanol, which can dissolve both polar oil components and water.

2.2. Core cleaning

In this study, two different approaches were used to clean the core material: (1) kerosene/heptane and (2) toluene/methanol. After cleaning with the various chemical solvents, 1000 ppm NaCl (LS) brine was injected to displace heptane or methanol while at the same time preventing any clay swelling. The cores were cleaned in a Hassler core holder at room temperature with a confining pressure of 20 bars. The solvents were injected at a flooding rate of 0.1 ml/min ΔP was monitored during each cleaning process to detect if any changes in core permeability had occurred between restorations. During the core cleaning process effluent samples were collected for visual inspection of the core's cleaned state (Institute, 1998). The core flooding setup for solvent cleaning can be seen in Fig. 2.

Cleaning with kerosene/heptane is an in-house procedure developed for maintaining the original wettability of the core by removing the mobile oil phase while minimizing desorption of adsorbed organic material at the rock surface (Shariatpanahi et al., 2012). Previous work on outcrop chalk has shown that approximately 75% of the adsorbed organic material remained adsorbed after the kerosene/heptane cleaning procedure (Hopkins et al., 2016). Cleaning by toluene/methanol, on the other hand, aims to clean the core to a very water–wet state by removing adsorbed organic material. Wettability is afterwards restored by crude oil exposure and subsequent aging.

2.2.1. Cleaning using kerosene/heptane

Low–aromatic kerosene is used to remove the mobile oil phase and non–polar oil constituents, whereas heptane displaces the kerosene fraction. LS brine is injected to displace the FW and any easily dissolvable salts and at the same time reduce the potential of clay swelling. The cores P1, P5, P6, P7 and P9 were initially flushed with approximately 10 PV of kerosene until a visually clear effluent was collected (Institute, 1998), followed by 5 PV of heptane and 10 PV of LS brine.

2.2.2. Cleaning using toluene/methanol

Toluene/methanol cleaning is a well-known method, which, in contrast to kerosene/heptane cleaning, tends to remove most of the material that contribute to the natural wettability of the rock. Toluene removes the oil phase, including polar organic components, asphaltenes and bitumenic precipitates, while methanol dissolves polar compounds, water and precipitated salts. The cores P2 and P10 were flooded with 5 PV of toluene followed by 5 PV of methanol, after which the cycle was repeated. Finally, the cleaning process was completed after injecting 10



Fig. 2. Solvent cleaning setup.

PV of LS brine.

2.3. Core fluid restoration

2.3.1. Establishing initial water saturation, Swi

After the core cleaning procedure described above, the cores were dried at 90 °C, until constant weight, S_{wi} was established using the desiccator procedure described by (Springer et al., 2003). The dried cores were vacuum–saturated with fivefold diluted FW (d_5 FW). A desiccator was used to gradually dry the cores to the predetermined weight corresponding to 20% S_{wi} . Finally, the cores were stored for 3 days to ensure even brine distribution inside the core. Note that the residual brine inside the core had attained its original FW composition after desiccation.

2.3.2. Crude oil exposure and aging

The Varg cores were exposed to various amounts of Oil V; 1 PV (more accurately $(1-S_{wi})PV$), 5 PV or 11 PV. The cores with $S_{wi} = 0.2$ were first shortly evacuated above water vapor pressure for less than 10 min in the Hassler core holder prior to oil exposure. The cores exposed to only 1 PV of Oil V were vacuum-saturated from both sides, and oil was injected at a rate of 0.5 ml/min to quickly fill the void space after evacuation. The cores exposed to 5 PV were vacuum-saturated with oil, and then flooded with 2 PV oil in both directions at a rate of 0.1 ml/min. The core exposed to 11 PV oil was first vacuum-saturated, before 5 PV oil was flooded in each direction at a rate of 0.1 ml/min. All oil floods were performed at 50 °C until the pressure reached 5 bar. To finish the oil exposure process, the cores were placed in aging cells surrounded by Oil V for 14 days at 60 °C. No pressure support was applied during aging, but a small increase in pressure inside the aging cell due to thermal expansion inside the aging cell is to be expected.

2.4. Oil recovery by spontaneous imbibition

A spontaneous imbibition (SI) oil recovery test is a method for evaluating the core wettability established after COBR interactions. The restored core is submerged in water or oil in an Amott cell (Amott, 1959). If the fluid that surrounds the core is the wetting phase of the system, then the surrounding fluid imbibes into the pores of the core and the mobile in-situ fluid is displaced. Fluid imbibition is monitored with time, by collecting the displaced fluid in a graded burette. Evaluation of wettability with this method can be done by observing the ultimate recovery of the fluid displaced and the rate of imbibition of the wetting phase.

After aging, the core containing $S_{wi} = 0.20$ and Oil V was placed on top of marble balls inside the Amott imbibition cell and surrounded by the imbibition brine. Since the FW is already in chemical equilibrium with the COBR–system, it was used as imbibing fluid, securing no chemically–induced wettability alteration in the imbibition process. The produced crude oil was collected in a graded burette, and the recovery in %OOIP (oil originally in place), was determined versus time of imbibition.

3. Results and discussion

The purpose of this study was to evaluate the wettability of reservoir sandstone cores restored using two different core cleaning procedures. Additionally, the aim was to find the optimum restoration process after which a reproducible wettability could be obtained. To achieve this, two distinctly different core cleaning methods were applied using kerosene/heptane and toluene/methanol. Furthermore, the effect of crude oil exposure in two differently cleaned sandstone rock systems was evaluated with respect to the core wettability generated.

When water wet-core material is exposed to crude oil, charged POC may adsorb onto oppositely charged mineral pore surfaces. Increased amount of crude oil exposure during a core restoration process, or in successive core restorations could increase the accumulation of these surface–active components, and result in a less water-wet behavior of the restored core, observable in spontaneous imbibition tests.

Strong solvents are used by the industry to achieve water-wet cores during core cleaning prior to fluid restoration. The solvents solubilize the residual oil together with POC attached to the mineral surfaces, but they also interact with the solid part of the rock surface, especially asphalts/bitumen and salt minerals. Mild core cleaning solvents will remove the residual oil but reduce the removal of POC, solid organics and salts that belong to the rock phase.

A combination of a mild but effective cleaning method, with sufficient crude oil exposure to fill the pores without creating a less water--wet surface is presented at this study. All cleaning processes described have been performed by core flooding through a Hassler core holder. No Soxhlet extraction has been used in any of the experiments.

3.1. Effect of crude oil exposure on core wettability

The effect of crude oil exposure on core wettability was investigated on reservoir cores after successive core restorations. Oil recovery by spontaneous imbibition (SI) was performed on the restored cores using FW as imbibing fluid. FW is already in equilibrium with the crude oil and rock surface and will therefore not generate any wettability alteration in the imbibition process. The spontaneous imbibition rate and ultimate recovery plateau will therefore indicate the core wettability (Anderson, 1986).

After a mild cleaning with kerosene/heptane and LS brine to remove easily dissolvable salts, fluid restoration was performed on the dried core P6 by establishing $S_{wi} = 0.2$ with FW using desiccator as described above. Then the core was exposed to 11 PV with Oil V before aging for 2 weeks at 60 °C. SI of FW at 60 °C was performed to evaluate the mobilization of oil by positive capillary forces after the first core restoration (R1). When oil production ceased, core cleaning, fluid restoration, aging and spontaneous imbibition were repeated in a second core restoration process (R2), and the results of both tests are presented in Fig. 3.

After the first restoration (R1) with 11 PV of Oil V exposure, core P6–R1 behaved quite water-wet reaching 21 %OOIP after 3 days and an ultimate recovery of 30 %OOIP after 22 days. However, after the second core restoration, core P6–R2 behaved significantly less water-wet. Only 11 %OOIP was produced after 3 days and reaching the ultimate recovery plateau of 21 %OOIP after 19 days. This represents a reduction of 30% in water-wetness compared to P6–R1. Core P6–R1 had been exposed to 11 PV of Oil V and produced 30 %OOIP, whereas after the second restoration the core P6–R2 had been exposed to a total of 22 PV of Oil V and



Fig. 3. Oil recovery by spontaneous imbibition at 60 $^{\circ}$ C from core P6, which was cleaned with kerosene/heptane and exposed to 11 PV of crude oil in both restorations R1 and R2.

produced only 21 %OOIP. This dramatic difference indicates that the injected volume of Oil V into core P6 affected the core wettability and needs to be considered when optimized core restoration procedures are designed for reservoir sandstone cores. The results also confirmed that mild core cleaning with kerosene/heptane was not efficient in removing POC attached to mineral surfaces, resulting in increased POC accumulation on pore surfaces and reduced water wetness of core P6 during successive core restorations. It should, however, be emphasized that the mild core cleaning procedure aims to preserve wettability by reduced removal of adsorbed POC from the rock surface. Mild core cleaning on outcrop chalk has shown that approximately 75% of the adsorbed POC remained adsorbed on the outcrop chalk surface after kerosene/heptane cleaning (Hopkins et al., 2017). The results on reservoir sandstone cores confirm trends observed previously in outcrop chalk (Piñerez et al., 2020), that increased crude oil exposure after mild core cleaning and restoration leads to a less water-wet core. Thus, the crude oil amount needs to be optimized for establishing a reproducible wettability.

3.2. Effect of kerosene/heptane cleaning solvents on core wettability

The main aim of using mild solvents kerosene and heptane in the restoration process, is preserving wettability. To examine the effect of mild core cleaning on core wettability in multiple restorations in further detail, the reservoir cores P9 and P1, originating from two different wells, were restored four times. In these experiments the amount of Oil V injected into the cores during each fluid restoration process was reduced to 5 PV. SI experiments were performed at 60 °C, using FW as the imbibing fluid, to evaluate core wettability after every cleaning and restoration process. As seen in Fig. 4, both cores P9 and P1 behaved quite water-wet after the first core restoration (R1).

Core P9 reached an ultimate recovery of 43 %OOIP after 30 days, while P1 reached an ultimate recovery of 34 %OOIP after 7 days. The quite water-wet behavior of cores P9 and P1 agree with that observed for core P6, which was restored with 11 PV of Oil V, Fig. 3. In the following restorations for core P9, Fig. 4 (left), the ultimate oil recoveries systematically declined, P9–R2 reached an ultimate recovery of 29 %OOIP, P9–R3 declined to 24 %OOIP, and P9–R4 only reached 17 %OOIP. Core P1 behaved similarly, Fig. 4 (right), with the oil recovery declining from 33 %OOIP in P1-R1 to 25 %OOIP in P1–R3, and to 14 %OOIP in P1–R4. The SI experiment after R2 failed and is therefore omitted.

The aim of the kerosene/heptane approach is to preserve the initial wettability of the cores during cleaning processes. The results on core P9 and P1 confirm this. The combination of mild core cleaning and only 5 PV of Oil V exposure during fluid restoration gave significantly less water-wet cores in successive core restorations and is thus not an optimal solution for reproducing core wettability in successive core experiments. 5 PV of Oil V exposure was too extensive, and increased accumulation of POC and reduced water wetness was observed. The question then asked was: could more rigorous cleaning solvents minimize changes in core wettability in successive core restorations?

3.3. Effect of toluene/methanol cleaning solvents on core wettability

Since the mild cleaning approach seemed to accumulate adsorbed POC and did not give reproducible results, a more rigorous method was selected. Toluene and methanol were used as cleaning agents in cores P10 and P2. The cores were restored three times each, and the amount of Oil V exposure remained the same at 5 PV in every fluid restoration. The SI results after each core restoration are shown in Fig. 5.

The ultimate oil recovery for P10–R1 was 40 %OOIP and increased to 43 %OOIP for P10–R2 and reached an ultimate recovery plateau of 45 % OOIP after P10–R3. The same behavior was also observed for P2. The ultimate oil recovery plateaus increased from 27 %OOIP to 33 %OOIP and 34 %OOIP in restorations R1, R2 and R3 respectively.

In the previous section it was seen that 5 PV Oil V exposure increased adsorption of POC and decreased water wetness after mild core cleaning.



Fig. 4. Spontaneous imbibition of FW at 60 °C in the cores P9 (left) and P1 (right) cleaned with kerosene and heptane and exposed to 5 PV of crude oil.



Fig. 5. Spontaneous imbibition of FW at 60 °C in the cores P10 (left) and P2 (right) cleaned with toluene and methanol and exposed to 5 PV of crude oil in every restoration.

Here the results show that the strong cleaning solvents used during fluid restorations promoted a gradual *increase* in the water wetness of the cores in successive core restorations. These results confirm efficient removal of adsorbed POC during core cleaning by toluene/methanol. Toluene/methanol potentially also removed components attached to the mineral surfaces controlling the total core wettability, such as bitumenic or salt precipitates that belong to the rock phase. These components cannot be easily and correctly restored in the cores during core restoration processes. However, these results can also indicate that the cores were not sufficiently cleaned before the first restoration, or that toluene/ methanol is not able to remove all adsorbed POC from the reservoir sandstone surface.

3.4. Reproducing wettability in sandstone reservoir cores

The conclusions from the above attempts of reproducing the reservoir sandstone core wettability were that using mild solvents was not adequate to remove the POC adsorbed after 5 PV of Oil V exposure, but that a more rigorous approach removed more POC components after each restoration. Both methods proved to not be the best practice for restoring the core to its previous conditions. The challenge with core restoration after a rigorous approach with toluene/methanol is not knowing how many PVs of crude oil the core should be exposed to obtain a representative core wettability. As shown in Figs. 3 and 4, the extent of crude oil exposure affects the resulting wettability.

The better approach could be to maintain most of the POC controlling the initial core wettability in the preserved core, as done in the kerosene/heptane approach in Fig. 4, and afterwards limit the crude oil exposure in the fluid restoration process. This has been addressed in the final part of this work. The preserved reservoir cores P5 and P7 were cleaned by the mild cleaning solvents kerosene and heptane. Low aromatic kerosene solubilizes residual oil but not bitumenic solids. Heptane easily removes kerosene but will not dissolve salts as does methanol. After mild cleaning, core P5 and P7 were only exposed to 1 PV with Oil V, or $(1-S_{wi})PV$ to be more precise, since S_{wi} was already established in the cores.

As seen from Fig. 6 (left), SI of core P7 reached ultimate oil recovery plateaus of 27 and 28 %OOIP in the first (R1) and second (R2) restorations respectively, at very similar imbibition rates, confirming a very close reproduction of core wettability.

In Fig. 6 (right), a successful reproduction of wettability was achieved after restorations R1 and R2 for core P5 with the exact same amount of oil produced, 29 %OOIP, and with similar imbibition rates. In restoration R3, the core P5 had been exposed to a total of 3 PV of Oil V, which might explain the observed decrease in the rate of imbibition. Nonetheless, the same ultimate oil recovery of 29 %OOIP was reached, indicating that no significant changes in the core wettability had taken place.

3.5. Evaluation of reservoir wettability

Smart Water or low salinity EOR are described as results of wettability alteration toward more water-wet conditions (Aghaeifar et al., 2015; Mamonov et al., 2019; Puntervold et al., 2021). To predict the EOR-potential by either method for a given reservoir, a reliable estimate of the reservoir wettability is needed. For strongly water-wet reservoirs the EOR-potential by wettability alteration will be very low and Smart Water or low salinity water injection are not recommended (Aghaeifar et al., 2015).

Reliable estimates of the reservoir wettability can be done through accurate core experiments in the laboratory. Improved laboratory procedures are needed, involving optimized cleaning procedures for



Fig. 6. Spontaneous imbibition at 60 °C of the cores P7 (left) exposed to and P5 (right) cleaned with kerosene and heptane and exposed to 1 PV of crude oil.

preserved reservoir cores, and reliable fluid restoration protocols in front of oil recovery tests, capillary pressure, and relative permeability measurements. This addresses the importance of this work.

In Fig. 7, the oil recovery results from the SI experiments performed after the first core restorations are compared. It can be observed that all cores clearly were on the water-wet side, giving ultimate recovery plateaus from 27 %OOIP to 45 %OOIP. Differences in the imbibition rates were also observed, with the various cores reaching recovery plateaus after 7–30 days of imbibition.

Even "sister" cores drilled from the same seal peel behaved differently. This can be explained by effects of heterogeneity in the mineralogy and pore size distribution, supported by Fig. 1, in which the pore throat radii of the sandstone core material vary significantly and non-uniformly from approximately 50 nm to 10 μ m.

As seen in this work, a less water-wet state could be expected when mild solvents (kerosene/heptane) are used in combination with a large volume of crude oil exposure during fluid restorations. When more rigorous solvents (toluene/methanol) are applied, slightly more waterwet cores are expected even at large oil volume exposure. All SI results are summarized in Table 6.

The overall summary of the spontaneous imbibition tests shows that all the restored reservoir cores were clearly on the water wet side, spontaneously imbibing water, and that the capillary forces mobilized and produced 27–45 %OOIP of the oil. These results confirm that capillary forces are important and need to be accounted for when ultimate recovery potential from reservoirs with heterogenous pore size distribution are to be evaluated in laboratory experiments, or in modelling and simulations of fluid flow in reservoirs.

The core wettability has a huge impact on the experimental results for capillary pressure, relative permeability, oil recovery, Smart Water and any other water-based chemical EOR methods. The large variation



 Table 6

 Summary of all SI results from preserved reservoir cores.

	-	-					
Core	Solvent cleaning	Solvent cleaning Oil V exposure in fluid		SI (%OOIP)			
	system	restorations (PV)	R1	R2	R3	R4	
P1	Kerosene/	5	34	_a	25	14	
P9	Heptane	5	43	29	24	17	
P5		1	29	29	29	-	
P6		11	30	20	-	-	
P7		1	27	28	_	-	
P2	Toluene/	5	27	33	34	-	
P10	Methanol	5	40	43	45	-	

^a Experiment failed.

in initial wettability results confirms that it will be very difficult to compare and discuss core analysis results from one core to the next. With improved understanding of parameters affecting core wettability during core cleaning and fluid restorations, laboratory procedures for reproducing the core wettability in successive core experiments on the same core could be developed. For this preserved reservoir core system, reproduction of core wettability in successive core experiments was successfully obtained by mild core cleaning with kerosene and heptane, followed by a minimum exposure of crude oil during fluid restoration.

4. Conclusions

The effect of core cleaning procedures and crude oil exposure in fluid restorations on the wettability of preserved reservoir sandstone cores retrieved from the NCS were examined in this study. Kerosene/heptane and toluene/methanol cleaning were used in the experimental procedures while the amount of crude oil exposure was 11 PV, 5 PV and 1 PV. The conclusions drawn from this work were the following:

- 1. Crude oil exposure of 5 PV and above in successive core restorations using the mild solvents kerosene and heptane, resulted in a decrease in oil recovery after each restoration process in cores P1, P6 and P9.
- 2. Cleaning with stronger solvents, toluene and methanol, showed an increase in oil recovery from cores P2 and P10 when these were exposed to 5 PV of crude oil during core restoration. This progressive increment in oil recovery might indicate that strong solvents can damage the rock surface by dissolving/removing material that contribute to the initial wettability of the rock.
- 3. Reservoir core wettability was successfully reproduced when cleaning with kerosene and heptane followed by 1 PV of crude oil exposure. A slight difference in imbibition rate was observed, although this difference did not have any impact on the ultimate oil recovery, which was similar in several repeated experiments.

Fig. 7. Spontaneous imbibition results of all cores after the first restoration.

Credit author statement

Panagiotis Aslanidis: Methodology, Experimental, Data Processing, Writing, Reviewing, Editing. **Ivan D. Pinerez Torrijos:** Experimental, Reviewing. **Skule Strand:** Conceptualization, Writing, Reviewing, Editing. **Tina Puntervold:** Conceptualization, Writing, Reviewing, Editing.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgements

The authors acknowledge bachelor student Jan-Arthur Skartland Svendsbøe and master student Siren Tjensvoll Kverme who have contributed to parts of the experimental work performed.

The authors also acknowledge the University of Stavanger, the Research Council of Norway and the industry partners, ConocoPhillips Skandinavia AS, Aker BP ASA, Vår Energi AS, Equinor ASA, Neptune Energy Norge AS, Lundin Norway AS, Halliburton AS, Schlumberger Norge AS, and Wintershall DEA, of The National IOR Centre of Norway for support.

References

- Aghaeifar, Z., Strand, S., Austad, T., Puntervold, T., Aksulu, H., Navratil, K., Håmsø, D., 2015. Influence of formation water salinity/composition on the low-salinity enhanced oil recovery effect in high-temperature sandstone reservoirs. Energy Fuels
- 29 (8), 4747–4754. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.energyfuels.5b01621. Amott, E., 1959. Observations relating to the wettability of porous rock, 0 Trans. AIME
- 216 (1), 156–162. https://doi.org/10.2118/1167-G. Anderson, W., 1986. Wettability literature survey- Part 2: wettability measurement. J. Petrol. Technol. 38 (11), 1246–1262. https://doi.org/10.2118/13933-PA.
- Borre, M.K., Coffey, B.P., 2014. Multi-stage cleaning for routine core analysis in heavy oil-bearing carbonates, campos basin. Brazil. https://doi.org/10.2118/170154-MS.
- Buckley, J.S., Morrow, N.R., 1990. Characterization of Crude Oil Wetting Behavior by Adhesion Tests. https://doi.org/10.2118/20263-MS.
- Conley, F.R., Burrows, D.B., 1956. A centrifuge core cleaner. J. Petrol. Technol. 8 (10), 61–62. https://doi.org/10.2118/742-G.
- Cuiec, L.E., 1975. Restoration of the natural state of core samples. In: Paper Presented at the Fall Meeting of the Society of Petroleum Engineers of AIME. https://doi.org/ 10.2118/5634-MS. Dallas, Texas.

- Dean, E.W., Stark, D.D., 1920. A convenient method for the determination of water in petroleum and other organic emulsions. J. Ind. Eng. Chem. 12 (5), 486–490. https:// doi.org/10.1021/ie50125a025.
- Fan, T., Buckley, J.S., 2007. Acid number measurements revisited, 0 SPE J. 12 (4), 496–500. https://doi.org/10.2118/99884-PA.
- Gant, P.L., Anderson, W.G., 1988. Core cleaning for restoration of native wettability, 0 SPE Form. Eval. 3 (1), 131–138. https://doi.org/10.2118/14875-PA.
- Grist, D.M., Langley, G.O., Neustadter, F.L., 1975. The dependence of water permeability on core cleaning methods in the case of some sandstone samples, 0 J. Can. Petrol. Technol. 14 (2). https://doi.org/10.2118/75-02-07.
- Guedez, A., Govindarajan, S., Lambert, D., Keyes, S., Patterson, R., Mickelson, W., Aldin, M., 2020. An integrated geomechanical, petrophysical and petrographical study to evaluate the efficacy of a plug cleaning technique for ultra-low permeability rocks. In: Paper Presented at the SPE/AAPG/SEG Unconventional Resources Technology Conference, Virtual. https://doi.org/10.15530/urtec-2020-2918.
- Gupta, I., Rai, C., Tinni, A., Sondergeld, C., 2017. Impact of different cleaning methods on petrophysical measurements, 0 Petrophys. -SPWLA J. Format. Eval. Reserv. Descr. 58 (6), 613–621.
- Hopkins, P., Omland, I., Layti, F., Strand, S., Puntervold, T., Austad, T., 2017. Crude oil quantity and its effect on chalk surface wetting. Energy Fuels 31. https://doi.org/ 10.1021/acs.energyfuels.6b02914.
- Hopkins, P., Walrond, K., Strand, S., Puntervold, T., Austad, T., Wakwaya, A., 2016. Adsorption of acidic crude oil components onto outcrop chalk at different wetting conditions during both dynamic adsorption and aging processes. Energy Fuels 30 (9), 7229–7235. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.energyfuels.6b01583.
- Institute, A.P., 1998. Recommended Practices for Core Analysis, SECOND EDITION. API Publishing Services.
- Jennings Jr., H.Y., 1957. Effect of Laboratory Core Cleaning on Water-Oil Relative Permeability. https://doi.org/10.2118/897-G.
- Mamonov, A., Kvandal, O.A., Strand, S., Puntervold, T., 2019. Adsorption of polar organic components onto sandstone rock minerals and its effect on wettability and enhanced oil recovery potential by Smart water. Energy Fuels 33 (7), 5954–5960. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.energyfuels.9b00101.
- Morrow, N.R., Ma, S., Zhou, X., Zhang, X., 1994. Characterization of Wettability from Spontaneous Imbibition Measurements. https://doi.org/10.2118/94-47.
- Piñerez, I., Puntervold, T., Strand, S., Hopkins, P., Aslanidis, P., Yang, H.S., Kinn, M.S., 2020. Core wettability reproduction: a new solvent cleaning and core restoration strategy for chalk cores. J. Petrol. Sci. Eng. 195, 107654. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. petrol.2020.107654.
- Puntervold, T., Mamonov, A., Piñerez Torrijos, I.D., Strand, S., 2021. Adsorption of crude oil components onto carbonate and sandstone outcrop rocks and its effect on wettability. Energy Fuels. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.energyfuels.0c03003.
- Shariatpanahi, F., Strand, S., Austad, T., Aksulu, H., 2012. Wettability restoration of limestone cores using core material from the aqueous zone. Petrol. Sci. Technol. -PET. SCI. TECHNOL. 30, 1082–1090. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 10916466.2011.569829.
- Springer, N., Korsbech, U., Aage, H.K., 2003. Resistivity index measurement without the porous plate: a desaturation technique based on evaporation produces uniform water saturation profiles and more reliable results for tight North Sea chalk. In: Paper Presented at the Paper Presented at the International Symposium of the Society of Core Analysts Pau (France).
- Standnes, D.C., Austad, T., 2003. Wettability alteration in carbonates: interaction between cationic surfactant and carboxylates as a key factor in wettability alteration from oil-wet to water-wet conditions. Colloid. Surface. Physicochem. Eng. Aspect. 216 (1), 243–259. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0927-7757(02)00580-0.

Paper II

Core Wettability Reproduction: A new Solvent Cleaning and Core Restoration Strategy for Chalk Cores

I. D. Piñerez T., T. Puntervold, S. Strand, P. Hopkins, P. Aslanidis, H. S. Yang, M. S. Kinn

Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering, Volume 195, December 2020, 107654

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering

journal homepage: http://www.elsevier.com/locate/petrol



Core wettability reproduction: A new solvent cleaning and core restoration strategy for chalk cores

Iván Piñerez^{a,b,*}, Tina Puntervold^{a,b}, Skule Strand^{a,b}, Paul Hopkins^a, Panagiotis Aslanidis^{a,b}, Hae Sol Yang^a, Magnus Sundby Kinn^{a,b}

^a University of Stavanger, 4036, Stavanger, Norway

^b The National IOR Centre of Norway, Norway

ABSTRACT

Laboratory core restoration procedures include different core cleaning solvents, establishment of initial water saturation (S_{wi}) by diverse techniques and processes of crude oil exposure that influence the final core wetting properties. In carbonate reservoirs, the acidic Polar Organic Components (POC) in crude oil are the main components dictating the wettability of the carbonate surface. Negatively charged carboxylates strongly attach to the positively charged CaCO₃ surface, thus acting as anchor molecules for the oil phase. During core cleaning with organic solvents, some of the adsorbed POC will be detached from the mineral surfaces, thereby changing the wetting conditions. However, cores are not expected to become completely water-wet even when using strong solvents. The main aim of this paper is to develop core cleaning and core restoration procedures to reproduce initial core wettability. Fractional-wet outcrop chalk cores were exposed to two different core cleaning procedures, (1) mild kerosene-heptane cleaning, or (2) standard toluene-methanol cleaning. Chromatographic wettability tests showed that both cleaning methods increased the fraction of water-wet surface area to a similar extent, but neither of them removed all adsorbed POC from the rock surface. Wettability tests by spontaneous imbibition showed that the kerosene-heptane cleaned core behaved slightly water-wet, while the toluene-methanol cleaned core behaved very water-wet, even though the cores had similar fractions of water-wet surface areas. Increased amount of crude oil exposure during core restoration reduced the water surface areas. Increased amount of crude by combining mild cleaning solvents preserving initial adsorbed POC, and minimizing the amount of crude oil exposure during core restoration. Only a 1.5–3.6 %OOIP variation in ultimate recovery during spontaneous imbibition in four different core systems was observed.

1. Introduction

To this date, there are no available measuring techniques for determining in-situ reservoir wettabilities. Thus, the best practice is Special Core Analyses (SCAL) performed on representative, preserved core samples (Maas et al., 2014; McPhee et al., 2015).

Reservoir zones are cored during well drilling, and at atmospheric conditions at the rig site, individual peals are sealed to reduce contamination during transportation and storage. During these operations, the core material can be exposed to drilling mud and reservoir fluid expansion due to reduction in pressure and temperature.

Representative 1¹/₂ inch reservoir core samples are drilled from seal peals prior to the SCAL analyses. Before any of these analyses can be performed, each individual core goes through a core-cleaning program, followed by a core restoration program to build up initial formation water (FW) saturation and crude oil saturation. SCAL analyses give resistivity data, capillary pressures, and pressure drop data as water saturation increases during fluid displacement processes. All these measurements are wettability dependent and will have significant effects on the interpreted capillary pressure and relative permeability curves. Core cleaning and core restoration programs able to reproduce core wettability close to reservoir conditions are of high importance.

The reservoir wettability determines the oil and water distribution within a porous network, and it affects the fluid flow in oil recovery processes, especially during waterflooding. Positive capillary forces are an important recovery mechanism in heterogeneous pore systems with large permeability differences at various reservoir sections, i.e., layered reservoirs, or at zones of high permeability contrast, as it occurs in the adjacent area of a fracture.

Standard core restoration to its original reservoir wettability is done by: (1) solvent cleaning to a completely water-wet state, (2) formation water (FW) saturation, (3) displacement of FW to residual water saturation (S_{wr}) with the reservoir crude oil, and (4) core aging at reservoir temperature to establish initial wetting.

In the past, core cleaning procedures involving a combination of solvents have been reported to be more efficient than single solvents

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2020.107654

Received 22 January 2020; Received in revised form 19 May 2020; Accepted 14 July 2020 Available online 17 July 2020

0920-4105/© 2020 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

^{*} Corresponding author. University of Stavanger, 4036, Stavanger, Norway. *E-mail address:* ivan.d.pinereztorrijos@uis.no (I. Piñerez).

(Cuiec, 1975). Today, common core cleaning processes are hot and cold Soxhlet extraction (Kovalev et al., 2016), constant or total immersion, and solvent flushing (McPhee et al., 2015). All these methods attempt to remove hydrocarbons from the porous media and minimizing damage to mineral structures. The standard solvent system used is toluene-methanol (T/M), but also other solvents and combination of solvent systems have been proposed, like hexane, cyclohexane, kerosene, acetone, chloroform, ethylene chloride and tetrachloroethylene among others (McPhee et al., 2015). Recent research has shown that different multiple solvent systems used in core floods have led to different effects on the restored core wettability (Shariatpanahi et al., 2012). Therefore, the choice of solvent systems used to clean reservoir cores is of utmost importance, when preserved reservoir cores should be restored to a representative wettability.

Recent research has shown that the standard core cleaning/core restoration approach has weaknesses (Hopkins et al., 2017). The classical core cleaning approach aims to remove mud filtrates (Fjelde et al., 2015), evaporated salts and native crude oil to obtain strongly water-wet cores. By removing the initially adsorbed POC dictating the pore surface wetting, important information on initial core wettability is lost, and then it could be difficult to restore the core to native wetting state in the laboratory. It is important to highlight that the produced reservoir crude oil used in core restoration has not necessarily the same chemical composition as the oil that initially migrated into the reservoir and wetted the rock (Puntervold, 2008). The composition may have changed because POC both adsorb onto the reservoir rock, and are decomposed over geological time, as it has been suggested for carbox-ylates in presence of calcite (Jurg and Eisma, 1964; Shimoyama and Johns, 1972; Zhang and Austad, 2005).

Another challenging issue is oil saturation/flooding during core restoration. Crude oil flooding will expose mineral surfaces to surfaceactive POC. Research has shown that the POC adsorption take place instantaneously and increasing volumes of crude oil will result in less water-wet restored cores (Fulcher et al., 1985; Abeysinghe et al., 2012; Guo et al., 2015; Hopkins et al., 2016; Mjos et al., 2018; Klewiah et al., 2019). The above-mentioned weaknesses of the standard protocols can lead to unrepresentative wetting states on restored carbonate cores, which could have dramatic effects on the results obtained in SCAL experiments.

In carbonate reservoirs, it has been experimentally verified that the acidic POC present in crude oil is the most important wetting parameter (Madsen et al., 1996; Madsen and Lind, 1998; Graue et al., 1999; Standal et al., 1999; Standnes and Austad, 2000a; Zhang and Austad, 2005; Karoussi et al., 2008). Carboxylic groups (R-COOH) are found in both the liquid phase and in the heavy end fractions (resins and asphaltenes) of the crude oil. Basic POC have lower impact on the wetting properties in carbonates (Puntervold et al., 2007b). The acidic and basic material in the crude oil can be quantified by the acid number (AN) and base number (BN), both having the unit mgKOH/g oil. It has been verified that POC instantly adsorbed onto water-wet outcrop chalk surfaces during crude oil flooding, which immediately decreased the water wetness (Hopkins et al., 2016); In addition, the degree of water wetness decreased with increasing acid number of the crude oil (Standnes and Austad, 2000a). Due to the very strong affinity of negatively charged carboxylic groups, R-COO', toward the positively charged calcite surfaces at slightly alkaline conditions, it will be difficult to remove all the POC from the carbonate surface by using different solvent systems (Masalmeh and Jing, 2007; Austad et al., 2008b; Agbalaka et al., 2009).

In this present work the efficiencies of two different solvent systems in cleaning of initially fractional-wet (restored) outcrop chalk cores have been compared; (1) kerosene-heptane (K/H) (mild cleaning solvents), and (2) toluene-methanol (T/M) (standard cleaning solvents). The cores' wetting states before and after solvent cleaning were quantified by spontaneous imbibition (SI) and chromatographic wettability (CW) tests. Based on the observed data, the wettability results have been discussed in relation to the solvents' efficiency in removing adsorbed acidic POC that are the crude oil anchor molecules to the chalk surface.

The effect of crude oil exposure in a second core restoration on reproduced core wettability was investigated. The results have been discussed in relation to the effect of solvent cleaning and optimized oil exposure for reproducing core wettability in initially fractional-wet chalk cores.

The proposed cleaning and restoration method for wettability reproduction that is offered in this work, can potentially be used in carbonates with similar mineralogical characteristics as the outcrop used, i.e., carbonates with a high purity of calcite (CaCO₃). Previously, similar surface reactivity, wettability and crude oil brine (COBR) interactions studied on pure chalk (Austad et al. 2005, 2008a; Strand et al., 2006), have been observed in calcite-rich limestone and reservoir cores (Austad et al., 2008b; Ravari, 2011; Shariatpanahi et al., 2012; Al-Shalabi and Sepehrnoori, 2016; Song et al., 2020; Tetteh et al., 2020).

However, it is important to mention that for carbonates with significant different mineralogical composition, e.g., dolomites, with different surface reactivity and wetting behaviour (Romanuka et al., 2012; Shariatpanahi et al., 2016), the suggested restoration protocols must be experimentally tested to expand such application.

2. Experimental

2.1. Core material

A model rock, outcrop chalk from the Stevns Klint quarry (SK) was used in this work. SK chalk mostly consists of the calcite mineral with $CaCO_3 > 98$ wt %, and contains a low amount of silicate impurities, in comparison to other chalks with higher amount of silicates (Fabricius and Borre, 2007; Hjuler and Fabricius, 2009; Skovbjerg et al., 2012; Bertolino et al., 2013). Having impurities like quartz, clays, or polysaccharides can impact surface reactivity and mechanical properties (Røgen and Fabricius, 2002; Strand et al., 2007; Fernø et al., 2011; Skovbjerg et al., 2013; Andersson et al., 2014; Bovet et al., 2015; Megawati et al., 2015; Andersen et al., 2018).

SK chalk has a high porosity with typical values ranging from (41–50%), and a low permeability (1–5 md), and is regarded as a North Sea chalk reservoirs analogue (Frykman, 2001; Røgen and Fabricius, 2002). Cores drilled from the same block has shown good reproducibility in oil recovery and wettability experiments, which makes SK chalk useful in parametric studies (Standnes and Austad, 2000b; Zhang and Austad, 2005; Strand et al., 2006; Puntervold et al., 2007b; Fathi et al., 2010; Hopkins et al., 2017). SK chalk matrix is composed of coccolithic remnants, Fig. 1.

The pore size distribution of SK chalk was measured by mercury



Fig. 1. Image of Stevns Klint outcrop chalk. SEM magnification 10000 X.

capillary injection (MICP) on a representative core sample; the external service provider Stratum laboratories performed the analyses. The pore size distribution is presented in Fig. 2; and it can be observed that the majority of the pores are located in the micro pore region (0.1–0.5 μm).

The cores used were drilled from two different blocks and equally prepared as suggested by Puntervold et al. (2007a). The cores were cleaned with 5 pore volumes (PV) of de-ionized (DI) water to clear away easily dissolvable salts, e.g., sulphate bearing salts, which can affect the core initial wettability (Puntervold et al., 2007a). Thereafter, the cores were dried at 90 °C until achieving constant weight. The main core properties are displayed in Table 1.

2.2. Brines

The synthetic formation water termed FW, is a brine based on the composition of a North Sea chalk reservoir, and it was used as formation water in core restorations and as imbibing fluid during the spontaneous imbibition tests. This brine is depleted in sulphate to not induce wettability alteration. SWOT and SW½T were used in the chromatographic wettability experiments, (CW), (Strand et al., 2006). These tests are performed at room temperature to hinder sulphate reactivity and wettability alteration. All brine compositions are presented in Table 2.

2.2.1. Ion chromatography analyses

Effluent brine samples were analyzed for ion chromatography; these analyses were performed on a Dionex IC 3000. External standards of each analyzed ion were used for the concentration calculations.

2.3. Oils and solvents

2.3.1. Core cleaning solvents

During core cleaning and core restorations two different types of solvent systems were used, the mild kerosene-heptane and the standard toluene-methanol systems. In the standard solvent system with toluene and methanol, toluene is a strong solvent for heavier oil components. Methanol dissolves both, oil components and water. The mild core cleaning solvents are kerosene and heptane; both have reduced solubility of larger oil components due to their low aromaticity. The main aim of mild core cleaning is to displace the residual oil in the core without attaining substantial removal of POC adsorbed to the rock surface, which dictate rock wettability (Hopkins et al., 2015). All chemicals were purchased from Merck and their quality was reagent grade.

2.3.2. Crude oil

A stock solution of crude oil was prepared by diluting a reservoir crude oil with heptane in a 60/40 vol ratio, respectively. No asphaltene





precipitation was observed due to initial low asphaltene content in the original crude oil. Then, this model oil was centrifuged and filtered using a 5 μ m Millipore filter. The model crude oil had an acid number (AN) of 1.8 mgKOH/g and a base number (BN) of 0.74 mgKOH/g. Then, 10 wt % of silica gel was added to a batch of the crude oil-heptane mixture to remove surface-active components, and it was left stirring for 4 days, this step was repeated once, obtaining an oil with an and BN of ~0 and 0.03 mgKOH/g, respectively. By mixing these two crude oils in different proportions, three crude oils were prepared; Oil A, Oil B and Oil C. The oil properties are shown in Table 3. No precipitation of crude oil components was seen during storage and preparation of the crude oil samples.

The acid and base numbers, (AN) and (BN), were quantified by potentiometric titration. The methods used are versions of ASTM 664 and ASTM 2898 (Fan and Buckley, 2007). The reproducibility of the modified methods is better than \pm 0.02 mgKOH/g for both AN and BN analyses.

2.4. Core preparation

2.4.1. Initial core preparation

The chalk cores were first flooded with 5 PV of DI water; this was done to get rid of easily dissolvable salts. Effluent samples were evaluated to discard the presence of sulphate at the end of this step. All cores were dried to constant bulk weight at 90 $^{\circ}$ C.

2.4.2. Core restoration

<u>Initial water saturation</u>, was established at, $(S_{wi}) = 0.1$, with FW by using the desiccator technique (Springer et al., 2003). After achieving the target weight, the cores were left in a closed container for a minimum of 72 h to obtain an even distribution of ions within the core plugs.

<u>Crude oil saturations</u> were performed by mounting the cores with established water saturation, $S_{wi} = 0.1$, in a Hassler core holder with 25 bars of confining pressure and 10 bars of backpressure. The cores were then oil saturated at 50 °C with their respective oil at the rate of 0.1 ml/min, 2.5 PVs were injected in each direction to assure an even oil distribution.

In addition, in some of the second restoration experiments performed to minimize the crude oil exposure, an alternative crude oil exposure routine was used. This procedure was implemented by a short-time vacuum saturation of only 1 PV of crude oil after establishing $S_{wi} = 0.1$.

<u>Core aging</u> was performed for 2 weeks at 50 °C. Cores exposed to crude oil were wrapped in Teflon tape and placed on marble balls in a closed aging cell surrounded by the same crude oil. The Teflon tape wrapping was used to avoid unrepresentative adsorption of active POC on the outer core surface, which could influence the spontaneous imbibition (Standnes and Austad, 2000a). Static aging was selected over dynamic aging due the fact that additional exposure of crude oil increases POC adsorption and hence affecting wettability (Hopkins et al. 2015, 2016). All cores were aged with the same procedure to minimize deviations caused by the aging process parameters, such as oil injected, aging time or temperature.

2.4.3. Core cleaning

The cores exposed to crude oils were prior to the second core restoration cleaned by using one of the two different solvent systems studied; mild cleaning with kerosene-heptane, or standard cleaning with toluene-methanol. The cleaning process was initiated at S_{or} /high water saturation.

Core C11 was mildly cleaned by flooding 5 PV of low aromatic kerosene, followed by 5 PV of heptane, repeated 3 times with a total of 30 PV of solvent flooding.

Core C12, was cleaned in the same way as core C11, but with standard cleaning solvents, i.e. toluene and methanol, for a total of 30 PV of solvents.

All cores from block 2 were mildly cleaned by using 10 PV of low

Table 1

Physical core properties of the SK outcrop material.

	Block 1			Block 2					
Core	C11	C12	C13	C24	C25	C26	C27	C28	C29
Length, cm	6.17	6.17	5.91	6.94	6.94	6.92	7.00	7.00	7.04
Diameter, cm	3.70	3.70	3.75	3.80	3.80	3.82	3.80	3.80	3.79
Bulk volume, V _b , cm ³	66.3	66.3	65.0	78.8	78.8	79.3	79.5	79.5	79.4
Dry weight, m ₀ , g	96.3	93.7	89.6	108.5	107.2	108.7	111.8	110.2	110.1
Sat. weight, m _{sat} , g	127.1	120.3	117.0	146.9	147.1	146.5	149.1	149.1	148.1
Density, ρ_{sat} , $d_{10}FW$, g/cm ³	1.003	1.003	1.003	1.002	1.002	1.002	1.002	1.002	1.002
Pore volume, PV, ml	30.8	26.5	27.3	38.3	39.9	37.7	37.3	38.8	38.5
Porosity, Φ, %	46	41	42	49	50	48	47	48	49
Permeability, md	2.0	1.4	1.3	2.5	1.0	0.8	1.6	2.0	1.2

Table 2

Brine properties and compositions.

Brines Ions	FW mM	SW0T mM	SW ¹ / ₂ T mM
Na ⁺	997	460	427
K ⁺	5	10	22
Li ⁺	0	0	12
Ca ²⁺	29	13	13
Mg ²⁺	8	45	45
Cl^-	1066	583	538
HCO ₃	9	2	2
SO ₄ ²⁻	0	0	12
SCN ⁻	0	0	12
Ionic strength	1.112	0.643	0.644
TDS g/l	62.83	33.39	33.39

Table 3

Chemical and physical crude oil properties.

Crude Oil	AN mgKOH/g	BN mgKOH/g	Viscosity at 25 °C cP	Density at 25 °C g/cm ³	Used in cores
Oil A	0.34	0.24	3.25	0.808	C11, C12
Oil B	0.36	0.30	2.52	0.807	C24,
Oil C	0.50	0.23	2.36	0.807	C26, C27

aromatic kerosene, followed by 5 PV of heptane, summing up to 15 PV of solvent flooding.

DI water was injected to remove the resident solvents and dissolvable salts; 5 PV of DI water were used in each core. Right after, the cores were put into an oven at 90 $^{\circ}$ C to evaporate the water and solvents left inside, this process finalized when the core achieved a constant weight.

2.5. Core experiments

2.5.1. Oil recovery by spontaneous imbibition (SI)

Oil recovery tests were carried out on the restored cores by using spontaneous imbibition (SI). The imbibition tests were performed in glass Amott cells at 50 °C; the imbibing fluid was FW to avoid any chemically induced wettability alteration. Oil recovery, as percentage of original oil in place (%OOIP), was logged vs. time until the recovery ceased. The precision of the volumetric measurements is \pm 0.1 ml.

2.5.2. Chromatographic wettability test (CW)

Chromatographic wettability tests (CW) were implemented in this study as an additional way of assessing wettability, the test was developed by Strand and co-workers (Strand et al., 2006), The tested cores were mounted into a Hassler core holder at room temperature with a confining pressure of 25 bars and a back pressure of 10 bars. The cores flooded at an injection rate of 0.2 ml/min with the brine termed, SW0T, until achieving residual oil saturation, S_{orw}. Then, the brine containing

the tracer, SCN⁻, and sulphate, SO_4^{2-} , was injected, this brine is termed, SW½T. Effluent brine samples were collected with an autosampler, and then analyzed for ion chromatography.

The tests consist in the evaluation of the water-wet areas of the porous media by the chromatographic separation the non-adsorbing tracer and the adsorbing sulphate ion, the area in between the two elution curves, A_w, is proportional to the water-wet surface area of the carbonate core plug. Experiments reproducibility is ~5% (Strand et al., 2006). An utterly water-wet reference core was used as main reference, and the area in between the elution curves (A_{ww}) was calculated to be, A_{ww} = 0.256. The wettability index (I_{CW}), that describes the water-wet fraction of the chalk surface, is estimated according to equation (1):

$$I_{CW} = \frac{A_w}{A_{ww}} \tag{1}$$

A wetting index of $I_{CW} = 0$, exhibits a completely oil-wet surface area, whereas a, $I_{CW} = 1$ represents a strongly water-wet surface area.

2.5.3. Wettability by spontaneous imbibition (SI)

The presence of capillary forces and the core wettability were evaluated by spontaneous imbibition (SI). The cores were 100% saturated with heptane and imbibed with DI water in a glass Amott cell at 23 °C. Oil recovery was measured and logged against time.

A practical way of quantifying wettability of porous systems is by SI (Anderson, 1986). Both the imbibition rate and ultimate recovery gives valuable information to describe the core wettability. SI experiments can be performed at reservoir temperature, which will reduce uncertainties regarding physical fluid properties of oil and brine and temperature effects of core wettability.

When the oil recovery (%OOIP) by SI from a strongly water-wet reference core, SI_{WWC} , is available, a simplified wetting index, I_{W-SI} , only based on SI experiments can be calculated, Eq. (2):

$$I_{W-SI} = \frac{SI_C}{SI_{WWC}} \tag{2}$$

 SI_C is the oil recovery (%OOIP) from the tested core. I_{W-SI} approaches 1 for a strongly water-wet core, and 0 for a fractional/neutral wet core (Schlumberger, 2016).

3. Results and discussion

In this work, the effect of crude oil exposure on core wettability, and how different core cleaning solvent systems affects the core wettability during laboratory core restorations, have been studied. Stevns Klint outcrop chalk is a rock type that has been regarded as an analogue for most chalk oil reservoirs in the North Sea area, for this reason it was used in this study. The outcrop chalk has also been reported to show similar behaviour as reservoir limestone regarding wettability and wettability alteration processes (Ravari, 2011; Austad et al., 2015).

The experimental work is divided into two main parts; (1) the effect of solvent cleaning on core wettability, and (2) the effect of crude oil exposure on mildly cleaned carbonate cores.

3.1. Effect of solvent cleaning on core restoration wettability

Solvent cleaning is an important part of the core restoration procedures used on preserved reservoir cores prior to Special Core Analyses (SCAL) in the laboratories. Relative permeability measurements, capillary pressure curves and resistivity measurements are wettability dependent, and representative wettability is needed for obtaining correct SCAL representative of the reservoir. Two cleaning procedures; kerosene-heptane and toluene-methanol, were evaluated based on their ability to clean crude oil-wetted chalk cores, and their influence on a repeated second core restoration.

3.1.1. Water-wet outcrop chalk

The initial wettability of a clean outcrop chalk core was tested by SI, and the area between the non-adsorbing tracer and the sulphate curves was determined with a CW test. The results from the SI and CW tests for core C13 are presented in Fig. 3.

The SI results from the heptane-saturated core C13 in Fig. 3a, shows very strong capillary forces, and an ultimate recovery by SI of 78 %OOIP after less than 30 min, confirming that the outcrop chalk behaves strongly water-wet. The area between the sulphate and tracer curves measured with the CW test for a completely water-wet chalk core was $A_{ww} = 0.251$ Fig. 3b. Both SI and CW results for the completely water-wet core will be used for further calculations of water-wet surface area and wettability indexes below. $I_{CW} = 1$ for the water-wet core.

3.1.2. Establishing initial wetting conditions

The cores C11 and C12 from block 1 were initially restored with $S_{wi} = 0.1$ and exposed to an equal amount of crude oil by flooding a total of 5 PV of Oil A, before aging. Oil recovery tests were carried out by SI at 50 °C using FW as imbibing fluid, the results are shown in Fig. 4. The oil recovery plateau for core C11 and C12 was reached after 8–10 days, with an ultimate recovery of 8 and 10 %OOIP respectively, confirming reproducible initial wetting properties of the two cores.

Right after the SI experiments, both cores achieved S_{or} at 23 °C by injecting SW0T brine, and CW tests were performed on both cores to evaluate the water-wet fraction of the cores' surface area, Fig. 5.

The water-wet surface areas were nearly the same in both cores, i.e. the areas between the effluent tracer (SCN⁻) and SO₄^{2–} curves, A_w, were calculated to A_w = 0.118 and A_w = 0.124 for C11 and C12 respectively, Fig. 5. The water-wet surface area for the strongly water-wet reference core C13 was A_{ww} = 0.251, Fig. 3b. Thus, the water-wet fraction of the surface area, Eq.(1), was $I_{CW} = (0.118/0.251) = 0.47$ for core C11, and $I_{CW} = (0.124/0.251) = 0.49$ for core C12. The values correspond to a fractional/neutral wetting according to the CW method (Strand et al., 2006). The CW tests agree with the SI test results, confirming that the

equally restored cores C11 and C12 possess similar core wetting.

Comparing the SI results for core C11 and C12 with the results from the strongly water-wet core C13, the modified water index I_{W-SI} (Eq.(2)) was calculated to 0.10 for core C11, and 0.13 for core C12. In these cores 5 PV of crude Oil A was injected, and both behaved slightly water-wet.

Measured and calculated data are summarized in Table 4.

3.1.3. Efficiency of mild kerosene-heptane cleaning vs. standard toluenemethanol cleaning

After confirming fractional, close to neutral initial wetting properties in SI and CW, the two cores with high initial water saturation went through core cleaning prior to a new core restoration.

Core C11 was mildly cleaned by flooding 5 PV kerosene (K) followed by 5 PV heptane (C_7 /H). This flooding sequence was executed 3 times. The same core cleaning procedure was also applied to core C12, but this time using the standard cleaning solvents toluene (T) and methanol (M). After the core cleaning was completed, new chromatographic wettability tests and spontaneous imbibition tests were carried out on both cores C11 and C12, to evaluate the change in wetting properties due to the core cleaning method. The CW tests results are shown in Fig. 6.

After mild core cleaning with kerosene and heptane, the water-wet fraction of the surface area in core C11 increased from $I_{CW}=0.47$ to $I_{CW}=(0.150/0.251)=0.60$. After standard core cleaning with toluene and methanol on core C12, the water-wet fraction increased from $I_{CW}=0.49$ to $I_{CW}=(0.165/0.251)=0.66$. The experimental results confirmed that both solvent systems removed POC from the chalk surface and increased the fraction of water-wet surface area. However, mild kerosene-heptane core cleaning increased I_{CW} by 13%, while the I_{CW} increased with 17% after toluene and methanol cleaning. Still, after an extensive solvent flooding, 40% and 34% of the rock surfaces in the cores were still covered by oil components, preventing SO₄^{2–} ions from interacting with the carbonate surface. Thus, completely water-wet carbonate mineral surfaces in the cores after solvent cleaning were not obtained.

The effect of the different cleaning solvents on the wettability and capillary forces was investigated by SI tests. In both cores, 5 PV of DI water were injected to displace the CW brines, then they were dried, and vacuum-saturated with 100% heptane. The heptane-saturated cores were spontaneously imbibed at 23 °C with DI as imbibing fluid, and the test results are shown in Fig. 7.

The kerosene and heptane cleaned core, Fig. 7a, reached a heptane recovery plateau of 27 %OOIP after 9 days. By comparing the result with the SI test on the initially restored C11 core in Fig. 4a, the capillary forces had increased, indicating that the core had become slightly more water-wet after kerosene and heptane cleaning. The results are in line with those from the CW tests, Figs.5an and **6a**, showing that the mild



Fig. 3. Initial core wettability of outcrop chalk core C13. (a) The core was 100% heptane saturated and spontaneously imbibed with DI water at 23 °C. (b) CW test performed on a 100% brine saturated core C13 at 23 °C.



Fig. 4. Oil recovery tests by SI at 50 °C, FW used as imbibing brine for the cores C11 and C12, both equally restored with $S_{wi} = 0.1$ and exposed to 5 PV Oil A (first restoration – R1), before aging. (a) Core C11-R1 and (b) Core C12-R1.



Fig. 5. CW test performed on initially restored core C11 and C12 after the SI tests. The figures show the relative concentrations of the tracer, SCN^- , and SO_4^{2-} in the effluent samples versus PV injected (a) Effluent curves for core C11, and (b) Effluent curves for core C12.

Ta	bl	e	4	
----	----	---	---	--

SI and CW results summary.

	Solvent	SI			CW			
Core		SI-R1 (%OOIP)	SI _{C7} -AS ^a (%OOIP)	SI-R2 (%OOIP)	Aw-R1	I _{CW} -R1	A _w -AS ^a	I _{CW} -AS ^a
C11	K/H	8	27	3	0.118	0.47	0.150	0.60
C12	T/M	10	62	12	0.124	0.49	0.165	0.66
C13	-	75	-	-	0.251	1	-	-

^a AS - After-solvent cleaning.

kerosene and heptane core cleaning resulted in a slightly higher fraction of water-wet surface area.

As expected, the pair toluene and methanol is a more efficient solvent combination with higher ability to solvate more complex oil components. The toluene and methanol cleaned core, Fig. 7b, reached a heptane recovery of 62 %OOIP within only 5 h, showing very water-wet behaviour with high imbibition rate and high ultimate recovery (Anderson, 1986), despite the fact that 34% of the rock surface is still protected from interactions with water due to adsorbed organic material.

The SI water index, I_{W-SI} , increased from 0.10 to 0.36 for core C11 by kerosene and heptane cleaning, and from 0.13 to 0.82 for core C12 by toluene and methanol cleaning, confirming dramatic changes in positive capillary forces after toluene and methanol cleaning.

It is important to highlight from the results that not only the amount of POC adsorbed onto the rock surface dictates the core wettability, but also the distribution of POC at the pore surfaces seems to be important. POC adsorbed at pore throats will influence capillary forces more than components adsorbed onto pore bodies. Spontaneous imbibition results confirm that extensive toluene and methanol flooding is removing POC at strategic places that affects capillary forces, resulting in dramatically increased imbibition rate and ultimate oil recovery, even though only slight changes in the fraction of water-wet surface area were observed.

In optimal carbonate reservoir core restoration procedures, both the total amount of POC adsorbed and the distribution at the mineral surfaces dictates capillary forces and core wettability. The mild kerosene and heptane core cleaning method removed less initially adsorbed POC and only slight changes in the positive capillary forces were observed.

3.1.4. Effect of cleaning procedure on a second core restoration

The effect of the two different core cleaning methods on core wettability in a second core restoration was studied in two initially



Fig. 6. CW test performed on (a) Kerosene-heptane cleaned core C11 and on (b) Toluene-methanol cleaned core C12.



Fig. 7. SI at 23 °C on the solvent cleaned cores, saturated 100% with heptane, DI was the imbibing fluid. (a) Heptane recovery (%OOIP) from the kerosene-heptane cleaned core C11. (b) Heptane recovery (%OOIP) from the toluene-methanol cleaned core C12.

equally restored cores, C11 and C12. $S_{wi}=0.1$ with FW was established before both cores were exposed to 5 PV Oil A before aging. Oil recovery tests by SI at 50 $^\circ C$ were carried out with FW as the imbibing brine, Fig. 8.

The ultimate recoveries by SI after 15 days was 3 and 12 %OOIP respectively, compared to 8 and 10 %OOIP after the initial restoration, Fig. 4. The kerosene-heptane cleaned core C11 became less water wet

than the toluene-methanol cleaned C12 core. The water indexes, I_{W-SI} , were reduced from 0.10 to 0.04 for core C11 and increased slightly from 0.13 to 0.16 for core C12.

When an already fractionally wetted core is exposed to more crude oil with surface-active components, more POC could adsorb, reducing the water wetness. This effect of the amount of crude oil exposure during core restoration on wettability has previously been reported (Hopkins



Fig. 8. Oil recovery tests by SI at 50 °C with FW as imbibing brine. After solvent cleaning, both cores were restored with $S_{wi} = 0.10$ with FW and exposed to 5 PV of Oil A. (a) Oil recovery (%OOIP) for kerosene-heptane cleaned core C11-R2, and (b) Oil Recovery (%OOIP) for toluene-methanol cleaned core C12-R2.

I. Piñerez et al.

et al., 2015).

The more water wet core C12, also exposed to 5 PV of Oil A, became significantly more water wet than core C11, with I_{W-SI} of 0.16 and 0.04 respectively.

Both initial wetting, the distribution of POC on mineral surfaces, and the amount of crude oil exposure affects the core wettability during core restoration processes.

For real reservoir systems a toluene methanol cleaning will remove more of the POC from the rock surface that dictates the core wettability. The produced reservoir crude used in core restoration can differ from the invading oil dictating the initial reservoir wettability. (Puntervold, 2008). Optimized core restoration could then be obtained preserving most of the POC on the rock surface during core cleaning, and reducing the amount of crude oil exposure during the process of core restoration.

A data summary for the experiments carried out on the cores of block 1 is presented below in Table 4.

3.2. Reproducing initial core wettability in mildly cleaned cores

By limiting the kerosene-heptane solvent injection to a minimum volume during core cleaning and restoration procedures in the laboratory, a smaller amount of adsorbed POC dictating the reservoir wettability will be removed. In that case also a minimum reservoir crude oil volume would be needed for reproducing the reservoir wettability. In the next part of this experimental work the focus was on optimizing the amount of crude oil needed to reproduce the initial core wettability after a mild solvent cleaning.

Mild core cleaning using the kerosene-heptane solvent system is displacing the residing crude oil without severely affecting the initial core wettability. A core restoration program preserving the POC adsorbed at the mineral surface responsible for the core wetting, reduces the amount of crude oil needed during core restoration. The reservoir crude oil available for laboratory tests is most likely different from the initial oil responsible for generating the original reservoir wettability. Thus, it could be important to keep the original crude oil adsorbed onto the core, for generating a representative core wettability. The main objective in this part was to reproduce the initial core wettability after mild core cleaning with kerosene and heptane solvents.

3.2.1. Water-wet outcrop chalk behaviour

For this section, the core material used was the same SK outcrop chalk, but it was taken from block 2. The water-wet reference core from block 2 was termed C28. $S_{wi} = 0.1$ was established and heptane was used as the oil phase to verify water-wet behaviour by SI. A CW test was carried out on a 100% water saturated core. The SI and CW results are presented in Fig. 9.

The spontaneous imbibition results confirm very strong capillary forces for core C28, with high rate of imbibition and reaching the heptane recovery plateau of 70 %OOIP after 60 min, as seen in Fig. 9a. The CW test resulted in an area between the tracer and sulphate curves of $A_{ww} = 0.249$, Fig. 9b, corresponding to a fraction of water-wet surface area of $I_{CW} = 1$, that is, the entire rock surface is water-wet in the core that has not been exposed to crude oil. These results are comparable in terms of imbibition rate and profile shapes with the strongly water-wet reference core from block 1, Fig. 3, Table 4.

3.2.2. Establishing initial wettability

Two chalk cores from block 2, C24 and C25 were restored with $S_{wi} = 0.1$ FW, and exposed to 5 PV Oil B, before aging. The initial wettability established during core restoration was measured by SI at 50 °C using FW as imbibing fluid, followed by CW test to verify reduction in waterwet mineral surface. The results are shown in Fig. 10.

The oil recovery plateaus were reached for cores C24 and C25 after 7–10 days, with ultimate recoveries of 44 and 43 %OOIP, respectively, indicating a high reproducibility of the induced initial wettability of these two cores. The CW test gave slightly different areas of separation between the tracer and sulphate curves, $A_w = 0.230$ and $A_w = 0.188$ for C24 and C25 respectively, however both areas were considerably lower than $A_{ww} = 0.249$ from the water-wet core, confirming significant reduction in water-wet surface area in both cores.

A second set of cores, C26 and C27, were restored using the same core restoration procedure. This time Oil C with AN = 0.50 and BN = 0.23 mgKOH/g was used. A higher amount of acidic components should reduce the initial wettability, as previously shown by Standnes and Austad, (2000a). The results from SI and CW tests are presented in Fig. 11.

The oil recovery plateaus were reached in both cores after 15 days, with ultimate recoveries of 25 and 37 %OOIP from cores C26 and C27, respectively. In this case, the established wettabilities of the two cores were slightly different, but both behaved slightly less water-wet than the cores exposed to Oil B, which has a lower AN (0.36 mgKOH/g), as expected. The water-wet fractions surface areas were nearly the same in the cores, as seen by similar separation areas between the curves of the non-adsorbing tracer and adsorbing sulphate, which were determined to $A_w = 0.203$ and $A_w = 0.205$ for C26 and C27, respectively. The calculated fractions of water-wet surface area were 0.81 and 0.82, which correspond to a water-wet state.

Comparing the SI results of the cores from block 2 (C24–C27), all cores achieved a fractional wetting after being exposed to 5 PV of the respective Oil B and Oil C, but some inconsistencies were observed. These could be due to differences in pore distribution, fractures, and variation in rock mineralogy and surface reactivity. The cores saturated



Fig. 9. Initial wettability of water-wet core C28 from block 2. (a) SI test performed at 23 $^{\circ}$ C using DI water as FW. Core C28 with S_{wi} = 0.1 and heptane saturated (b) CW test on the 100% water saturated C28 core.



Fig. 10. Initial wettability was measured by SI at 50 $^{\circ}$ C using FW as imbibing fluid, followed by CW test. (Left) Core C24 and (Right) core C25. Both cores were restored with $S_{wi} = 0.1$ (FW) and exposed to 5 PV Oil B before aging.



Fig. 11. Initial wettability was measured by SI at 50 $^{\circ}$ C using FW as imbibing fluid, followed by CW test. (Left) Core C26 and (Right) core C27. Both cores were restored with $S_{wi} = 0.1$ FW and exposed to 5 PV Oil C before aging.

with Oil C with higher AN behaved slightly less water-wet than the cores saturated with Oil B.

3.2.3. Optimal core restoration for reproduction of core wettability

In the first part of the paper, it was observed that mild cleaning with kerosene-heptane solvents preserved some of the initially adsorbed POC on the mineral surface. However, the wettability established in a second core restoration process was impacted by the amount of crude oil injected in the second restoration process, as observed previously by Hopkins et al., (2017). It was also observed that the harsher cleaning method, toluene-methanol, was able to better clean and reproduce wettability in the second restoration. However, a very important point to make is that although, toluene and methanol successfully reproduced the first restoration-wettability after the second restoration, as seen in Figs. 2b and 6b, the restored wettability is not necessarily representative and correct, because the crude oil used in the laboratory may be depleted in the surface-active POC due to their adsorption onto the reservoir rock. Therefore, it is hypothesized that a more representative core wettability can be achieved by preserving initially adsorbed POC during mild cleaning, and completing the restoration process by optimal exposure to crude oil. To test this hypothesis, the four initially restored outcrop cores (C24–C27) underwent the following procedure:

- 1 Mild cleaning with kerosene-heptane solvent injection, this time only 10 PV kerosene, 5 PV heptane, 5 PV DI water, and drying to constant weight.
- 2 Establishing S_{wi} of 10% with FW by using the desiccator technique.
- 3 Vacuum-saturating the core at S_{wi} = 0.1, with 0.9 PV of the same
- crude oil used in the initial restoration, followed by aging.
- 4 SI of FW at the same temperature (50 $^\circ \text{C}$).

The SI results after the second core restorations (R2) are compared with the initial core wettability (R1) results in Fig. 12.

By comparing the oil recoveries by SI after the initial (R1) and second (R2) core restorations (before and after kerosene-heptane cleaning), it is evident that a very good reproduction of wettability was achieved in the second restoration (R2). The difference in oil recoveries by SI between initial and second restoration, Δ *SI*, varied only between + 1.5 and + 3.5 %OOIP. The degree of water-wetness was quantified by the wettability index based on SI, *I*_{W-SI}, Eq. (2).

The ultimate oil recoveries from of initially restored cores C24 and C25 exposed to Oil B were very similar, with a 44.4% and 42.9 %OOIP, giving a similar wetting index, I_{W-SI} of 0.63 and 0.61 respectively. After the second restoration, the oil recovery only slightly increased and I_{W-SI} of 0.68 and 0.67 was calculated.

In the case of C26 and C27 exposed to Oil C, ultimate recoveries of 24.7 and 37.2 %OOIP was observed, respectively. This rather large difference in recovery and initial wettability was not expected, as explained above. Nevertheless, the second restorations (R2) were successful for both cores, despite the differences in initial wettability. For core C26 I_{W-SI} slightly increased from 0.35 to 0.40, while for core C27, I_{W-SI} slightly decreased from 0.53 to 0.51.

A new core C29 was thereafter used to test the effect on SI of exposing a core to 5 PV of Oil B with AN = 0.36 mgKOH/g during the second restoration after mild cleaning with 10 PV of kerosene and 5 PV of heptane, the rest of the procedure being the same as for the cores C24 and C25. In Fig. 13 the oil recoveries from core C29 after R1 and R2 have been compared. SI from the initially restored core (R1) gave a recovery of 41.5 %OOIP, which was similar to the recoveries from C24 and C25, seen in Fig. 10.

100 100 80 80 Oil recovery (OOIP %) Oil recovery (OOIP %) 60 60 40 40 -C25-R1 SI -C24-R1 SI -C25-R2 SI 20 20 0 0 0 4 8 12 Days n 12 Days 8 (b) (a) 100 100 80 80 Oil recovery (OOIP %) 8 8 Oil recovery (OOIP %) 60 C27-R1 SI C26-R1 SI C27-R2 SI C26-R2 SI 40 20 20 0 0 4 8 12 16 20 8 12 16 20 n 4 Days Davs (d)(c)

After a mild cleaning with kerosene and heptane, core C29 was

Fig. 12. Oil recovery tests by SI performed at 50 °C after initial restoration (R1) and a second restoration (R2) on cores with $S_{wi} = 0.1$. (a) Core C24 and (b) Core C25 exposed to Oil B (AN = 0.36 mgKOH/g). (c) Core C26 and (d) Core C27 exposed to Oil C (AN = 0.5 mgKOH/g).



Fig. 13. SI tests performed at 50 °C after the initial restoration (R1) and the second restoration (R2) of core C29. During R1 the core was exposed to 5 PV Oil B with AN = 0.36 mgKOH/g. After mild cleaning the core was exposed to another 5 PV of Oil B in R2.

restored in a second restoration (R2) with $S_{wi} = 10\%$, and another 5 PV of Oil B. In the following SI test, the ultimate recovery was reduced to 21.0 %OOIP. A reduction in oil recovery of 20.5% OOIP confirmed a significant drop in the water-wetness of the core due to the increased exposure to Oil B. The wetting index, I_{W-SI} , dropped dramatically from 0.59 to 0.30. These results confirm previous observations by Hopkins et al., (2017).

The mild core cleaning process carried out with reduced volumes of kerosene and heptane preserves a larger amount of adsorbed POC on the mineral surfaces. Thus, in the core restoration process, less POC are needed for reproducing the initial core wettability. In the mild core cleaning procedure with kerosene-heptane, the residual crude oil was efficiently removed with 10 PV kerosene injection and a clear effluent oil was observed. The kerosene was then displaced by heptane. After building initial water saturation with desiccator, vacuum saturation of crude oil (0.9 PV) successfully reproduced the initial core wettability. A summary of SI and CW data before and after mild core cleaning is presented in Table 5. The suggested methodology for wettability reproduction can potentially be applied in core materials with similar mineralogy as SK chalk, that is on calcite surfaces with a low content of silicate impurities.

4. Concluding remarks

The efficiencies of two different cleaning solvent systems, toluenemethanol (standard cleaning) and kerosene-heptane (mild cleaning), in cleaning crude oil-wetted outcrop chalk cores were tested. The wetting of the cores was evaluated by spontaneous imbibition and chromatographic wettability tests.

The results showed that spontaneous imbibition and capillary forces had increased after cleaning by both solvent systems. The toluenemethanol cleaned core behaved more water-wet than the keroseneheptane cleaned core in spontaneous imbibition tests, resulting in higher ultimate oil recoveries. A larger water-wet surface area in the toluene-methanol cleaned core was confirmed by the chromatographic wettability test.

Increased imbibition rates and ultimate oil recovery were reported in cases when only small changes in the fraction of water-wet surface area were measured, suggesting that the distribution of POC at the pore surfaces is important.

After a second restoration, with an injection of 5 PV of crude oil through the mildly cleaned cores, new spontaneous imbibition tests showed reduced ultimate oil recovery compared to the first restoration, thus the initial wettability was not completely reproduced.

Table 5

Data summary	after initial	(R1) and	l second co	ore restorations	(R2).
--------------	---------------	----------	-------------	------------------	-------

Core	SI _{R1} % OOIP	I _{W-SI-} R1	I _{CW-} R1	SI _{R2} % OOIP	I _{W-SI-} R2	Δ SI % OOIP	ΔI_{W-SI}
C24 C25	44.4 42.9	0.63 0.61	0.92 0.75	47.8 46.6	0.68 0.67	$^{+3.5}_{+3.6}$	+0.05 +0.05
C26	24.7	0.35	0.81	27.7	0.40	+3.0	+0.04
C27	37.2	0.53	0.82	35.8	0.51	+1.5	+0.02
C28	70.0	1.0	1.0	-	-	-	-
C29	41.5	0.59	-	21.0	0.30	- 20.5	- 0.29

Reproduction of initial wettability after mild cleaning with keroseneheptane was attempted by only introducing (1-S_{wi}) PV crude oil by vacuum-saturation. Spontaneous imbibition tests at 50 °C showed a very good match between the production profiles before and after cleaning. Reproduction of the initial wettability was successful, showing a difference of +1.5–3.6% OOIP between the first and second restorations in all cores.

Consequently, by limiting the kerosene-heptane injection during core cleaning, desorption of the specific POC dictating the initial reservoir wettability is minimized. By this procedure, only a minimum volume of crude oil is therefore needed to reproduce the wettability. The crude oil that originally created the reservoir wetting might be different in composition to the in-situ reservoir oil today, thus this proposed procedure could result in a more representative reservoir core wettability than that obtained in standard routine SCAL analyses.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Iván Piñerez: Conceptualization, Methodology, Validation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Data curation, Writing - original draft, Writing review & editing, Visualization, Supervision, Project administration. Tina Puntervold: Conceptualization, Methodology, Validation, Formal analysis, Resources, Data curation, Writing - original draft, Writing review & editing, Supervision, Project administration, Funding acquisition. Skule Strand: Conceptualization, Methodology, Validation, Formal analysis, Resources, Data curation, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing, Visualization, Supervision, Project administration, Funding acquisition. Paul Hopkins: Conceptualization, Methodology, Validation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Data curation, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing, Visualization. Panagiotis Aslanidis: Conceptualization, Methodology, Validation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Data curation, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing, Visualization. Hae Sol Yang: Validation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Data curation, Visualization. Magnus Sundby Kinn: Validation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Data curation, Visualization.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgements

The authors acknowledge the financial support from the University of Stavanger, Norway;BP, United Kingdom; the Erasmus + student exchange program, European Union; the Research Council of Norway (RCN) and The National IOR Centre of Norway industry partners ConocoPhillips Skandinavia AS, Aker BP ASA, Vår Energi AS, Equinor ASA, Neptune Energy Norge AS, Lundin Norway AS, Halliburton AS, Schlumberger Norge AS, and Wintershall DEA, through the RCN project code 230303.h

NOMENCLATURE

	AN	Acid Number, mg KOH/g				
	ASTM	American Society for Testing and Materials				
	Aw	Water-wet surface area of a core sample, from chromatographic test				
	A _{ww}	Water-wet surface area of a completely water-wet reference core sample				
	BN	Base number, mg KOH/g				
	C/Co	Relative concentration of ion in effluent fractions				
	C ₇	Heptane				
	D	Core Diameter				
	DI	Deionized water				
	d ₁₀ FW	Ten times diluted formation water				
	FW	Formation water				
	Н	Heptane				
	I _{CW}	The fraction of water-wet surface area of a core sample				
	Κ	Kerosene				
	k _{ro}	Relative permeability to oil				
	k _{rw}	Relative permeability to water				
	L	Core length				
	Μ	Methanol				
	mM	Milli-molar (10 mol ⁻³ /L)				
	m _{sat}	Weight of saturated core				
	m ₀	Weight of dry core				
	OOIP	Original oil in place				
	Pc	Capillary pressure				
	PV	Pore volume, mL				
	Vb	Bulk volume, cm ³				
	R-COO	Carboxylate				
	SCA	Special core analysis				
	SK	Stevns Klint				
	Sorw	Residual oil saturation after waterflood				
	S_w	Initial water saturation, % PV				
	Swr	Residual water saturation, % PV				
	SW0T	Sea water without thiocyanate tracer and sulphate				
	$SW^{1/2}T$	Seawater that contains thiocyanate tracer and sulphate				
T Toluene TDS Total Dissolved Salt, mg/L						
	Φ	Core Porosity				

Density of saturation fluid, g/cm ρ_{sat}

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2020.107654.

References

Andersen, P. O., Wang, W., Madland, M.V., Zimmermann, U., Korsnes, R.I., Bertolino, S. R.A., Minde, M., Schulz, B., Gilbricht, S., 2018. Comparative study of five outcrop

Abeysinghe, K.P., Fjelde, I., Lohne, A., 2012. Dependency of remaining oil saturation on wettability and capillary number. In: Paper SPE-160883 Presented at the 2012 SPE Technical Symposium and Exhibition. Al-Khobar, Saudi Arabia, pp. 8-11.

Agbalaka, C.C., Dandekar, A.Y., Patil, S.L., Khataniar, S., Hemsath, J.R., 2009.

Agbalaka, C.C., Dantekan, A.T., Fath, S.L., Kutahiai, S., Heinsan, J.K. 2005.
 Coreflooding studies to evaluate the impact of salinity and wettability on oil recovery efficiency. Transport Porous Media 76 (1), 77–94.
 Al-Shalabi, E.W., Sepehrnoori, K., 2016. A comprehensive review of low salinity/ engineered water injections and their applications in sandstone and carbonate rocks. J. Petrol. Sci. Eng. 139, 137-161.

I. Piñerez et al.

chalks flooded at reservoir conditions: chemo-mechanical behaviour and profiles of compositional alteration. Transport Porous Media 121 (1), 135–181.

Anderson, W., 1986. Wettability literature survey- part 2: wettability measurement. J. Petrol. Technol. 38 (11), 1246–1262.

- Andersson, M.P., Hem, C.P., Schultz, L.N., Nielsen, J.W., Pedersen, C.S., Sand, K.K., Okhrimenko, D.V., Johnsson, A., Stipp, S.L.S., 2014. Infrared spectroscopy and density functional theory investigation of calcite, chalk, and coccoliths—do we observe the mineral surface? J. Phys. Chem. 118 (45), 10720–10729.
- Austad, T., Shariatpanahi, S.F., Strand, S., Aksulu, H., Puntervold, T., 2015. Low salinity EOR effects in limestone reservoir cores containing anhydrite: a discussion of the chemical mechanism. Energy Fuels 29 (11), 6903–6911.
- Austad, T., Strand, S., Høgnesen, E.J., Zhang, P., 2005. Seawater as IOR fluid in fractured chalk. In: SPE International Symposium on Oilfield Chemistry, the Woodlands, Texas, 2005/1/1/.
- Austad, T., Strand, S., Madland, M.V., Puntervold, T., Korsnes, R.I., 2008a. Seawater in chalk: an EOR and compaction fluid. SPE Reservoir Eval. Eng. 11 (4), 648–654.
- Austad, T., Strand, S., Puntervold, T., Ravari, R.R., 2008b. New method to clean carbonate reservoir cores by seawater. In: Paper SCA2008-15 Presented at the International Symposium of the Society of Core Analysts, Abu Dhabi, U.A.E., 29 Oct -2 Nov.
- Bertolino, S.A.R., Zimmermann, U., Madland, M.V., Hildebrand-Habel, T., Hiorth, A., Korsnes, R.I., 2013. Mineralogy, geochemistry and isotope geochemistry to reveal fluid flow process in flooded chalk under long term test conditions for EOR purposes. XV International Clay Conference, Brasil.
- Bovet, N., Yang, M., Javadi, M.S., Stipp, S.L.S., 2015. Interaction of alcohols with the calcite surface. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 17 (5), 3490–3496.
- Cuiec, L.E., 1975. Restoration of the Natural State of Core Samples SPE 5634. The 50th annual fall meeting of the Society of Petroleum Engineers of AIME, Dallas, TX, USA. Sep 28 Oct 1.
- Fabricius, I.L., Borre, M.K., 2007. Stylolites, porosity, depositional texture, and silicates in chalk facies sediments. Ontong Java Plateau–Gorm and Tyra fields, North Sea. Sedimentology 54 (1), 183–205.
- Fan, T., Buckley, J., 2007. Acid number measurements revisited SPE 99884. SPE J. 12 (4).
- Fathi, S.J., Austad, T., Strand, S., 2010. "Smart water" as a wettability modifier in chalk: the effect of salinity and ionic composition. Energy Fuels 24 (4), 2514–2519.
- Fernø, M.A., Grønsdal, R., Åsheim, J., Nyheim, A., Berge, M., Graue, A., 2011. Use of sulfate for water based enhanced oil recovery during spontaneous imbibition in chalk. Energy Fuels 25 (4), 1697–1706.
- Fjelde, I., Omekeh, A.V., Wetrhus Minde, M., 2015. Removal of mud components from reservoir sandstone rocks. In: Symposium of the Society of Core Analysts Held in St. John's Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada., St. Jhon's Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada. SCA.
- Frykman, P., 2001. Spatial variability in petrophysical properties in Upper Maastrichtian chalk outcrops at Stevns Klint, Denmark. Mar. Petrol. Geol. 18 (10), 1041–1062.
- Fulcher Jr., R.A., Ertekin, T., Stahl, C.D., 1985. Effect of capillary number and its constituents on two-phase relative permeability curves. J. Petrol. Technol. 37 (2), 249–260.
- Graue, A., Viksund, B.G., Baldwin, B.A., 1999. Reproducible wettability alteration of low-permeable outcrop chalk. SPE Reservoir Eval. Eng. 2 (2), 134–140.
- Guo, H., Dou, M., Hanqing, W., Wang, F., Yuanyuan, G., Yu, Z., Yansheng, W., Li, Y., 2015. Review of capillary number in chemical enhanced oil Recovery. In: Paper SPE 175172 Presented at the 2015 Oil and Gas Show and Conference, Mishref, Kuwait, 2015/10/11/.
- Hjuler, M.L., Fabricius, I.L., 2009. Engineering properties of chalk related to diagenetic variations of Upper Cretaceous onshore and offshore chalk in the North Sea area. J. Petrol. Sci. Eng. 68 (3), 151–170.
- Hopkins, P., Puntervold, T., Strand, S., 2015. Preserving initial core wettability during core restoration of carbonate cores. In: The International Symposium of the Society of Core Analysts. St. John's Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada, pp. 16–21.
- Hopkins, P., Walrond, K., Strand, S., Puntervold, T., Austad, T., Wakwaya, A., 2016. Adsoption of acidic crude oil components onto outcrop chalk at different wetting conditions during both dynamic adsorption and aging processes. Energy Fuels 30 (9), 7229–7235.
- Hopkins, P.A., Omland, I., Layti, F., Strand, S., Puntervold, T., Austad, T., 2017. Crude oil quantity and its effect on chalk surface wetting. Energy Fuels 31 (5), 4663–4669.
- Jurg, J.W., Eisma, E., 1964. Petroleum hydrocarbons: generation from fatty acid. Science 144 (3625), 1451.
- Karoussi, O., Skovbjerg, L.L., Hassenkam, T., Stipp, S.L.S., Hamouda, A.A., 2008. AFM study of calcite surface exposed to stearic and heptanoic acids. Colloid. Surface. Physicochem. Eng. Aspect. 325 (3), 107–114.
- Klewiah, I., Piñerez Torrijos, I.D., Strand, S., Puntervold, T., Konstantinopoulos, M., 2019. Adsorption of crude oil polar components onto silica-rich chalk and its impact on wetting. In: SPE Norway One Day Seminar, Bergen, Norway, 2019/5/13/.
- Kovalev, K., Fomkin, A., Grishin, P., Kurochkin, A., Kolesnikov, M., Levchenko, A., Afanasiev, I., Fedorchenko, G., 2016. Aged carbonate cores wettability verification. In: SPE Russian Petroleum Technology Conference and Exhibition, Moscow, Russia, 2016/10/24/.

- Maas, J., Springer, N., Birkeland, K., Bratteli, F., Howard, J., Maas, J., Reed, J., Springer, N., 2014. Advanced Core Measurements "Best Practices" for Low Reservoir Quality Chalk, first ed. SCA. JCR-7 LRQC Best Practices Manual.
- Madsen, L., Grahl-Madsen, L., Grøn, C., Lind, I., Engell, J., 1996. Adsorption of polar aromatic hydrocarbons on synthetic calcite. Org. Geochem. 24 (12), 1151–1155.
- Madsen, L., Lind, I., 1998. Adsorption of carboxylic acids on reservoir minerals from organic and aqueous phase. SPE Reservoir Eval. Eng. 1 (1), 47–51.
- Masalmeh, S.K., Jing, X.D., 2007. Improved characterisation and modelling of carbonate reservoirs for predicting waterflood performance. In: Paper IPTC 11722 Presented at the International Petroleum Technology Conference, Dubai U.A.E., 4-6 December.
- McPhee, C., Reed, J., Zubizarreta, I., 2015. Core Analysis: a Best Practice Guide. Elsevier, Amsterdam, Netherlands.
- Megawati, M., Madland, M.V., Hiorth, A., 2015. Mechanical and physical behavior of high-porosity chalks exposed to chemical perturbation. J. Petrol. Sci. Eng. 133, 313–327.
- Mjos, J.E.S., Strand, S., Puntervold, T., Gaybaliyev, H., 2018. Effect of initial wetting on smart water potential in carbonates. In: Paper Presented at the 2018 SPE EOR Conference at Oil and Gas West Asia, Muscat, Oman, 2018/3/26/.
- Puntervold, T., 2008. Waterflooding of Carbonate Reservoirs EOR by Wettability Alteration. University of Stavanger, Norway, ISBN 978-82-7644-347-9.
- Puntervold, T., Strand, S., Austad, T., 2007a. New method to prepare outcrop chalk cores for wettability and oil recovery studies at low initial water saturation. Energy Fuels 21 (6), 3425–3430.
- Puntervold, T., Strand, S., Austad, T., 2007b. Water flooding of carbonate reservoirs: effects of a model base and natural crude oil bases on chalk wettability. Energy Fuels 21 (3), 1606–1616.
- Ravari, R.R., 2011. Water-Based EOR in Limestone by Smart Water. PhD Thesis. University of Stavanger, Norway.
- Romanuka, J., Hofman, J., Ligthelm, D.J., Suijkerbuijk, B., Marcelis, F., Oedai, S., Brussee, N., van der Linde, H., Aksulu, H., Austad, T., 2012. Low salinity EOR in carbonates. In: SPE Improved Oil Recovery Symposium, Tulsa, Oklahoma, USA, 2012/1/1/.
- Røgen, B., Fabricius, I.L., 2002. Influence of clay and silica on permeability and capillary entry pressure of chalk reservoirs in the North Sea. Petrol. Geosci. 8 (3), 287–293.
- Schlumberger, 2016. Wettability " Oilfield Review: the Defining Series. Shariatpanahi, S.F., Hopkins, P., Aksulu, H., Strand, S., Puntervold, T., Austad, T., 2016.
- Water based EOR by wettability alteration in dolomite. Energy Fuels 30 (1), 180–187.
- Shariatpanahi, S.F., Strand, S., Austad, T., Aksulu, H., 2012. Wettability restoration of limestone cores using core material from the aqueous zone. Petrol. Sci. Technol. 30 (1–9).
- Shimoyama, A., Johns, W.D., 1972. Formation of alkanes from fatty acids in the presence of CaCO3. Geochem. Cosmochim. Acta 36 (1), 87–91.
- Skovbjerg, L.L., Hassenkam, T., Makovicky, E., Hem, C.P., Yang, M., Bovet, N., Stipp, S.L. S., 2012. Nano sized clay detected on chalk particle surfaces. Geochem. Cosmochim. Acta 99, 57–70.
- Skovbjerg, L.L., Okhrimenko, D.V., Khoo, J., Dalby, K.N., Hassenkam, T., Makovicky, E., Stipp, S.L.S., 2013. Preferential adsorption of hydrocarbons to nanometer-sized clay on chalk particle surfaces. Energy Fuels 27 (7), 3642–3652.
- Song, J., Wang, Q., Shaik, I., Puerto, M., Bikkina, P., Aichele, C., Biswal, S.L., Hirasaki, G. J., 2020. Effect of salinity, Mg2+ and SO42- on "smart water"-induced carbonate wettability alteration in a model oil system. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 563, 145–155.
- Springer, N., Korsbech, U., Aage, H.K., 2003. Resistivity index measurement without the porous plate: a desaturation technique based on evaporation produces uniform water saturation profiles and more reliable results for tight North Sea chalk. In: Paper Presented at the International Symposium of the Society of Core Analysts Pau, France, 21-24 Sept.
- Standal, S., Haavik, J., Blokhus, A.M., Skauge, A., 1999. Effect of polar organic components on wettability as studied by adsorption and contact angles. J. Petrol. Sci. Eng, 24 (2), 131–144.
- Standnes, D.C., Austad, T., 2000a. Wettability alteration in chalk. 1. Preparation of core material and oil properties. J. Petrol. Sci. Eng. 28 (3), 111–121.
- Standnes, D.C., Austad, T., 2000b. Wettability alteration in chalk: 1. Preparation of core material and oil properties. J. Petrol. Sci. Eng. 28 (3), 111–121.
- Strand, S., Hjuler, M.L., Torsvik, R., Pedersen, J.I., Madland, M.V., Austad, T., 2007. Wettability of chalk: impact of silica, clay content and mechanical properties. Petrol. Geosci. 13 (1), 69–80.
- Strand, S., Standnes, D.C., Austad, T., 2006. New wettability test for chalk based on chromatographic separation of SCN and SO_4^2 . J. Petrol. Sci. Eng. 52, 187–197.
- Tetteh, J.T., Veisi, M., Brady, P.V., Barati Ghahfarokhi, R., 2020. Surface reactivity analysis of the crude oil-brine-limestone interface for a comprehensive understanding of the low-salinity waterflooding mechanism. Energy Fuels 34 (3), 2739–2756.
- Zhang, P., Austad, T., 2005. The relative effects of acid number and temperature on chalk wettability. In: Paper SPE 92999 Presented at the SPE International Symposium on Oilfield Chemistry, Houston, TX, USA, 2-4 February.
Paper III

Core Restoration and its Effect on Initial Wetting of NCS Sandstone Reservoir Cores

P. Aslanidis, I. D. Piñerez T., S. Strand, T. Puntervold

Peer reviewed conference paper presented at the 35th International Symposium of the Society of Core Analysts, TX, US, SCA2021-032 This paper is not included due to copyright.

Paper IV

Influence of Sandstone Mineralogy on the Adsorption of Polar Crude oil Components and its Effect on Wettability

A. Mamonov, P. Aslanidis, N. Fazilani, T. Puntervold, S. Strand

Energy and fuels, 2022

energy&fuels

Influence of Sandstone Mineralogy on the Adsorption of Polar Crude Oil Components and Its Effect on Wettability

Aleksandr Mamonov, Panagiotis Aslanidis, Novia Fazilani, Tina Puntervold,* and Skule Strand

Cite This: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.energyfuels.2c01540



ACCESS

III Metrics & More

ABSTRACT: The crude oil-brine-rock (COBR) system is a combination of contacting phases where polar organic molecules in crude oil, inorganic ions from the brine phase, and charged mineral surfaces participate in complex interactions. One of the surface phenomena that occur in the COBR system is the adsorption of polar crude oil components, which can directly affect the capillary forces and wettability of the rock. The purpose of this research work was to determine polar organic component (POC) adsorption trends for sandstones of different origins and mineralogical compositions. Adsorption preferences for acidic and basic POCs were quantified by potentiometric titration during dynamic core flooding tests using modified crude oil. The influence of POC adsorption on wettability was investigated by evaluating capillary forces during the displacement of oil in a spontaneous imbibition (SI)



process. The results of this work showed a clear relationship between the intensity of POC adsorption and sandstone mineralogy. Greater adsorption capacity and a predominant affinity for bases compared to that for acids were found in the sandstone material containing a sufficient amount of reactive illite clay minerals. On the other hand, the sandstone material consisting mainly of quartz with an insignificant content of kaolinite clay did not show a pronounced tendency to adsorb POCs. All the studied rock materials have also shown a significant impact of POC adsorption on capillary forces and wettability, confirmed during SI tests. As a result, a detailed mineralogical analysis along with crude oil chemistry is required to properly evaluate sandstone wettability and competently plan core flooding laboratory studies.

INTRODUCTION

Wettability dictates the location of fluids in the reservoir and influences fluid flow during water injection. For an improved oil recovery (IOR) method, such as Smart Water or lowsalinity water injection, relying on wettability alteration, the initial wettability of the reservoir is an important characteristic. To observe wettability alteration to more water-wet conditions, the reservoir must be of an initial less water-wet state.

The initial wettability of a crude oil-brine-rock system (COBR) is mainly dictated by the interactions between active polar organic components (POCs) and the rock minerals in presence of brine. POCs present in the crude oil adsorb onto the mineral surfaces of the rocks, creating the wetting conditions. Crude oils are complex mixtures consisting of thousands of different chemical compounds, including groups of saturates, aromatics, resins, and asphaltenes. The two latter groups contain the heavier components, of which the "NSO compounds", those containing nitrogen (N), sulfur (S), and oxygen (O), are part. The crude oil components that have affinity for a charged mineral surface are the polar organic acids and bases, represented by O-containing carboxylic acids and N-containing aromatic compounds, respectively. Experimental work related to the basic content in crude oils from the

Norwegian continental shelf (NCS) has suggested that the bases are part of the maltenes, present in the resin fraction.^{1,2} Additionally, a previous adsorption work by Mamonov et al.³ has shown substantial adsorption of bases onto sandstone surfaces from a low-asphaltene crude oil.

The charges of polar organic acids and bases in contact with water depend on the pH of the water phase according to eqs 1 and 2

	Alkaline pH <u>Acidic pH</u>			
Basic material	$R_3N: + H_2O \rightleftharpoons \mathbf{R_3NH^+} + OH^-$			
	Acidic pH Alkaline pH			
Acidic material	$\mathbf{R} - \mathbf{COOH} + H_2 0 \rightleftharpoons \mathbf{RCOO}^- + H_3 0^+$	(2)		

Received: May 13, 2022 Revised: August 11, 2022



At an acidic pH (pH < 7 at 25 $^{\circ}$ C), the polar organic bases are positively charged, while at an increased alkalinity (pH > 7 at 25 °C), they are neutrally charged. In the case of the polar organic acids, they are protonated and have a neutral charge at a low pH and become deprotonated and negatively charged at an alkaline pH. Therefore, the wettability of a charged mineral surface is dependent on the formation brine pH. Nenningsland et al.² studied the interfacial activity of crude oils and found that it was at its highest around a pH of 5. Basic oil components dominated the interfacial reactivity at a pH below 5, when the protonated fraction is higher, as shown in eq 1, while non-bases were more dominant at a higher pH, when, for example, carboxylic acids are deprotonated, as shown in eq 2. The influence of pH on adsorption of polar organic material onto various clay mineral surfaces has been reported previously.4

It is reported that polar organic acids, quantified by the acid number (AN) in crude oil, dictate the wettability in chalk,^{8,9} a positively charged $CaCO_3$ rock having an alkaline pH in the presence of brine. However, Fathi et al.^{10,11} found that waterextractable acids from crude oil seemed to influence the chalk wettability more than the non-extractable acids. The waterextractable acids were also found to be more difficult to desorb in wettability alteration processes. Polar organic bases present in crude oil, quantified by the base number (BN), were found to only play a minor role for chalk wettability.¹² However, Puntervold et al.¹² also observed that the small model base, benzyl amine, influenced chalk wettability by co-adsorption with crude oil acids to the chalk surface. Interfacial activities of different crude oil naphthenic acids and bases at low and high molecular weights were studied by Bertheussen et al.¹³ They found that the acids partitioned into the water phase to a higher degree than the bases and that the low-molecularweight acid partitioned to a higher degree than the highermolecular-weight acid, regardless of pH. The higher molecular weight base did not partition into the water phase at the pH range studied. Hence, individual components in the crude oil acid and base fractions are expected to have varying reactivity toward water and rock surfaces based on, for example, their size, steric hindrance, number of functional groups, and so on. Thus, it should be emphasized that there is not a direct link between the AN, BN, and molecular reactivity.

The adsorption preference of acids over bases has been identified and quantified for pure chalk.¹⁴ In a silica-containing chalk, it was observed that although its preference for acidic components was maintained, increasing adsorption of basic components was observed.¹⁵ This was attributed to the presence of negatively charged silica minerals, which preferably adsorbed neutrally charged basic molecules over negatively charged acidic molecules in an alkaline pH environment.

The presence and distribution of clay minerals in the pore network of sandstone rock can have a significant influence on the crude oil adsorption processes. Due to an unbalanced negative surface charge, clay minerals can adsorb/desorb charged crude oil molecules and react with the aqueous phase through ion exchange.¹⁶ Clay minerals have a layered structure and a larger cation exchange capacity (CEC) and surface area than other sandstone minerals.¹⁷ It has been shown that the adsorption of POCs onto quartz and the feldspar mineral albite was low,¹⁸ both of which possess lower CEC and surface area than clay minerals.¹⁷ Recently, Mamonov et al.³ performed an adsorption study on an outcrop sandstone containing approximately 60 weight per cent (wt %) quartz, ~30 wt %

albite feldspar, and ~9 wt % of illite clay mineral. It was shown that the negatively charged silicate surfaces had a stronger affinity to positively charged basic POCs, while adsorbing less negatively charged carboxylates (dissociated carboxylic acids).³ The adsorption was quantified, and only about 30% of the crude oil bases adsorbed to the rock surface, while only ~10% of the acids were found to adsorb. A spontaneous imbibition (SI) test performed after the crude oil flooding and adsorption proved that the core had become mixed-wet after the adsorption of polar organic bases from the crude oil.

In many laboratories, to establish the initial core wettability, the core sample is flooded with a crude oil to displace the formation water (FW) to initial water saturation. In this process, many and inconsistent pore volumes (PVs) of crude oil can be used depending on the rock properties. Recently, Aslanidis et al.¹⁹ investigated the wettability changes of reservoir sandstone material after crude oil exposure in several core restorations using mild solvents (kerosene/heptane). SI tests were performed to evaluate the level of wettability after each restoration step. The results in Figure 1 demonstrate the



Figure 1. Effect of 11 PVs of crude oil exposure on core wettability in two core restorations using mild solvents (kerosene/heptane). Modified with permission from Aslanidis et al.¹⁹ Copyright 2022 Elsevier.

effect of 11 PVs of crude oil exposure in each restoration process on core wettability. The apparent decrease in the rate of imbibition and the difference in ultimate oil recovery of 10% of the original oil in place (OOIP) between core restorations indicate that the exposure of uncontrolled amounts of crude oil into a core could have a detrimental effect on wettability. Thus, an optimized amount of crude oil should be injected into the core to establish the initial oil saturation and representative wettability, and more work is needed to further understand the process of initial crude oil adsorption in sandstone rocks.

The main goal of this experimental work was to study the influence of the sandstone mineralogical composition on the adsorption of POCs and the subsequent change in wettability. Two sandstone rock materials of different mineralogical compositions and origins (reservoir and outcrop) were used in adsorption tests. The Varg reservoir core used had a similar mineralogy to the outcrop used by Mamonov et al.,³ while the Leopard outcrop core had a low clay content and consisted mainly of the quartz mineral. The effect of POC adsorption on wettability was determined by comparing the obtained SI results to those from a water-wet reference case. The research questions asked were the following: (1) Does reservoir

Table 1. Mineralogical Composition

mineral composition (wt %)									
		fe	ldspars	clays					
sandstone	quartz	albite	microcline	kaolinite	illite	chlorite	carbonate	others	sum
V	62.3	8.4	4.5	1.1	15.4	2.5	5.0	0.8	100
L	93.9	0.5		2.5			0.1	3	100

sandstone with a similar mineralogy behave the same as the outcrop sandstone regarding POC adsorption and effect on wettability? (2) How does an outcrop sandstone of low clay/ feldspar content adsorb POCs compared to the other two rock materials?

EXPERIMENTAL SECTION

Core Material. Leopard outcrop sandstone, abbreviated L, and reservoir sandstone from the Varg field on the NCS, abbreviated V, were used in the experimental work. The core material was represented by well-consolidated samples. No change in permeability or particle migration was observed in any of the experimental stages. Mineralogical compositions obtained by X-ray diffraction (XRD) analysis are presented in Table 1. The physical properties of the cores are presented in Table 2.

Table 2. Core Properties

core	diameter (cm)	length (cm)	PV (mL)	porosity (%)	permeability (mD)	$\frac{BET}{(m^2/g)}$
V9S2	3.8	7.73	18.7	21	11	3
L1	3.8	6.27	14	19.6	220	2

Brines. Synthetic formation water (FW20Ca) containing 20 mM Ca^{2+} in a NaCl brine with a salinity of 50,000 ppm was prepared in the laboratory by dissolving reagent-grade salts in deionized water, followed by filtration through a Millipore 0.22 μ m filter. FW20Ca was used for establishing the initial water saturation, S_{wi} , before exposure to crude oil and as an imbibing brine in SI tests. Brine composition and properties are given in Table 3.

Table 3. Brine Composition and Properties

	ion con	nposition,	(mM)		
brine	Na^+	Ca ²⁺	Cl-	salinity, ppm	bulk pH
FW20Ca	817.6	20	857.6	50 000	6.3

Crude Oil. A modified crude oil, oil A, with a similar content of acidic and basic POCs was prepared for the adsorption tests by mixing three low-asphaltene crude oils of known AN and BN in certain proportions so that the resulting AN and BN values were close to 0.2 mg KOH/g. The target value was chosen to be able to detect the adsorbed POC during core flooding with minimal uncertainty in the chemical analyses. As a result of the modification, oil A contained similar amounts of acidic and basic POCs, which are naturally present in low-asphaltene crude oils and exhibit typical surface reactivity. The properties of the modified crude oil are given in Table 4.

Core Cleaning. The reservoir core V9S2 was rigorously cleaned to bring the initial wettability conditions close to the water-wet state.

Table 4. Crude Oil Properties

			AN	BN	absolute error
crude oil	density at 20 $^{\circ}C$ (g/cm ³)	asphaltene (wt %)		mg KO	H/g
Α	0.8	≪1	0.23	0.23	±0.02

Crude oil was displaced by toluene until a clear effluent was obtained, and then, toluene was displaced by methanol. The cleaning cycle was completed by flooding 1000 ppm NaCl brine to remove any easily dissolvable salts while at the same time avoiding potential clay swelling, although the latter is not expected due to the absence of swelling clays such as smectite and montmorillonite. The outcrop core L1 has not been previously exposed to crude oil and thus was only cleaned by 1000 ppm NaCl brine injection. After cleaning, both cores were dried to a constant weight at 90 °C.

Initial Water Saturation. Prior to crude oil exposure, the cleaned and dried cores were flooded with five times diluted FW20Ca to measure the absolute permeability and establish the initial water saturation (S_{wi}) using the desiccator method introduced by Springer et al.²⁰ The saturated core samples were placed in a desiccator for water evaporation, and the weight of the cores was monitored until it reached the predetermined, calculated value. The dilution rate of the FW was chosen to achieve the initial composition of FW20Ca at $S_{wi} \sim 20\%$ after water evaporation. Upon reaching the desired weight, the cores were placed in a closed container for 3 days for equilibration.

Crude Oil Adsorption Test. After S_{wi} had been established, the core was mounted in a Hassler core holder for crude oil exposure in the adsorption test. The experimental setup is shown in Figure 2. A



Figure 2. Crude oil flooding setup.

confining pressure of 20 bar, a back pressure of 10 bar, and a temperature of 60 $^{\circ}$ C were used. Oil A was injected into the core at a rate of 0.1 mL/min. The produced crude oil was collected using a fraction collector, and the AN and BN were measured by potentiometric titration. The adsorption of polar organic acids and bases was evaluated by plotting effluent AN and BN values against the PV injected.

Acid and Base Number Measurements. Potentiometric titration using a Mettler Toledo T50 auto-titrator was performed to measure the AN and BN of the influent and effluent oil samples. The methods used were developed by Fan and Buckley²¹ and are modified versions of the standard methods ASTM D664 and ASTM D2896 for AN and BN titration, respectively.^{22,23} The reproducibility values of both AN and BN measurements were ± 0.02 mg KOH/g.

Oil Recovery by Spontaneous Imbibition. For determining the wettability state of the core, SI experiments were performed. After the cores had been exposed to crude oil, they were placed in an Amott cell and submerged in FW20Ca at a test temperature of 60 °C. The oil produced by brine imbibition was collected in a graded burette and monitored over time. No aging prior to the SI test was performed. SI of a completely water-wet sample was performed using *n*-heptane

С

(C7) as the oil phase and FW20Ca as the imbibing brine. The tests were performed on cleaned cores with an established $S_{wi} = 20\%$ and at a test temperature of 60 °C.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The work aimed to investigate relationships between the mineralogical composition of the sandstone material, its origin, and the adsorption preference for the organic crude oil components. For adsorption studies, two sandstone cores of different origins (reservoir and outcrop) and with significantly different quantitative and qualitative mineralogical compositions were used. The influence of POC adsorption on capillary forces and wettability was determined by comparing SI curves before and after exposure to crude oil. Finally, the results were compared with previously published data from POC adsorption on another outcrop sandstone.¹⁵

Adsorption of Crude Oil Components on Reservoir Sandstone and Its Impact on Wettability. To obtain detailed mineralogical information, a rock sample from the V9S2 core was studied using scanning electron microscopy (SEM) combined with energy-dispersive spectroscopy (EDS). An SEM image of the material is shown in Figure 3.



Figure 3. SEM image of the reservoir V-sandstone at a 4000 times magnification.

Approximate identification of minerals in the SEM image was carried out by comparative analysis of the EDS and XRD data. As can be seen from Figure 3, the mixture of reactive sandstone minerals (clays and feldspars) covers the quartz minerals and hence defines a significant part of the rock—fluid contact surfaces in the pore structure. With this distribution, reactive minerals can serve as a surface for adsorption/ desorption of polar crude oil components, as well as react with the surrounding water phase through ion exchange.

V-sandstone reservoir cores obtained from the Varg field on the NCS have previously been used in wettability studies that indicated that the reservoir rock was initially slightly waterwet.¹⁹ Therefore, prior to POC adsorption studies, the reservoir core V9S2 was cleaned with toluene and methanol to bring the initial rock wetting state closer to strongly waterwet conditions. The initial wetting was then confirmed by a SI test using *n*-heptane (C7) as the oil phase and S_{wi} of 20% FW20Ca. The SI test was conducted at 60 °C with FW20Ca as the imbibing brine. The results are shown in Figure 4. A strongly water-wet behavior was indicated by a rapid initial C7



Figure 4. Oil recovery test performed on a strongly water-wet core V9S2 by SI with FW20Ca at 60 °C. Prior to the test, the core was cleaned with toluene and methanol and restored with $S_{wi} = 20\%$ FW20Ca and mineral oil (C7).

recovery of 50% of OOIP after 2 h with an ultimate value of 54% of OOIP reached after \sim 7 days. The steep oil recovery profile corresponds to strong capillary forces that allow for rapid water imbibition and displacement of the oil phase. The results of this SI test were further used as a reference case for the strongly water-wet behavior of the V9S2 core.

After the SI test, the V9S2 core was dried and restored with $S_{wi} = 20\%$ FW20Ca. Then, the crude oil adsorption test was performed by flooding oil A with a similar content of acidic and basic POCs through the core at a rate of 0.1 mL/min at 60 °C. Knowing the influent AN and BN values (0.23 mg KOH/g), the adsorption of POCs was determined by monitoring the AN and BN in the produced oil samples, measured by potentiometric titration. The BN and AN of effluent and influent (bulk) oil A samples are presented in Figure 5.

Instant adsorption of both acidic and basic POCs was observed at the first contact of oil A with the brine–rock system and resulted in the largest reduction in the effluent AN (0.17 mg KOH/g) and BN (0.12 mg KOH/g) compared to their bulk values (0.23 mg KOH/g). Further flooding of oil A through the V9S2 core led to extensive adsorption of basic polar components, which continued throughout ~6 PVs injected, with subsequent achievement of the adsorption equilibrium, that is, $BN_{effluent} \approx BN_{influent}$ Figure 5a. The acidic POC, on the other hand, did not show a high affinity for V-sandstone mineral surfaces, confirmed by the absence of continuous adsorption and the rapid achievement of adsorption equilibrium, as shown in Figure 5b.

To determine the effect of POC adsorption on wettability, the V9S2 core was placed for the SI test after the exposure to 10 PVs of oil A without additional aging. The SI test was performed at 60 °C using FW20Ca as the imbibing brine. The results of the SI test are presented in comparison with the reference case of the strongly water-wet behavior of the V9S2 core, as shown in Figure 6. A comparison of the SI test results shows a significant reduction in water wetness of the core after exposure to crude oil. The more gradual production of crude oil A, together with the longer time needed to reach the ultimate oil recovery plateau (47% of OOIP achieved in 23 days), indicates that the observed adsorption of the basic POC significantly reduced the capillary forces. Moreover, the instant effect of POC adsorption on wettability is observed despite the absence of an additional aging process prior to the SI test.

D



Figure 5. Adsorption of basic and acidic POCs onto reservoir V-sandstone during crude oil flooding at 60 °C. 10 PVs of oil A (AN = BN = 0.23 mg KOH/g) were injected into core V9S2 with $S_{wi} = 20\%$ FW20Ca and at a rate of 0.1 mL/min. Produced oil samples were analyzed for (a) BN and (b) AN and plotted against the PV of crude oil injected.



Figure 6. Comparison between SI oil recovery tests performed on the strongly water-wet reservoir core V9S2 and on the same core after exposure to 10 PVs of oil A. Both tests were carried at 60 $^{\circ}$ C using FW20Ca as an imbibing brine.

Adsorption of Crude Oil Components on Outcrop Sandstone and Its Impact on Wettability. The Vsandstone reservoir core material contained a relatively large amount of reactive minerals, namely, ~8 wt % albite feldspars and \sim 15 wt % illite clay minerals, distributed as a mixture in the rock matrix, as shown in Table 2 and Figure 3. As the opposite case, an outcrop L-sandstone core with a significantly smaller amount of clay and feldspar minerals was selected for identical crude oil adsorption studies. The L-sandstone outcrop core was mainly composed of ~94 wt % quartz minerals, with a small content, \sim 2.5 wt %, of kaolinite clay and ~0.5 wt % of albite feldspar, as shown in Table 2. The distribution of minerals in the pore structure of the rock was studied using SEM/EDS/XRD analyses and is presented in Figure 7. Despite the relatively small amount of clay minerals quantified by XRD analysis, SEM/EDS results show that kaolinite clays occupy a certain part of the pore space and thus can react with the contacting oil phase, hence adsorbing the POC.

The outcrop core L1 had not been previously exposed to crude oil and was therefore in a completely water-wet state. To



Figure 7. SEM image of the outcrop L-sandstone material with a 500 times magnification.

assess the action of capillary forces, core L1 was tested by SI using *n*-heptane (C7) as the oil phase and $S_{wi} = 23\%$ FW20Ca. The SI test was conducted at 60 °C with FW20Ca as the imbibing brine. The results are shown in Figure 8. During the first few hours of the SI test, the FW20Ca brine was rapidly imbibing, resulting in the oil recovery reaching 35% of OOIP. After 2 days, the system reached an oil recovery plateau of 37% of OOIP, confirming a strongly water-wet behavior. The results of this SI test were further used to assess the change in wettability after crude oil adsorption.

After the SI test, the L1 core was dried and again restored with $S_{wi} = 21\%$ FW20Ca. The ability of L-sandstone mineral surfaces to adsorb POCs was then examined by performing an oil exposure test at 60 °C and at an injection rate of 0.1 mL/ min. Produced oil samples were analyzed by potentiometric titration to identify any deviations in the effluent AN and BN compared to the influent bulk values. The results are presented in Figure 9. During the first 4 PVs injected, the eluted oil samples had a BN of 0.25 mg KOH/g, which is identical to the influent BN values and indicates the absence of retained basic components, as shown in Figure 9a. Further injection of oil A

Е



Figure 8. SI test on the completely water-wet outcrop sandstone core L1 at T = 60 °C. The core with an established $S_{wi} = 23\%$ was saturated with mineral oil (C7) and spontaneously imbibed with FW20Ca until a recovery plateau was reached.

showed a slight reduction of the effluent BNs compared to bulk values; however, a pronounced BN adsorption trend, similar to that of the V9S2 reservoir core, was not observed. Acidic components seemingly had higher affinity toward Lsandstone mineral surfaces, which was reflected in the reduced effluent ANs during the first 5 PVs injected, followed by the achievement of the adsorption equilibrium, as shown in Figure 9b. Nevertheless, no significant and continued adsorption of acidic components was observed, and with the uncertainty of the chemical analysis of ± 0.02 mg KOH/g in mind, it was concluded that the overall adsorption of POCs onto Lsandstone was rather low.

Upon completion of the oil adsorption test, the L1 core sample was directly placed for an SI experiment without additional aging. The SI test was conducted at 60 °C using FW20Ca as the imbibing brine. Comparison between SI experiments performed on a completely water-wet core L1 and after crude oil adsorption is presented in Figure 10. The results show a significant reduction in the speed of imbibition after oil A exposure compared to that in the completely water-wet reference case. A recovery plateau of 34% of OOIP (oil A) was reached after 13 days, while the initial wettability test with mineral oil resulted in a recovery plateau of 37% of OOIP



Figure 10. Comparison between SI oil recovery tests performed on a completely water-wet outcrop core L1 and on the same core after exposure to 10 PVs of oil A. Both tests were carried out at 60 $^{\circ}$ C using FW20Ca as the imbibing brine.

(C7) after only 1 day. It is important to note that the primary indicator of the wettability change is the imbibition rate and not the ultimate oil recovery as this will also depend on the oil/ brine interfacial tension (IFT). Thus, a comparison of the SI test results shows that despite the absence of a clear POC adsorption trend on the L-sandstone material (Figure 9), the exposure to crude oil distinctly affected the capillary forces required to mobilize the oil.

A direct comparison of SI results for the two sandstone cores shown in Figures 6 and 10 would be incorrect due to, for example, differences in the pore structure, mineralogical composition, and amount of adsorbed crude oil components. However, ultimate recovery was used as a proxy for the core wettability before and after the adsorption test. The significant difference between crude oil and C7 ultimate recovery in Vsandstone in Figure 6 indicates a less water-wet state achieved by crude oil flooding. On the contrary, with a low adsorption of crude oil acids and bases onto L-sandstone, it is expected that the resulting wettability state will be close to a completely water-wet scenario, as observed by the small difference in the ultimate recovery of crude oil and C7 in Figure 10.



Figure 9. Adsorption of acidic and basic POCs onto L-sandstone during crude oil flooding. 10 PVs of modified crude oil (AN \approx BN \approx 0.25 mg KOH/g) were injected into core L1 with S_{wi} = 21% at 60 °C and at a rate of 0.1 mL/min. Effluent oil samples were analyzed for (a) BN and (b) AN and plotted against PVs of crude oil injected.

				AN _{ads}	BN _{ads}	$AN_{ads} + BN_{ads}$	
sandstone material	origin	dominant clay type	BET, m^2/g		PV*mg K	OH/g	$\mathrm{BN}_{\mathrm{ads}}/\mathrm{AN}_{\mathrm{ads}}$
V	reservoir	Illite-15.4 wt %	3	0.04	0.45	0.49	10.3
L	outcrop	Kaolinite-2.5 wt %	2	0.12	0.06	0.18	0.5
Т	outcrop	Illite-8.4 wt %	1.8	0.10	0.66	0.76	6.5

Table 5. Quantitative Assessment of POC Adsorption onto Various Sandstone Material during Crude Oil Flooding

Table 6. Percentage of Adsorbed Acidic and Basic POCs during Various Crude Oil Flooding Tests

sandstone material	modified oil used for adsorption studies	asphaltene (wt %)	AN mg K	BN OH/g	total PVs injected	% adsorbed acidic POC	% adsorbed basic POC
V	oil A	<1	0.23	0.23	10	1.9	21.3
L	oil A	<1	0.24	0.25	10	5.5	2.4
Т	oil T	<1	0.17	0.23	10	6.6	31.9

Factors Affecting Adsorption of Crude Oil Components and Wettability. The main factors affecting the intensity of POC adsorption in the COBR system are the presence and distribution of reactive minerals in the rock structure, the chemical composition of crude oil, salinity and pH of FW, and temperature. The above parametric studies were focused on determining the adsorption propensity for acidic and basic POCs onto V- and L-sandstone materials with significant differences in the mineralogical composition. The trapezoidal method was then used to quantify the amount of adsorbed acidic and basic organic components during crude oil injection. The principle of this method is based on the calculation of the area between the influent and effluent AN or BN curves using numerical integration. An example of calculating the adsorption area for the AN is shown in eq 3.

$$AN_{ads} = (AN_i)(PV_n) - \sum_{x=0}^{n} \frac{AN_x + AN_{x+1}}{2}(PV_{x+1} - PV_x)$$
(3)

where PV_n is the number of PVs injected for the eluted crude oil to reach AN_i (influent AN); PV_x and PV_{x+1} are the injected pore volumes in integration steps x and x + 1, respectively; and AN_x and AN_{x+1} are the values of the AN in the eluted oil after injecting the pore volumes PV_x and PV_{x+1} , respectively.

Quantification of adsorbed acidic and basic POCs was performed for V- and L-sandstones and compared with previously published results for T-sandstone material, for which similar adsorption studies were carried out.¹⁵ The results are shown in Table 5. The adsorption capacity of the studied rocks, determined by the total adsorption area (AN_{ads} + BN_{ads}), showed that L-sandstone material retained 3 times less crude oil components compared to V-sandstone and 4 times less compared to T-sandstone.¹⁵ This can be explained by the type of clay minerals (kaolinite) present in the composition of the L-rock and their low content (2.5 wt %). Most of the accessible surfaces in L-sandstone are composed of quartz minerals, which generally have a low POC adsorption potential, as confirmed by previously published static adsorption studies.²⁴ Similar studies have also shown that kaolinite clays only have half the adsorption capacity compared to illite clays in static tests.⁶ V- and T-sandstones, which are similar in mineralogical composition, have shown similar adsorption trends with a predominant affinity of basic components over acidic components, $BN_{ads}/AN_{ads} = 10.3$ and 6.5, respectively.

The highest BN_{ads}/AN_{ads} ratio and adsorption capacity $(AN_{ads} + BN_{ads})$ were observed for the outcrop T-sandstone, despite the lower BET surface area and illite clay content than that of V-sandstone. This could be the result of using a different modified crude oil (oil T) for the adsorption studies on T-sandstone. Despite the identical BN = 0.23 mg KOH/g in oil A and oil T, the basic components originated from different adsorption affinities on the same mineral surfaces, which is difficult to determine by potentiometric titration since this analytical method only gives a quantitative measure of the adsorption and the identification of the most reactive components with high affinity toward mineral surfaces are topics for further research.

To estimate the fraction of polar components adsorbed during oil injection, mass balance calculations between the influent and effluent AN and BN were carried out for all the studied rocks. The resulting percentages of adsorbed acidic and basic POCs during crude oil flooding tests on V-, L-, and T-sandstone materials, along with the modified oil properties, are presented in Table 6. The results show that with a more pronounced adsorption of basic components on V- and T-sandstones, the fraction of POCs retained in the core does not exceed $\sim 20-30\%$. This indicates that only the most reactive polar molecules are adsorbed, while the rest of the POCs remain in the oil phase. Compared to other studied rocks, the mineral surfaces of L-sandstone material retained a negligible amount of POCs with over 90% of acids and bases passing through the core without adsorbing.

Despite the difference in mineralogical composition and the corresponding difference in POC adsorption capacity, all studied sandstones showed reduced water-wetness after exposure to crude oil. The change in wettability toward the less water-wet state is associated with a decrease in capillary forces as a result of POC adsorption, which was mainly reflected in a slower and more gradual oil recovery in the subsequent SI process.

CONCLUSIONS

The influence of sandstone mineralogical composition on the adsorption of polar crude oil components has been studied in a dynamic oil flooding process. A COBR system was chosen with (a) modified crude oil containing similar amounts of acids and bases, AN \approx BN, (b) FW of medium salinity containing divalent calcium ions (Ca²⁺), and (c) reservoir and outcrop

sandstone core materials with different mineralogical compositions. With the crude oil, rock material, and brines used in this study, the following conclusions could be drawn

- The different mineralogical compositions of the studied sandstones had a significant effect on the intensity of POC adsorption. The outcrop material containing only a limited amount of clay minerals showed low adsorption capacity and no apparent adsorption affinity for acidic or basic components. Conversely, the reservoir sandstone material containing a larger amount of illite clay minerals showed a clear tendency to adsorb basic POCs.
- 2. A comparison between reservoir and outcrop sandstones with similar mineralogical compositions showed similar POC adsorption trends and a predominant affinity for bases over acids.
- 3. All studied rock materials showed a clear deviation from the initial strongly water-wet behavior after exposure to crude oil.
- 4. The amount of adsorbed POCs showed a dependence on the number of PVs of the injected crude oil. Thus, excessive exposure to crude oil during the core restoration process can significantly affect the wettability of the core and potentially lead to misinterpretation of subsequent oil recovery results.

AUTHOR INFORMATION

Corresponding Author

Tina Puntervold – The National IOR Centre of Norway, University of Stavanger, Stavanger 4036, Norway; orcid.org/0000-0002-5944-7275; Email: tina.puntervold@uis.no

Authors

Aleksandr Mamonov – The National IOR Centre of Norway, University of Stavanger, Stavanger 4036, Norway; orcid.org/0000-0002-3800-9364

Panagiotis Aslanidis – The National IOR Centre of Norway, University of Stavanger, Stavanger 4036, Norway

Novia Fazilani – The National IOR Centre of Norway, University of Stavanger, Stavanger 4036, Norway

Skule Strand – The National IOR Centre of Norway, University of Stavanger, Stavanger 4036, Norway

Complete contact information is available at: https://pubs.acs.org/10.1021/acs.energyfuels.2c01540

Notes

The authors declare no competing financial interest.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors acknowledge the University of Stavanger, the Research Council of Norway, and the industry partners, ConocoPhillips Skandinavia AS, Aker BP ASA, Vår Energi AS, Equinor ASA, Neptune Energy Norge AS, Lundin Norway AS, Halliburton AS, Schlumberger Norge AS, and Wintershall Dea, of The National IOR Centre of Norway for support.

REFERENCES

(1) Barth, T.; Høiland, S.; Fotland, P.; Askvik, K. M.; Myklebust, R.; Erstad, K. Relationship between the content of asphaltenes and bases in some crude oils. *Energy Fuels* **2005**, *19*, 1624–1630.

(2) Nenningsland, A. L.; Simon, S.; Sjöblom, J. Surface properties of basic components extracted from petroleum crude oil. *Energy Fuels* **2010**, *24*, 6501–6505.

(3) Mamonov, A.; Kvandal, O. A.; Strand, S.; Puntervold, T. Adsorption of polar organic components onto sandstone rock minerals and its effect on wettability and enhanced oil recovery potential by Smart Water. *Energy Fuels* **2019**, *33*, 5954–5960.

(4) Burgos, W. D.; Pisutpaisal, N.; Mazzarese, M. C.; Chorover, J. Adsorption of quinoline to kaolinite and montmorillonite. *Environ. Eng. Sci.* **2002**, *19*, 59–68.

(5) Madsen, L.; Lind, I. Adsorption of carboxylic acids on reservoir minerals from organic and aqueous phase. *SPE Reservoir Eval. Eng.* **1998**, *1*, 47–51.

(6) RezaeiDoust, A.; Puntervold, T.; Austad, T. Chemical verification of the EOR mechanism by using low saline/smart water in sandstone. *Energy Fuels* **2011**, *25*, 2151–2162.

(7) Fogden, A. Removal of crude oil from kaolinite by water flushing at varying salinity and pH. *Colloids Surf., A* **2012**, *402*, 13–23.

(8) Zhang, P.; Austad, T. The relative effects of acid number and temperature on chalk wettability. *Paper SPE 92999 presented at the SPE International Symposium on Oilfield Chemistry*; Houston, TX, USA, 2–4 February 2005.

(9) Standnes, D. C.; Austad, T. Wettability alteration in chalk. J. Pet. Sci. Eng. 2000, 28, 111-121.

(10) Fathi, S. J.; Austad, T.; Strand, S. Effect of water-extractable carboxylic acids in crude oil on wettability in carbonates. *Energy Fuels* **2011**, *25*, 2587–2592.

(11) Fathi, S. J.; Austad, T.; Strand, S.; Puntervold, T. Wettability alteration in carbonates: The effect of water-soluble carboxylic acids in crude oil. *Energy Fuels* **2010**, *24*, 2974–2979.

(12) Puntervold, T.; Strand, S.; Austad, T. Water flooding of carbonate reservoirs: Effects of a model base and natural crude oil bases on chalk wettability. *Energy Fuels* **2007**, *21*, 1606–1616.

(13) Bertheussen, A.; Simon, S.; Sjöblom, J. Equilibrium partitioning of naphtenic acids and bases and their consequences on interfacial properties. *Colloids Surf.*, A **2017**, 529, 45–56.

(14) Hopkins, P.; Strand, S.; Puntervold, T.; Austad, T.; Dizaj, S. R.; Waldeland, J. O.; Simonsen, J. C. The adsorption of polar components onto carbonate surfaces and the effect on wetting. *J. Pet. Sci. Eng.* **2016**, *147*, 381–387.

(15) Puntervold, T.; Mamonov, A.; Piñerez Torrijos, I. D.; Strand, S. Adsorption of crude oil components onto carbonate and sandstone outcrop rocks and its effect on wettability. *Energy Fuels* **2021**, *35*, 5738–5747.

(16) Velde, B. Origin and Mineralogy of Clays: Clays and the Environment; Springer (Reprint): Berlin, Germany, 1995.

(17) Allard, B.; Karlsson, M.; Tullborg, E.-L.; Larson, S. Å. Ion Exchange Capacities and Surface Areas of Some Major Components and Common Fracture Filling Materials of Igneous Rocks; KBS Technical Reports: Göteborg, Sweden, 1983.

(18) Mamonov, A.; Puntervold, T.; Strand, S. In EOR by Smart Water Flooding in Sandstone Reservoirs—Effect of Sandstone Mineralogy on Initial Wetting and Oil Recovery. SPE Russian Petroleum Technology Conference, Moscow, Russia, 16-18 Oct, 2017.

(19) Aslanidis, P.; Strand, S.; Piñerez Torrijos, I. D.; Puntervold, T. Reproducing wettability in sandstone reservoir core material in laboratory core restorations. *J. Pet. Sci. Eng.* **2022**, *208*, 109531.

(20) Springer, N.; Korsbech, U.; Aage, H. K. Resistivity index measurement without the porous plate: A desaturation technique based on evaporation produces uniform water saturation profiles and more reliable results for tight North Sea chalk. Paper presented at the *International Symposium of the Society of Core Analysts Pau;* France, 2003, Vol. 21–24.

(21) Fan, T.; Buckley, J. Acid number measurements revisited—SPE 99884. SPE J. 2007, 12, 496–500.

(22) ASTM International. ASTM2896-88 Standard test method for base number of petroleum products by potentiometric perchloric acid

titration. In *Annual Book of ASTM Standards;* American Society for Testing Materials: Philadelphia, 1988.

(23) ASTM International. ASTM664-89 Standard test method for acid number of petroleum products by potentiometric titration. In *Annual Book of ASTM Standards*; American Society for Testing Materials: Philadelphia, 1989.

(24) Puntervold, T.; Mamonov, A.; Aghaeifar, Z.; Frafjord, G. O.; Moldestad, G. M.; Strand, S.; Austad, T. Role of kaolinite clay minerals in enhanced oil recovery by low salinity water injection. *Energy Fuels* **2018**, *32*, 7374–7382.

Recommended by ACS

Changing Sandstone Rock Wettability with Supercritical CO₂-Based Silylation

Eghan Arjomand, Colin D. Wood, et al. JANUARY 30, 2020 ENERGY & FUELS

READ 🗹

Effect of Sulfate-Based Scales on Calcite Mineral Surface Chemistry: Insights from Zeta-Potential Experiments and Their Implications on Wettability

Isah Mohammed, Shirish Patil, *et al.* AUGUST 01, 2022 ACS OMEGA

READ 🗹

Effect of Oil-Based-Mud Filtrate on the Wettability of Rock Surfaces with Different Mineralogy and Topology

Bastian Sauerer, Wael Abdallah, et al. JUNE 15, 2020 ENERGY & FUELS

READ 🗹

CO₂–Brine Contact Angle Measurements on Navajo, Nugget, Bentheimer, Bandera Brown, Berea, and Mt. Simon Sandstones

Foad Haeri, Angela Goodman, *et al.* APRIL 06, 2020 ENERGY & FUELS

READ 🗹

Get More Suggestions >